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Introduction

A SMALL-TOWN STRUGGLE

But martyrs and fugitives from injustice are not Mississippi’s only 
heroes. There are others who, undaunted by vile harassments, threats 
of intimidation and even physical assaults, including shotgun blasts, 
have remained in the state to carry on the Fight for Freedom.
— Crisis Magazine, March 1966

On February 11, 1962, Benjamin Murph, James Brown, and Glen 
Thomas visited Heidelberg, Mississippi, to deliver speeches at Shady 
Grove Baptist Church at the behest of Reverend L. D. Duckworth. 
Murph entered the church through the twin entrance flanked by four 
brick columns, taking a seat at the forefront of the closely arranged 
room beneath the oscillating ceiling fans. The air was filled with gen-
tle music from the organ played by choir director Rosa L. Thames, 
following a performance by the Junior Choir. As this unfolded, Rev-
erend Duckworth stepped to the lectern, guiding the congregation to 
read from the Book of Nehemiah. He recounted the tale of Nehemiah 
restoring the walls of ancient Jerusalem, symbolizing the restoration 
of belief, honor, and improved behavior among the people post-ex-
ile. He urged his congregation to emulate Nehemiah to advance their 
community. In his turn, Murph approached the pulpit, emphasizing 
the duty of each individual to take part in voting, professing, “We want 
bread to go along with ballots. As long as we believe that we are not 
getting all the rights we’re guaranteed under the Constitution, we will 
continue to demonstrate, even if it takes 15 or 50 [years].”1

Murph’s words echoed the need for rights that should have been 
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available to African Americans since emancipation nearly a hundred 
years prior. Symbolically, the “bread” indicated a shift for African 
Americans towards active political participation and a hardworking 
legislature. African Americans had yearned to vote for so long, but 
racial disparities shifted the narrative of their struggle for civil rights, 
leading to frustration with accepting only partial victories, or “half-
loafs.” However, this struggle was one that extended well beyond the 
1960s. In the 2005 Journal of American History article “The Long 
Civil Rights Movement and the Political Uses of the Past,” authors 
discussed an earlier idea introduced by Dowd in a 2001 Chronicle of 
Higher Education piece. This concept, known as the long civil rights 
movement, has garnered significant interest from researchers focusing 
on civil rights since 2005.2

By 1965, the twin objectives of the civil rights movement—end-
ing segregation and securing voting rights—had been achieved. His-
torian Adam Fairclough notes that the story often told focuses on the 
journey from Montgomery to Selma and is sometimes extended to 
encompass the events from Montgomery to Memphis, charting Dr. 
Martin Luther King’s life from 1965 until his death in 1968. How-
ever, this timeframe has faced criticism in recent times. Starting with 
community-centric studies in the late 1970s and 1980s, these investi-
gations brought to light several key points. These movements largely 
relied on local resources and organiza- tions, not just on the presence 
of national figures or groups. This evidence supports the view that the 
civil rights movement was a more grassroots effort, emerging from the 
bottom up instead of being driven by notable leaders and the feder-
al government. In 1986, Historian Clayborne Carson highlighted this 
perspective, suggesting that the ‘civil rights movement’ term should 
be expanded to include the broader ‘black freedom struggle,’ which 
shows a consistent pattern of protest rather than discontinuity.3

Establishing a civil rights and labor foundation in Jones County, 
Laurel, Mississippi, is the focus of this book. Standing Firm in the 
Dixie: The Freedom Struggle in Laurel, Mississippi, explores the 
struggle between America’s broad democratic ideals and persistent 
racial struggles, including conflicts over segregation, civil rights, 
and gentrification. This book contributes to broader scholarly debates 
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over the relationship between organized labor and the Black Free-
dom Struggle, as well. By examining Laurel’s rich labor militancy 
and Civil Rights history, this book considers how these intertwined 
struggles shaped a southern state’s political and social landscape no-
torious for its opposition to African American enfranchisement. The 
African American Freedom Struggle unfolds more breadth and depth 
than the standard narrative. The movement varied tremendously at the 
grassroots level and faced differences in activists’ class and regional 
backgrounds.4

Throughout the 20th century, community-based civil rights activ-
ism consistently experienced many roadblocks amidst their pursuit of 
freedom. Often orchestrated from the increase of mass white resis-
tance from local government officials and the White Knights of the Ku 
Klux Klan (KKK)—which, in some cases, the two were indistinguish-
able. African American Laurelites swelled the ranks of the Labor and 
Civil Rights Movement, playing key roles both behind the scenes and 
in public demon- strations. At the core of these demonstrations was 
the belief that human rights included the desegregation of public space 
and the right to improve one’s economic conditions. This principle 
survived the onslaught of the early cold war years and persisted during 
even the darkest days of Jim Crow Mississippi.5

Standing introduces new names to the long list of activists in 
the Magnolia State such as Dr. Benjamin Murph, Susie B. Ruffin, 
and Eberta Spinks. It complicates black leadership with ground lev-
el descriptions of the daily task of organizing, managing and deci-
sion-making that exposed rivalries, disagreements, and compromises 
and coalitions. This local story reveals the layered—and sometimes 
fraught—relationships between and within civil rights organizations 
from the national to the local levels and adds those tangled threads to 
relations with government officials—from federal to local—and those 
dedicated to thwarting the progress of black civil and human rights.6

This book also works as a case study on race. Laurel had a major-
ity white populace and labor workforce throughout the 19th and 20th 
centuries. Contrastingly, many histories of the Mississippi Delta tell 
a narrative from the view of a black majority. African Americans in 
Laurel benefited from the wages given to them during the early 20th 
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century. Still, Laurel’s history holds much exceptionalism and histor-
ical imagination. Laurel did build a significant economic foundation 
without the institution of slavery, but the progressive narrative is only 
moderately true. African American mettle in a white-dominated city, 
often depicted as one with fear and trepidation, lacks nuance, and cli-
matic acts of white violence partly conceal the resistance they showed.

Grasping the complexities of racial dynamics within the workforce 
can be put into simpler terms. After his visit to the Soviet Union in 
1926 and declaring himself a Bolshevik, W. E. B. Du Bois immersed 
himself in Marx’s theories, even teaching about Marx at Atlanta Uni-
versity in the 1930s. In his important 1935 work, “Black Reconstruc-
tion in America,” Du Bois explained that the U.S. labor scene has two 
opposing forces: one pushing for equal rights for African Americans, 
and the other looking to improve conditions for white workers alone 
by, for instance, reducing job competition. In his earlier writings, Du 
Bois identified a complex conundrum within the modern economy, a 
product of capitalism’s disordered nature, which muddies the true na-
ture of class conflict. According to him, the real divide was not simply 
between employees and management, but also sharply between Black 
and white laborers. Essentially, workers do not face each other simply 
as isolated individuals or a unified working class ready to challenge 
their bosses, but rather as distinct racial groups with intersecting eco-
nomic interests and societal identities.7

Standing Firm in the Dixie contains eleven chapters. Chapter 1: 
This section of the book looks back on how Laurel, Mississippi, came 
to be in 1882. Founded by John Kamper, a lumberman from Germany, 
he set up a mill in the heart of a forest rich with yellow pine, which was 
an important step in building the New Orleans and Northeastern Rail-
road. After running the mill for six years, Kamper sold it to the Eastman 
and Gardiners, a family from Clinton, Iowa. They gave Kamper’s mill 
a new name, The Eastman Gardiner Company. Their arrival marked a 
transformation for Laurel, taking it from a small village to a bustling 
sawmill community. The family’s progressive ways were a welcome 
change, promoting unity across racial lines and shaping Laurel into a 
modern Southern town. While they did follow the segregation rules 
of the time, the Eastmans and Gardiners also introduced plans to uplift 
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Laurel’s African American residents. However, when the Great De-
pression hit, the open- minded spirit of Laurel faded, as unemployed 
white residents grew angry about Black individuals having jobs. Ten-
sion escalated to the point where, by 1934, many Black residents felt 
compelled to move to places like Chicago and Pennsylvania. Despite 
some Black families leaving, new ones from other regions moved to 
Laurel and started their businesses within the already thriving Black 
neighborhood. But during World War II, Mississippi was a hotbed for 
violence against Black people, leading the nation in lynchings. State 
leaders like Governor James Vardaman and Senator Theodore Bilbo 
saw such acts as acceptable. The lynching of J.B. Grant and Howard 
Wash in Laurel signaled a strong stance against the rights of Black 
people and marked a definite push against their right to vote.

Chapter 2: In 1945, Laurel was shaken by a profound injustice 
when Willie McGee, a delivery man, faced allegations of raping Wil-
lette Haw- kins, a white woman. McGee was swiftly convicted and 
given the death penalty, triggering widespread outrage and protests 
that included local citizens, international observers, and even the Com-
munist Party. The controversy surrounding McGee’s trial turned it into 
a widely discussed issue, prompting the formation of the Laurel-Jones 
County branch of the NAACP and marking the rise of Dr. Benjamin 
E. Murph. As the 1950s and 60s unfolded, Laurel’s African American
community actively engaged in protests and boycotts, aligning with
the broader Civil Rights Movement’s surge. Groups like the Student
Nonviolent Coordinating Committee (SNCC) and the Congress of
Racial Equality (CORE) came to support Laurel’s local efforts. The
black youth focused on breaking down segregation barriers in the
town during this period of vigorous student-led activism. This era also
witnessed the emergence of Sam Bowers and the White Knights of the
Ku Klux Klan, adding to the town’s complex civil rights history.

Chapter 3: In the latter part of 1963, the Student Nonviolent Coor-
dinating Committee (SNCC) along with the Congress of Racial Equal-
ity (CORE) made plans to bring in several hundred college students, 
mostly white, from the North to assist in Mississippi for the summer. 
This initiative was part of the Freedom Summer Project. Over 60,000 
Black citizens from Mississippi bravely joined local gatherings, picked 
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out candidates, and took part in a separate Freedom Election that oc-
curred at the same time as the usual 1964 national elections. A number 
of African American households, including those of Eberta Spinks, 
Susie Ruffin, and Carrie Clayton in Laurel, Mississippi, opened their 
doors to these visiting volunteers. Spinks’ home, in particular, became 
a hub, known as the Laurel Freedom House, and served as a base for 
efforts to get more voters registered. It also provided temporary hous-
ing for student leaders such as Les- ter McKinnie, Jesse Harris, David 
Goodyear, and Gwendolyn Robinson. Robinson stepped up to lead 
the Summer Project when McKinnie was forced out of Jones County. 
Throughout this intense summer, locals in Laurel faced arrests, vi-
olence, and harassment for joining sit-ins, march- es, and drives to 
register more voters. By 1965, the hostility escalated with the Ku Klux 
Klan and police becoming more violent, shooting into homes like that 
of Benjamin Murph, attacking and shooting the northern volun- teers, 
and setting fire to churches.

Chapter 4: In the hot summer of 1967, the Ku Klux Klan started to 
spread their influence in the workplace. They disrupted a strike at Ma- 
sonite, the largest employer in town, turning it into a fierce conflict that 
made black workers feel unsafe. The Klan members terrorized them 
by firing into their houses, assaulting plant managers, and even mur-
dering a plant security officer. As a result of the chaos created by the 
Klan, Bob Zellner, a one-time white secretary for the SNCC and labor 
organizer, arrived in Laurel with his group GROW. Alongside Susie 
Ruffin, they supported the black replacement workers. Meanwhile, the 
Mississippi Freedom Democratic Party (MFDP), with Ruffin’s leader-
ship in Laurel, expanded its voter base. She worked as a columnist and 
organizer for the party. While the local movement’s activity dwindled, 
some residents start- ed embracing the Black Power Movement.

Chapter 5: Historians of integration in Mississippi have often 
studied cities, but rarely small towns. However, rural counties such 
as Jones County faced just as much resistance to integration. During 
Mississippi’s forced integration era, there were four Jones Coun-
ty high schools: R. H. Watkins High School, Northeast Jones High 
School, South Jones High School, and West Jones High School. Al-
though these schools were forced to fully integrate at the turn of the 
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1970s, white school administrators, teachers, and students were not 
forced to treat African American students and teachers as equals. Ben-
jamin Murph became president of the Biracial Committee that was 
formed to establish a means of interracial communications. By 1972, 
Murph died after battling a sickness for the last five years, and Ruffin 
became the president of the NAACP and community leader for the 
integration projects. Throughout the 1970s and 80s, white high school 
students remained in a cultural vacuum surrounded by their white 
peers, which impressed upon them notions of racial superiority over 
their black counterparts in the public high schools. Ruffin’s continu-
ous activity at City Council meetings left whites jaded. Her disputes 
of Laurel’s progress in race relations reached the Wall Street Journal. 
Chapter 6: In the last two decades, Laurel has gained some key moder-
ate influences. Near the end of the 70s, Arwilla Davison made major 
contributions to the African American community by saving money 
to build a small nursing home for elderly black residents. Her status 
soared when she teamed up with President Jimmy Carter. Together 
with Susie Ruffin and Manuel Jones, Laurel worked hard to strengthen 
the African Amer- ican neighborhood. But when Ruffin passed away 
in 1989, it left Manuel Jones to lead the local branch of the NAACP. 
The NAACP organized a month-long boycott against shops in Laurel, 
claiming they were racially biased. This sparked a campaign to merge 
schools and a big march to city hall. This was also the beginning of the 
1980s where Laurel gain black councilpersons.

Chapter 7: In 1989, Governor Ray Mabus rejected funding for 
one of the country’s two remaining charity hospitals. However, those 
backing the old system, which had been around for 73 years, did not 
give up. Omeria Scott, chairperson of the Committee for the Contin-
ued Funding and Operation of the Charity Hospital, led these efforts. 
Over 30 days, protests were held in Vicksburg, Meridian, and Laurel, 
including one at the state’s Capitol. Despite these actions, the gover-
nor stood by his decision, leading to the hospital’s closure. Chapter 8: 
Three years on, Scott won a seat in the Mississippi House of Represen-
tatives, representing the 80th District. In the 1990s, still pushing for 
equality, Scott, along with Manuel Jones, tackled racial discrimination 
in Laurel. They campaigned against segregated water fountains at the 



7

county courthouse, fought against job discrimination, and challenged 
the labeling of African Americans as “black.” 

Chapter 9: By the 1990s, Laurel’s downtown was mostly aban-
doned, with businesses shuttered and buildings crumbling. In the last 
decade, a grassroots movement began. The Klan was also convicted of 
past murders of civil rights advocates. Chapter 10: In 2005, Melvin 
Mack won in an upset victory versus 12-year incumbent Susan Vin-
cent to become Laurel’s first black mayor. His first ten months was 
dedicated to the beautification of the Laurel and cracking down on 
crime. Chapter 11: By 2013, Mack retired after 30 years as a public 
servant and the eight years as mayor.

Three years later, Erin and Ben Napier launched a HGTV show 
called, “Home Town” where they created historical-inspired designs 
for furni- ture, home goods and wedding stationery. By the time they 
completed the first season of their HGTV show, the couple had the 
highest rated pilot in the network’s history. Meanwhile, there were 
extensive talks in removing the Mississippi state flag. In 2020, Mayor 
Johnny Magee signed an executive order to remove the Mississippi 
State Flag from government owned buildings.

Benjamin Murph once stated, “The laws of Mississippi are liquid 
when applied to white people, [but] when applied to Negroes, they are 
frozen like ice.” Those words applied to the average black “citizen” 
throughout the Post Reconstruction era. Standing shows resistance 
from a small town in the name of freedom. Recognizing the story of 
race in American explains why the notion of freedom is especially 
significant for Africans Americans. Looking at the history of Black 
resistance and expression of agency is crucial. By focusing on the pur-
suit for freedom in the study of Black history and experiences, it shifts 
our attention to what Black Americans are striving towards. What con-
stitutes freedom? It means individuals and communities receiving re-
spect, acting with dignity, and having a quality of life that all humans 
deserve.
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1

THE CITY BEAUTIFUL
Paradoxically enough, our country spends millions annually in 
effort to build up Negro morale, both in and out of the army, yet, 
foolishly, destroys the blueprint of its program by tolerating brutal 
killings without even a pretense of a fair trial.
- Private Merle Monroe, November 1942

Education is not a thing apart from life—not a ‘system,’ nor a 
philosophy; it is direct teaching how to live and how to work.
– Booker T. Washington, 1901

On October 11, 1862, the Confederate Congress endorsed the Twenty 
Negro Law, excusing one white man per plantation with at least 20 
slaves from joining the army. Jasper Collins from Moselle in Jones 
County was furious, declaring the law made the war a burden for the 
rich and a strug- gle for the poor. Originally, Jones County was light-
ly populated, with just 1,309 free individuals and 161 slaves noted 
in the 1830 census. The settlers there struggled to amass wealth, as 
they encountered dense forests of virgin pines, which thrive in sandy, 
acidic grounds where large-scale farming doesn’t do well. Thus, big 
plantations didn’t emerge in Jones County like in other parts of Mis-
sissippi. By 1860, the white population reached 2,916 alongside 407 
slaves, representing only 12 percent—the lowest number and percent-
age within the state.8

Jasper Collins was one of the first from Jones County to stop fight-
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ing and leave the Confederate army for good. Newt Knight, a farmer 
of mea- ger means who was born near Leaf River in Jones County, 
took a similar path. By 1863, Knight had encouraged a large number 
of soldiers to desert, which added to the tense atmosphere in the area. 
This tension led to violent encounters involving ex-slaves, poor white 
people, army deserters, and Confederate forces. The large-scale deser-
tions earned Jones County the label “The Free State of Jones.” How-
ever, Knight was more driven by class differences than racial issues. 
He managed to unite both African Americans and poor whites in op-
position to the Confederacy, leveraging their shared struggles against 
class inequality. The Civil War disrupted traditional class structures, 
with Abraham Lincoln’s party aiming to restrict slavery in western 
territories and arguing that the South’s dependence on slaves robbed 
nonslaveholding whites of their freedom. Before the war, poor whites 
not only vied with slave labor but were also set against freed African 
Americans by the slaveholding elite.9

The concept of Redemption signified a critical juncture in the 
pursuit of maintaining white dominance by establishing a new racial 
balance. This system was intended to safeguard Mississippi’s finan-
cial, political, and social stakes in a post-slavery era. The state intro-
duced segregation policies strategically, aiming to cause a rift between 
low-income whites and African Americans. Sociologist William Ju-
lius Wilson noted that redirecting the antipathy of poor whites towards 
African Americans lessened the chances of them being antagonistic 
towards the ruling class. In an effort to maintain white dominance, 
Black Codes were established to limit the rights of African Americans 
in areas of property ownership, business transactions, leasing, and free 
movement. A key aspect of these codes was the criminalization of un-
employment, specifically for jobs not validated by whites. Lawmakers 
in Mississippi erected these prejudicial hindrances to assure the poorer 
white populace stayed feeling superior to African Americans. By do-
ing so, it undermined any potential cross- racial political partnerships 
that could challenge the dominance of the white upper class. These 
laws essentially acted as another racial incentive.10

Mississippi’s progress relied heavily on the cheap labor of African 
Americans. The state was stuck in the difficult legacy left by the con-
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flict. The plantation system in the Mississippi Delta began in the 19th 
century when white settlers looking for fertile land brought slaves 
to clear out the untamed forest and tame the Mississippi River with 
flood controls. When slavery ended, sharecropping trapped many Af-
rican Americans in a different kind of bondage, as landowners and 
leaders benefited from accessible, inexpensive labor. This exploitation 
led to the Delta becoming a hub for cotton farming, a key part of the 
South’s economy and workforce. Despite their own struggles, some 
poor whites would form groups to scare off black farmers who were 
their economic rivals. These former slaves lacked the means to buy 
land and often had to sharecrop to get by.11

Despite Mississippi remaining a largely rural state, its railroad in-
frastructure, which had been demolished during the Civil War, was 
reconstructed, leading to new investments. Towns expanded modestly 
and niche industries, such as lumber in the Piney Woods region, be-
gan to flourish. This southeastern area was monikered Piney Woods 
due to the proliferation of various pine species like longleaf, shortleaf, 
loblolly, and slash. Historically, Mississippi’s regions might have been 
named for their soil types, but the tall pine forests, stretching from the 
Gulf Coast to Jackson and reaching west to near Natchez, came to 
define the locale economically.12

Laurel, the Jones County seat located in Mississippi’s Piney 
Woods, earned the moniker “The Yellow Pine Capital of the World” 
due to its abundant timber reserves. Founded in 1882 by John Kamper, 
a German immigrant who fought for the Confederacy, Laurel was 
spared the adversity of slavery and Reconstruction. Although lynch-
ing escalated in the post-Civil War South, Laurel saw only one such 

abducted and killed by a mob after murdering his wife and children. 
The white elite in Laurel, mainly lumber industrialists, had little in-
centive to allow extensive extrajudicial killings of African Americans, 
who made up a large segment of their workforce. Yet, across Mis-
sissippi, the end of slavery fundamentally transformed the econom-
ic standing of millions of freed African Americans, enabling them to 
compete with whites in various sectors, chiefly agriculture. However, 
this new status also increased their susceptibility to discrimination and 
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racist violence.13

Laurel, unlike the Mississippi Delta, developed its economy 
via the timber trade, though they both relied heavily on the work of 
Black laborers. Between 1885 and 1890, African Americans seek-
ing jobs came by train or from nearby rural areas. They set up in 
simple living quarters—called the “backyard” or “back alley” where 
workers lived among the residences of more affluent whites—close 
to Kamper’s mill, owned by the Kamper & Lewin Manufacturing 
Company. For six years, these laborers supplied wood for the New 
Orleans and Northeastern railroad until Kamper sold his shares to the 
Eastman and Gardiner families from Clinton, Iowa, on April 1, 1891. 
The Gardiners bought the mill and acres of land at a low price, which 
delighted Kamper, who ecstatically celebrat- ed the sale of the mill he 
disdained. Historian Frank J. Sullivan recorded Kamper’s eagerness 
to trick a “Yankee” buyer, playing into a stereotype that Northern-
ers were wealthy but foolish, a notion viewed as acceptable since the 
end of the Civil War. When the Eastman and Gardiners reached Laurel, 
they encountered the dawn of the U.S. Progressive era, a time when 
the country was shifting from a uniform rural landscape of farmers to 
a diverse, industrial nation thriving in urban areas.14

Encouraged by the beliefs of the Eastman and Gardiner families, it 
led to favorable reactions among some members of the African Amer-
ican community. Their 1892 textile mill embodied cutting-edge tech-
nologies, while Laurel provided a steady stream of workers and raw 
materials. Nevertheless, the budding industries in Laurel faced danger 
due to widespread turmoil in the country’s economy and society at the 
close of the century. After the Reconstruction era ended and Jim Crow 

The commissary cars set up at the Eastman, Gardiner & Co. camp at 
Summerland in 1906 (Courtesy of the Johnny Adamo Collection)
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African American and white workers for the Eastman and Gardiner Com-

pany (Courtesy of the Lauren Rogers Museum)

laws took hold, African American rural workers throughout the South 
leaned into the Populist movement. In Mississippi, white supremacy 
led to conservative reforms that demanded black passivity. Against 
this backdrop, African Americans formed their own organizations to 
enhance black education and faith communities, critical to their up-
liftment in the 1890s. The im- portance of these independent institu-
tions was underscored by the Plessy v. Ferguson ruling in 1896, which 
endorsed “separate but equal” segregation, making the existence of 
such black establishments a noteworthy stride in their journey towards 
freedom.15

A Black Community
Established by African American timber workers in 1892, the Afri-
can Methodist Episcopal Church became a cornerstone for the locals, 
eventually adopting the name Allen Chapel in honor of the AME 
founder Richard Allen. It was the first of several churches to set roots, 
including St. Elmo Missionary Baptist Church in 1895, followed by St. 
Paul Methodist Church, Mallalieu United Methodist Church, and St. 
John Baptist. The allure of Protestant fundamentalism, with its focus 
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on biblical accuracy, uniformity in beliefs, missionary endeavors, and 
the pursuit to win over souls, captivated many leaders in the African 
American religious com- munity. Among those was E.D. Hubbard, 
a skilled 35-year-old sawyer at the Eastman Gardiner mill, who was 
driven to establish Second Baptist Church in 1902.16

Upon his election as president of the Black Mississippi Bap-
tist Mission, Hubbard took on the role of pastor at Second Baptist 
Church, a role that demanded all his attention and led to his departure 
from his job as the head sawyer at Eastman Gardiner mill in 1904. 
Hubbard devoted his time to traveling across Mississippi to estab-
lish and restructure churches, ensuring that the Baptist belief system 
was properly ingrained in the congregation members. Among Afri-
can Americans, educators and clergy were viewed as the most learned 
and respected professionals. With respect and higher pay compared to 
agricultural or industrial workers, some pastors could earn between 
$480 to $600 annually and even have a house in certain cases. Mean-
while, lesser-known black ministers who typically served in small or 
rural churches with multiple congregations might make between $75 
to $300 each year. Pastorship provided them with a sense of autonomy. 
These clergy were famously celebrated by W.E.B. Du Bois in “Of the 
Faith of the Fathers” from his influential book “The Souls of Black 
Folk.” Here, Du Bois praised them as distinct individuals who fulfilled 
various community roles and vividly represented the emotions of an 
oppressed people.17

Through missionary support, there was a remarkable surge in ed-
uca- tion for African Americans in the South, as literacy rates jumped 
from 5% to roughly 70% between 1870 and 1900. As the 20th century 
began, ani- mosity from whites towards African American education 
was surging in the Southern states. The 1903 election of James K. Var-
daman as governor in Mississippi was a worrying sign for Booker T. 
Washington, educator and founder of the Tuskegee Normal and Indus-
trial Institute, indicating a widespread white rejection of all forms of 
black education in the region. Vardaman vigorously fought for white 
dominance, insisting education “only spoils a good field hand.” He 
suggested that education increased craftiness among African Ameri-
cans, instilled unrealistic expectations, an aversion to hard work, in-
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dolence, and subsequent criminal behavior. Stripping away his convo-
luted arguments, Vardaman’s core concern was that educated African 
Americans might weaken the established racial hierarchy.18

In his response to Vardaman, W.L. Pryor, in an article titled “On 
the Race Question,” addressed the widespread racial discrimination 
fueled by the 1890 Constitution’s voting restrictions. Pryor’s editorial 
aimed to lessen the state-sanctioned racism by stating, “The Negroes 
are as far from participation in governmental affairs in this state as 
though they were a colony in Africa.” This followed a period where 
African Americans, having faced violence and intimidation, had large-
ly disappeared from politics in the South. Under Democratic control, 
Pryor’s words possessed a safeguard that devalued progressivism in 
parallel. “Blacks seldom make good citizens, and though all the ed-
ucation obtainable were crowed into their heads, they are Negroes 
still.”19

Under George W. Brown’s guidance, a lumberman and educator, 
Laurel created four schools to educate Black youth from 1899 to 1906. 
The aim was to mirror the educational model of the renowned Tuske-
gee Institute. On March 15, 1905, influential Jones County merchants 
rallied a crowd at the St. Elmo Baptist Church in Laurel. Notable 
speakers such as Captain T.J. Hardy, B.F. Fridge, E.D. Hubbard, and 
the newly appointed principal, D.J. Randolph, spoke positively about 
the idea of an industrial school for African American students styled 
after Tuskegee. By 1906, Laurel had established the Southside School, 
with the educator Sandy T. Gavin from Alcorn University as its prin-
cipal. Southside became the first educational facility built specifically 
for the education of Black children in Laurel.20

White supporters advocated for the creation of vocational schools 
as a way to enhance the craft for working-class African Americans. 
“This move on the part of these men should be encouraged. The in-
dustrial school, as everyone knows, teaches the negroes how to work. 
Unlike many others which simply give a veneer of education, unfitting 
them for any work except teaching makes better citizens out of them.” 
Samuel Chapman Armstrong established an institute that promoted 
hard work and moral advancement through manual and ethical train-
ing. The surge in vocational work assigned in schools was deliberate, 
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Sandy T. Gavin and Nora Davis (Courtesy of Cleveland Payne, Laurel: A Black 

Community, 1882- 1962)

serving to uphold white dominance after slavery and to ensure African 
Americans would accept a lower social position. Booker T. Washing-
ton further developed this educational model, which found acceptance 
among Northern conservative circles and white Southerners during 
the 1890s. But Southern whites feared the Northern influence on Afri-
can Americans’ education. They also under- stood the inevitable social 
shift after African Americans’ emancipation and encouraged “southern 
men to teach the Negro; whom we rely on after all as our laborers.”21

Growth in white support for black industrial education was a sign 
of subtle social change. Richard Henry Watkins, a white professor 
born in Brookland, North Carolina, who was hired in 1907 by Silas 
Gardiner, took on the top administration role at Laurel Separate School 
District. His tenure saw the start of kindergartens and the development 
of teacher training with the University of Chicago, benefiting white ed-
ucation. White children received a public education in return for fami-
ly tax dollars; funded through efforts by Nora Davis and Sandy Gavin. 
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Starting with 43 students, the school’s increase to 1,100 students and 
18 faculty members by 1920 heralded the introduction of a broader 
educational program that included secondary education courses.23

As African Americans gained access to better schooling facilities, 
they simultaneously lost governance over their children’s education to 
the county superintendent, previously managed by their local board 
of trustees. This loss sparked doubts among many African Ameri-
cans about surrendering one of their few autonomous establishments. 
Nonetheless, the development of Laurel motivated them to take part in 
the New South’s progress. At the height of its economic boom in the 
early 20th century, Laurel was home to five of the largest lumber mills 
in the Southeast, thanks to companies like Eastman-Gardiner, Lindse 
Wagon, Gilchrist-Fordney, Wausau Southern Lumber, and Marathon, 
as well as the inception of Masonite Cooperation. This booming peri-
od between 1904 to 1915 placed Mississippi third in national lumber 
production, earn- ing Laurel the nickname ‘Liberal Laurel.’ However, 
the allure of the North as a ‘promised land’ of equal status drew Afri-
can Americans to migrate, escaping the Jim Crow South. By 1918, the 
Chicago Defender, a premier African American newspaper, became 
widely read in Mississippi. Even those who couldn’t read in Laurel, 
especially older men, would purchase copies of the revered Chicago 
Defender.24

America held back from entering the fray of World War I until 
1917, yet it started sending support to Europe as the war began. Lau-
rels’ own Lindsey Wagon Company was recognized for its contribu-
tions to trench building on the European frontlines. With immigration 
on hold, the labor market tightened at a crucial moment when arma-
ment and supply factories needed more hands. A wartime economic 
boost called for additional workers, prompting close to half a mil-
lion African Americans to make their way to the north by the summer 
of 1919, with a notable group mi- grating from Laurel. With more 
American men sent off to battle, their factory positions went vacant, 
thus highlighting African American labor’s contribution. In 1923, the 
Southern Pine Association underscored this workforce’s value, recom-
mending better homes, education, and wages to keep a consistent and 
happy labor force.25
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African Americans in Laurel made nearly $10 weekly from mill 
work,while sharecroppers in the Mississippi Delta made about a fifth 
of that. Wages in Laurel rose from $1.35 to $1.65, peaking at $2. How-
ever, southern economic growth hinged on exploiting workers. Lum-
ber companies mainly hired black family men, who felt compelled to 
work due to family responsibilities and the challenges of segregation. 
These laborers, lack- ing alternatives, were forced into wage work 
to support their families.During 1923, lumbermen sought to balance 
work with family obligations by operating small-scale farms along-
side their milling jobs in the forest. They owned modest plots where 
they cultivated crops. These workers resided in transient settlements, a 
consequence of the intensifying railroad-based logging industry. Con-
stantly on the move due to Eastman and Gardiner’s operational shifts 
to new lumber areas, the workforce experienced frequent relocations. 
This lifestyle meant lengthy stints deep in the forest away from fami-
lies. A breakthrough occurred with the introduction of pre-made hous-
ing components by Eastman and Gardiner, providing workers with the 
means to quickly construct private homes along the railroads, a signif-
icant improvement over earlier boxcar housing. 26

Eastman-Gardiner created Cohay camps to boost their profits 
while providing a stable place of employment for workers and their 
families. The camp hosted 137 white and. 96 African American fam-
ilies. Taking its name from “Ohahay,” the Native American word for 
a creek near Raleigh, Mississippi, the company arranged for the con-
struction of small living spaces measuring 8x20 feet, featuring sever-
al windows, two doors, and a coating of fire engine red paint. These 
dwellings had a distinctive feature, a “four-inch Eastman Hole” in the 
floor center and the ceiling. On days when the camp moved, a steel 
cable threaded through these holes allowed a steam loader to lift and 
transfer the entire room to a new location on the rails. The pine lumber 
rooms, uniform in size and hue, were set up within the campgrounds. 
Families could rent each room for three to four dollars per month and 
align multiple units to resemble a larger house. Many added portable 
picket fences painted white to suggest stability, to their homes. The 
most proactive amongst them also raised cows, chickens, pigs, and cul-
tivated gardens.27 
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In the Cohay region of Laurel, a distinct pattern of residence 
emerged, with African Americans settling primarily beyond the rail-
way tracks in an area colloquially deemed the ‘black side.’ The local 
community encompassed areas like KC Bottom, Kingston, Queens-
burg, Southside, Harvest Quarters, and Warren Quarters. Despite seg-
regation forcing African Americans into less desirable areas, it also led 
to the creation of black business zones. These “Negro Main Streets” 
sprouted as African Americans started small service establishments 
in these districts. The local lumber industry also played a role, pro-
viding social contributions that enabled African Americans to devel-
op a commercial district along Front Street in the heart of downtown 
Laurel. Between 1923 and 1926, a prominent entrepreneurial center 
emerged there. Jim Crow kept African American spending within this 
area, turning it into a flourishing economic center. Known as the Front 
Street Establishment, it spanned twenty-five blocks and became a vi-
brant center for African American entrepreneurs who opened various 
businesses including barbershops, taxi services, stores, cafes, hotels, 
and funeral parlors.28

African Americans gained control of their own educational insti-
tutions, but they still faced predominantly white-led academic envi-
ronments. In 1927, the Julius Rosenwald Fund initiated the construc-
tion of vocational schools for African Americans in the south. The 
program stipulated that local communities must match Rosenwald 
donations with their own resources, including labor and materials, 
and secure additional funding from local school boards. Following the 
announcement, African American community leaders, including the 
determined Sandy Gavin, began fundraising efforts. They canvassed 
neighborhoods and even had mill workers give up a day’s wage to 
support the cause. Former Southside School attendee D.L. Taylor be-
came a fervent supporter, coining catchy slogans like “Ray! Ray! Ray! 
Get out of the way! All we want is a day of your pay!” Over four 
years, various fundraising activities, including molasses candy-mak-
ing events, selling penny socials, and held plays and concerts at Eagle 
Park. The effort culminated with African American students marching 
and chanting jubilantly for a brick school equal to those attended by 
their white counterparts.29
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A combination of local government support and private donations 
successfully established a Vocational High School for African Amer-
ican children in 1927. The school began with a financial boost from 
a $35,000 bond and the gift of nearly 240 acres for its campus. The 
Rosenwald Foundation appointed Bertha and Jonas Johnson, former 
students of Booker T. Washington at Tuskegee, to lead the project. 
They had already set up the Prentiss Institute in 1907 and planned for 
the new school’s manual arts building, home economics building, and 
a large area for agricultural production with housing for staff. Henry 
Louis Polk took the initial step of starting classes in a residential build-
ing, until the Oak Park Vocational High School, part of the Laurel City 
Schools, opened on September 16, 1928. It welcomed 325 students 
and 10 instructors, making it the first municipally maintained agricul-
tural and vocational school for black students.30

While African Americans saw such investments as fair and effec-
tive, they were mainly valued for their labor. In the 1920s, school 
systems placed students into different levels of educational tracks, 
with vocational training considered the lowest. This subjected African 
Americans to the damaging outcome of reduced expectations, another 
layer of discrimination. White reformers wanted to limit the educa-
tional opportunities and subjects Black students could learn at school. 
Many industrial philanthropists focused primarily on vocational ed-
ucation for low-skilled jobs as an alternative to the liberal education 
laced with literate goals and critical thought that were increasingly 
viewed as dangerous. The manipulation of African Americans’ socio-
economic and political lives by whites was crafted to enforce a societal 
agreement in the South that did not question established disparities in 
wealth and authority. The creation of Oak Park was significant, but it 
also showed that the problems with educational equality and the re-
luctance to provide scholarly training to Black students were part of 
Laurel’s views on race and education. 31

Lynching and War
In August 1929, the U.S. experienced the worst economic downturn 
in the nation’s history, thus halting further development of the new 
mill. When the stock market crashed, “the demand for construction 
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ceased, resulting in a slashing of the company’s production sched-
ule.” On March 3, 1933, President Franklin D. Roosevelt, the self-
styled “tree-grower,” addressed the nation for the first time during one 
of his famous “Fireside Chats.” Many believed that the language in 
Roosevelt’s first inaugural address alluded to a mandate for sweeping 
reform. Subsequently, he began instituting his “New Deal,” a series 
of economic programs intended to offer relief to the unemployed and 
recover the national economy. Clinging onto the bullish orator of the 
president, on June 6, the Southern Pine Associ- ation called a gen-
eral industry-wide mass meeting of all southern pine manufacturers, 
explaining the provisions and ramifications of the pending legislation. 
Charles Green’s, president of the Eastman Gardiner Company, guard-
ed optimism was reflected in his remarks about the lumber industry’s 
plight, noting that “our President is certainly making an effort to bring 
us back on our feet” and urged the lumbermen to “meet him half-way” 
and “the only way we can do it is to cooperate in this plan to the fullest 
extent, be broad-minded and overlook these difficulties and meet them 
as well as we possibly can.”32

Historically, the majority of African American voters supported 
the Republican Party. However, President Franklin Roosevelt’s elec-
tion shifted their allegiance. Roosevelt welcomed African American 
guests to the White House and worked closely with black advisors. 
Many African Americans felt invigorated by Roosevelt’s proactive 
approach to the Great Depression. His informal radio broadcasts gave 
them a new sense of inclusion. The National Industrial Recovery Act, 
introduced by Roosevelt on June 16, 1933, was a key element of his 
progressive New Deal. It granted workers the right to unionize and 
negotiate employment terms. While some employers feared this was 
a move towards Communism, workers saw its potential. On August 
11, industrial action struck the Eastman Gardiner mill as employees 
demanded better pay and hours. Tough working conditions, inequal-
ity in wages, and deaths at work led African Americans to reconsider 
their worth and align labor rights with civil rights, leveraging the La-
bor Movement to fight for improved wages, conditions, and broader 
rights.33

Mass production, restrictive immigration policies, and the global 
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con- flicts of World War I and II led to a great northern migration of 
African Americans in search of employment in America’s burgeoning 
industries. In 1935, around 5,000 individuals left Laurel, for northern 
cities, one of them being Erie, Pennsylvania. Here, Reverend Ernest 
Franklin Smith, who founded the Good Samaritan AME Zion Church, 
served as a bridge for these migrants to set up homes. From his church, 
Smith encouraged Laurel citizens to relocate to Erie’s thriving Afri-
can American community. Notably, a significant segment of Erie’s 
black population—about 1,000 out of 11,600—had roots in Laurel, 
with many retaining familial ties. This prevalence of former Laurel 
residents led one Erie local to comment, “I’m surrounded by so many 
Laurelites here; it’s like a second home.” Smith made trips between 
Erie and Mississippi to promote this movement at religious and infor-
mal gatherings, often discreetly due to the disapproval of Southern 
employers faced with losing their labor force.34

While African Americans were leaving the South in large num-
bers, Mississippi Governor Hugh White spoke at the Farm Chem-
urgic Conference in Jackson. He incorrectly commended Mississip-
pi for avoiding lynchings over a fifteen-month span. Contradicting 
his claim, the Chicago Defender had chronicled a “football-crazed 
crowd,” which held a “pre-Christmas celebration” for lynching of J.B. 
Grant, a 17-year-old Af- rican American from Laurel, just four months 
earlier. He was found hang by his own belt from a railroad trestle.35

A.J. Carter, Grant’s employer at the local tourist camp, reported 
to the police that he left for a downtown picture show and did not 
come back. The first inquiry into the teenager’s tragic end yielded no 
answers regarding who was responsible. Chief J.E. Brown and Sheriff 
Charles Thompson believed that the young man was likely killed by 
strangulation at a dif-ferent location and then transported by a vehicle 
to make it seem like a suicide, asserting that he could not have done it 
himself. A coroner’s jury gave a verdict of death by strangulation by 
unknown assailants. Sheriff Thompson in Laurel put up a reward for 
information leading to the arrest of those who committed the lynching, 
yet the motive was still undisclosed.36

The House passed a bill to prohibit lynching in 1937 following 
the ex- ecution-style punishment of Grant. A large group of Senators 



23

agreed with the idea of a lynching ban, but some were able to halt 
progress through certain delaying tactics. Senator Bilbo fiercely op-
posed this bill, describing it in his written correspondence as “damna-
ble, unthinkable, and unconstitutional.” The Grant lynching prompt-
ed a Laurel lawyer to write Senator Bilbo after speaking with several 
people about the hanging. The lawyer had found that “all thought we 
ought not to oppose the passage of the antilynching law.” He continues, 
“I believe a majority of our people are opposed to lynching.” On April 
15, 1937, despite stiff opposition from the South, the House passed the 
Gavagan Antilynching Bill, allowing the federal government to step in 
and prosecute those involved in lynching, including any officials who 
fail to act. This marked the climax of a long fight led by the NAACP 
for such legislation.37

In the twenty years following the close of World War I, another 
three million African Americans moved throughout the United States. 
As the nation geared up for conflict, African American trade union 
leader A. Philip Randolph resisted the prevalent job bias in the sectors 
producing war materials. Alongside NAACP leader Walter White and 
additional civil rights advocates, Randolph set the stage for a March 
on Washington aimed at promoting equal job opportunities. To prevent 
the potential dis- ruption of the war efforts, President Franklin D. Roo-
sevelt discussed the matter with Randolph and White on June 18, 1941. 
Subsequently, on June 25, Roosevelt issued Executive Order 8802, 
banning job discrimination on racial grounds in the defense indus-
try. The executive order mandated equal employment opportunities 
for all, irrespective of race, religion, color, or national origin. Addi-
tionally, Roosevelt created the Fair Employment Practices Commis-
sion (FEPC) to handle complaints about discrimination, but the com-
mission was limited to recommending changes rather than enforcing 
them, due to strong white supremacist attitudes.38

On December 7, 1941, the United States was thrust into World 
War II following an unexpected air strike by Japan on the Pearl Har-
bor naval base in Hawaii. Although the nation spoke of pursuing noble 
goals, the rhetoric of defending democracy contrasted sharply with 
the continued existence of discriminatory Jim Crow laws within the 
country. As African American communities rebuilt and relocated, they 
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found new ways to express their political opinions. They were par-
ticularly drawn to the wartime message that America was battling to 
protect democracy from Germany’s explicit racism. Starting with D.L. 
Taylor, a significant number of Laurel’s African American citizens 
joined the Armed Forces. Despite the challenges Black soldiers faced, 
many from Laurel responded to the nation’s call to serve. The Lau-
rel-Leader Call printed an article stating, “Thirty-five Negro soldiers 
receive a rousing sendoff… the Oak Park High School Band played 
military numbers.”39

With the support of Laurel’s African American residents and the 
local industrial plants, the Laurel Army Airfield was established in 
1942, con- structed by the Works Project Administration (WPA). It 
became a training hub for soldiers from all over the country and a 
key location for strategic bomber groups. Similarly, the nearby Camp 
Shelby not only offered extensive training opportunities but also held 
German prisoners of war. These events highlight societal interests, yet 
reveal stark racial injustices, as German prisoners often experienced 
better conditions than the base’s black workforce and soldiers, enjoy-
ing leisure activities while the African Americans were restricted to 
low-level jobs and separate entrances.40

The Second World War significantly boosted the industrial sector 
of Laurel, opening up new markets and economic prospects, much like 
the town experienced during World War I. Laurel’s industry received 
numer- ous military and civilian contracts, expanding the town’s in-
dustrial base. In this period, the timber industry, which had made only 
slight improve- ments in the 1920s and 1930s, gained broader accep-
tance because the war showed the durability and adaptability of parti-
cleboard. Masonite Corpo- ration’s materials were vital for both over-
seas and home front operations. Owing to the military’s high demand, 
regular production of hardboard came to a halt in favor of Masonite 
hardboard, which was used extensively in the construction of about 
150,000 Quonset huts across European and Pacific war zones. The 
company also created many items specifically for military use, includ-
ing dense material loads used in the Manhattan Proj- ect. While Ma-
sonite was central to Laurel’s war effort, other industries also played 
key roles. For instance, the Green Lumber Company had up to 1,500 
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workers producing prefab military dwellings non-stop. Besides the 
considerable industrial labor force, numerous Laurel citizens served 
in various capacities, both domestically and overseas during the war.41

Like other communities across the country, African Americans 
saw the war as a chance to purse better prospects. The federal govern-
ment’s control of the wartime economy provided African Americans 
with chances to combat long-standing labor market discrimination. 
The demand forworkers in factories throughout the nation, driven by 
the military’s needs, saw hundreds of thousands being recruited. Yet, 
when hired, Black workers were often given the most poorly paid 
roles. Still, African American residents of Laurel made modest strides 
in racial and military achievements while serving in the Pacific and 
European theaters. Upon their return, they aimed to reshape their eco-
nomic and social standing.

The experiences of World War II and the subsequent Cold War 
made it clear to U.S. leaders that problems with civil rights within 
the country had significant worldwide consequences. The Pittsburgh 
Courier championed a dual victory for African Americans: defeat of 
fascism overseas and of racism within the nation. For Communists 
around the globe, the wrongdoing of racist violence by vigilantes be-
came powerful propaganda. They used it to stir up tension within the 
U.S. and to tarnish the reputation of American justice in other coun-
tries. The brutal death of Howard Wash, a dairy farmer aged 42, by 
lynching in Laurel on October 17, 1942, became a turning point for 
the federal government’s role in tackling such crimes. Convicted for 
murdering his boss, Clint Welborn, Wash was forcefully taken from 
his jail cell by an angry white mob, taken to a bridge, and lynched. 
The next day, the local sheriff, J Press Reddoch, was in a hurry to act. 
He was either honestly upset by his failure to stop the violent mob 
or felt the pressure because state police were around. He claimed he 
could identify most of the crowd that took Wash. Rather than wait for 
a grand jury, Reddoch wanted to arrest the mob members on murder 
charges right away. This was only the second attempt by the U.S. Gov-
ern-ment, since 1903, to bring lynching perpetrators to justice under 
the Constitution. Despite these efforts, the ones responsible were not 
convicted.42

In the 1940s, although lynchings became less common, the terror 
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against African Americans did not stop. They resisted Jim Crow laws, 
shifting public views forced Mississippi’s die-hard segregationists to 
alter their methods. They couldn’t use old tactics, so they covertly 
resorted to violent monitoring and law enforcement tactics cloaked 
in ‘law and order’ rhetoric. These strategies were part of larger U.S. 
shifts that set the stage for increased policing, the stigmatization of 
black people as criminals, and the rise of widespread imprisonment. In 
addition, the tense atmosphere of the Cold War era was not just a result 
of international espionage and military deployments, but also of do-
mestic surveillance by the FBI and the actions of alarmist politicians 
and anxious Americans nationwide.
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2

PROGRESSIVE NO MORE
The NAACP is about as welcome as a rattlesnake in these circles. We 
have very little sup- port from white citizens, and I would say about 
90 percent of the Negroes in our state are skeptical…. Many of our 
people are afraid to be seen at a NAACP meeting. Yet we are willing 
to fight and fight uncompromisingly.
– Dr. Benjamin E. Murph, Crisis Magazine, 1952

Willie McGee, a barely literate trucker from Pachuta, Mississippi, sat 
quietly on the bus to Jones County Jail, having been arrested for sex-
ual assault against Willette Hawkins on November 1, 1945. Fearing a 
repeat of a past miscarriage of justice, he was swiftly moved to Hinds 
County Jail. Despite a show of fairness to avoid overturning a predes-
tined conviction, under the Fourteenth Amendment, the U.S. Supreme 
Court had mandated fair legal representation and impartial juries for 
defendants and dismissed forced confessions. However, McGee was 
kept isolated for a month while officers pressured him into confessing. 
A week before trial, County Attorney Albert Easterling, Postmaster 
Horace McRae, and Troy Hawkins confronted McGee, insisting he 
confess his guilt, using fear to press him into agreeing.43

On the afternoon of December 3, a visibly shaken McGee was es-
corted by armed guards, thought to be state militia members, into the 
Jones County Courthouse. A reporter on scene noted McGee’s fearful 
appearance and unsteadiness. His defense argued that his mental state 
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Willie McGee in court, 1945 (Courtesy of the University of 
Southern Mississippi)

warranted evaluation and requested a sanity hearing. Judge F.B. Col-
lins summoned twelve local men, though they were not mental health 
experts to assess McGee. They quickly concluded he was faking his 
condition and fit for trial. The proceedings ended swiftly on the same 
day, with a homogeneous jury finding him guilty and recommending 
death by electrocution after a mere three minutes of discussion.44

The McGee case underscored the stark racial divides of the time. 
The trial served as affirmation for Mississippi whites worried by Afri-
can Amer- icans’ recent gains in status. To enforce domination, influ-
ential white supremacists revived punitive laws. McGee faced alle-
gations of raping a white woman, rumored to be his secret lover, who 
purportedly threatened to make false accusations against him if he 
spurned her. The case of Mc- Gee illustrated the immediate fallout for 
defying the strict social codes up- held by Mississippi officials. Lack-
ing substantial evidence, the jury hastily condemned McGee to the 
electric chair, with his execution scheduled for January 7, 1946. Yet, 
after the initial two trial outcomes were overturned by the Mississippi 
Supreme Court for procedural issues, and several years of appeals, 
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including to the U.S. Supreme Court, McGee faced a protracted legal 
battle.45

White supremacy reinforced its position using violence openly, 
with acts such as lynchings and unrest designed to maintain dominance 
over African Americans in all aspects of life. Although lynchings be-
came less common post-1930, African Americans still faced intense 
scrutiny. The argument among scholars is that an improved court sys-
tem succeeded lynching, increasing the odds of prompt, strict punish-
ment for significant crimes, including executions sanctioned by the 
state. Willie McGee’s impending execution sparked a fresh push for 
justice in Laurel, mirroring wider actions across the state. The McGee 
trial received widespread attention from across the country, yet local 
journalists sought to understate the racial strife to preserve Laurel’s 
reputation for being open-minded. A 1946 article in the Laurel Lead-
er-Call dismissed the persistent focus on racial issues in politics as 
overblown. Contrary to avoiding tension or critiquing the media’s lack 
of sensitivity, it suggested that the community in Laurel actively par-
ticipated in the unfolding events.46

Prewar Mississippi served as an interim for the NAACP. Mis-
sissippi hosted a meager 129 members, but by the late 1940s, the 
NAACP erected branches throughout the state. Throughout the 1940s, 
the NAACP saw enormous growth in membership, recording roughly 
600,000 members by 1946. In David Beito and Linda Royster Beito’s 
Black Maverick, they argue that the NAACP’s association with the 
Regional Council of Negro Leadership (RCNL) spurred the growth of 
the Mississippi NAACP. While it mainly functioned as an organization 
that facilitated independent committees and sponsored public rallies, 
it also encouraged African Americans to take the risk of open partici-
pation in the NAACP.47

The NAACP in Laurel
In 1947, Reverend R.T. Thomas of Morning Star Baptist Church es-
tab- lished the NAACP’s Laurel-Jones County Branch. Recognized 
for his civil rights contributions in Mobile, Alabama, Thomas stood 
up after African American WWII veteran Timothy Hood’s murder for 
ripping down a Jim Crow sign. Firmly against segregation, Thomas’s 
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powerful sermons stirred tensions, leading to C.L. Jordan, an irate 
white church leader, suing to bar him from preaching. Despite sup-
port from District Attorney Quitman Ross to oust Thomas for alleged 
racial hatred, Chancellor Roy Noble dismissed the suit, citing church 
matters as beyond his court’s authority.48

An article from the Jackson Advocate highlighted that the Lau-
rel-Jones County Branch had surpassed others in Mississippi, and 
Thomas was acclaimed for his public speaking and valiant leadership. 
His reputation led to roles emceeing many social functions. The win-
ter of 1949 witnessed Thomas and NAACP executives welcoming the 
state wide NAACP conference at Laurel’s Allen Chapel. The event 
buzzed with excitement. Forecasted as a grand affair, it drew a re-
cord attendance for the NAACP in Mississippi. Enthusiastic clapping 
greeted Areina Mallory, the Saints Industrial School president, as she 
commended the NAACP’s critical role in advocating for Christian 
Democracy in America. The conference endorsed plans for expand-
ing membership and setting up a state-specific legal fund to support 
civil rights cases against African Americans. The NAACP stood out 
as the preeminent organization ready to champion educational equi-
ty, suffrage, and black liberation. The energy and motivation spurred 
many to join the movement. Furthermore, Dr. Benjamin Ellery Murph, 
a local dentist, began his tenure as vice president of the Laurel-Jones 
County Branch in early 1948.49

Murph emerged as a key figure in shaping Laurel’s Black polit-
ical con- sciousness. Born on July 7, 1908, to Lillian B. Murph, an 
educator, and James W. Murph, a respected leader in AME church 
affairs, in Greens- boro, North Carolina, Murph, from a young age, 
Murph exhibited a sharp mind. He earned his bachelor’s from what is 
now known as South Caro- lina State University and went on to get 
a medical degree from Meharry Medical College of Dentistry. While 
studying, he helped establish the Xi Psi Chapter of the Omega Psi 
Phi Fraternity, Inc. Murph shared Rev. Thomas’s conviction that the 
Southern states must put an end to racial bias and ensure legal fairness 
for African Americans.

A distinguished figure in civil rights, Murph, a dentist and entre-
preneur, was a paragon in his community—always clad in sharp suits 
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and engaged in nurturing connections with both young and old. A man 
of deep faith, he held multiple roles at his church and led youth as a 
Cub Scout leader. In a notable act of service in 1943, he offered free 
dental care to fellow African Americans. His business, like others in 
the black community, operated independently and catered exclusive-
ly to African American customers, providing a space to contribute to 
societal change and offer robust support to the civil rights struggle.50

Murph often met Rev. Thomas at various church gatherings and 
revivals. Thomas was not just a preacher in Laurel; he also served in 
nearby Hattiesburg. The wrongful case against Willie McGee was the 
catalyst that prompted Murph to rebel against the establishment. With 
the McGee trial nearing its end in 1950, Thomas revealed his plans to 
leave for Mobile. The absence of active social guidance in Laurel was 
apparent, fueling the desire among citizens to push their cause further. 
On February 5, 1951, a distinguished group of professionals, entre-
preneurs, and community activists assembled at Allen Chapel AME 
for an NAACP meeting. Percy Greene, who led the Jackson Advo-
cate, delivered the keynote speech. Amidst frequent applause, which 
stretched the speech out, he lauded the significant work done toward 
complete citizenship rights. He applauded figures like Thurgood Mar-
shall for their civil rights leadership, all linked to the NAACP, and 
urged Laurel residents to get involved. In the after- math, the local 
NAACP chose its new branch president. It was tough to find someone 
as capable as Thomas, but Dr. Murph accepted the president’s role for 
the Laurel-Jones County NAACP with honor.51

Murph’s election came at a crucial time; his respected social po-
sition inspired African Americans in Laurel to engage more actively 
in civil rights efforts. On the day after his victory, Murph displayed 
an NAACP sign-up sheet on his clinic door. Leveraging his roles as a 
dentist and church leader, he often brought up the NAACP during den-
tal visits and church socials to encourage attendance at monthly meet-
ings. Mississippi experienced a modest rise in NAACP numbers, with 
an increase of 849 members—the lowest in the region yet marking a 
significant jumpfrom the earlier count of 200 in the early 1950s.52
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Dr. Benjamin Murph performing dental work (Courtesy of Sandra Davis Murph)

On May 7, 1951, the local movement that had been driven by 
deepseated racial tension saw its culmination. Prior to Willie McGee’s 
execution, his legal battle had become emblematic of the racial injus-
tices of the Jim Crow era and the tensions of the Cold War period, 
where a contentious back-and-forth put a man’s life in jeopardy. Mc-
Gee’s case, which underwent three court hearings over six years, drew 
attention and support from notable figures like William Faulkner, Paul 
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Robeson, and Albert Einstein, and was followed by media outlets in-
ternationally. In his final hours, McGee found solace with Rev. T.W. 
Patterson, an African American pastor from Laurel, who shared the 
23rd Psalms with him and offered prayers. McGee passed away with-
out uttering a word, seated in an electric chair set up inside the court-
house, the same place where an exclusively white jury had taken only 
minutes to find him guilty. About fifty people watched inside, while 
some from the crowd outside climbed trees for a glimpse through the 
court windows. At 12:10 am, following his execution, he was declared 
dead. The mobile electric chair, part of a set that included a genera-
tor and other necessary items, was transported from one county to the 
next. Between 1940 and 1952, Mississippi used this chair to execute 
seventy-five inmates, disproportionately African Americans, leading 
to it being termed a “legal lynching.”53

The execution of McGee served as a stark reminder of the era’s 
frame- work of social hierarchy. Carroll Gartin, who held roles such as 
Mayor of Laurel and Lieutenant Governor, stood against Communism 
fervently during the McGee trial and openly criticized McGee’s com-
munist supporters. Despite such views, Gartin maintained that chil-
dren in Mississippi deserved a strong education, regardless of their 
race. The landmark 1954 Supreme Court decision in Brown v. Board of 
Education shook the core of Southern customs by prohibiting school 
segregation. While some Southern moderates encouraged a measured 
and lawful acceptance of the ruling, a deep-seated reluctance to adopt 
integrated schools pervaded.54

In June, Martin threw his hat into the ring for the gubernatori-
al seat of Mississippi, facing off against the long-time officeholder, 
James East- land, a plain-spoken Democrat fond of cigars. Both Mar-
tin and Eastland had a similar vision for keeping the South segregated. 
However, Martin unexpectedly adopted a starkly different tone than 
his typical gentle ap- proach in his opening speech. The campaign be-
gan on the evening of June 15 amidst a festive environment in his 
hometown of Laurel. Entertain- ment at the event included local musi-
cians like the Hurt Family and the Laurel Melody Boys.55

As the evening unfolded, Martin took the stage at 8 pm and 
promptly took jabs at Eastland’s senatorial track record. The audience 
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was taken aback and then thrilled when Martin endorsed the principles 
of white supremacy, especially praising the controversial Theodore 
G. Bilbo and slamming Eastland for abandoning Bilbo when he faced 
opposition in the Senate. Martin’s commitment to keeping segregation 
intact was met with exuberant applause. Following his speech, a wave 
of supporters showed their affection with kisses and handshakes. A 
journalist from the Laurel Leader-Call was dumbfounded, observing, 
“He isn’t that type of guy at all.”56

Despite his passionate ploys, Gartin received a blow to his cam-
paign for his stance on education. As a seasoned campaigner, Eastland 
used Gartin’s position against him. The Brown decision helped East-
land in two ways. He could now convincingly argue that he was better 
positioned to protect white supremacy. Secondly, most Mississippians 
did not consider Gartin’s message of moderation a virtue just a few 
months after Brown. He effectively painted Gartin as “soft on inte-
gration and a pawn for orga- nized labor.” His strategy swayed white 
segregationists and the election respectively.57

Moderate voices in the South sought to avoid conflict and protect 
their economic base. Unlike their segregationist counterparts, these 
moderates presented their views in a less overt fashion. Since its es-
tablishment, The Laurel Leader-Call newspaper endorsed moderate 
perspectives, declaring on June 18, 1954, that Mississippi would be-
come a pacifying influence and solve its issues with unity and faith. 
Historian Anders Walker has present-ed the idea that these moderates 
cleverly navigated the legal system to dodge standoffs with the federal 
government, thereby indirectly keeping some aspects of racial divi-
sion where direct opposition didn’t work. They focused on economic 
exclusion to maintain racial order without resorting to violence. Their 
tactics brought up a significant issue: the potential to transform dis-
criminatory laws into protective measures for civil rights. This middle 
position felt like a betrayal to segregationists and passive to civil rights 
advocates, who both saw neutrality as a lack of patriotism and com-
mitment.58

After the landmark Brown verdict, Mississippi counties general-
ly pulled back on school equalization projects, but the Jones County 
School District had not yet finished its efforts. By the end of 1954, the 
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district had restructured the schools for African American students into 
the Shady Oak and Roosevelt systems. According to Laurel’s Mayor 
Gordon Berry, the three extra miles that African American students 
had to travel for schooling made it clear that they were not getting the 
same opportunities as white students. Due to a tight budget, the dis-
trict was unable to build new, modern schools for students from eighth 
to twelfth grade, leading to serious overcrowding. The black schools 
received outdated textbooks and equipment passed down from white 
schools, revealing the spurious separate but equal education system as 
a mere silencing strategy against black criticism.59

Foreseeing challenges from southern states, the Supreme Court 
initially delayed prescriptive measures for its ruling. Postponing the 
merging of segregated schools after the Brown ruling was a calculated 
tactic, aimed at fostering wider approval in a community still rooted 
in segregation. It called upon attorneys from states with segregation 
to outline desegregation strategies. After additional court sessions, on 
May 31, 1955, the justices decreed that desegregation should advance 
in “all deliberate speed.”60

The Emmett Till Generation
In May 1955, in Jackson, Mississippi, the Mississippi State Confer-
ence Board of the NAACP held a sparsely attended meeting. The at-
tendees included Vera Mae Pigee, her daughter Mary Jane, John Fra-
zier of Green- ville, Amos Brown of Jackson, Benjamin Murph and 
his Freedom Choir. The session concluded with Pigee and Murph be-
ing appointed as Youth advisors for Mississippi. Following this event, 
the NAACP’s field secretary, Medgar Evers, began setting up Youth 
Councils throughout the state to bolster both adult-led chapters and 
youth participation in local activities. Evers believed that involving 
the youth was essential for success in the fight against segregation-
ist Jim Crow laws. On August 31, 1955, the Youth Movement of the 
1950s gained momentum after the discovery of 14-year-old Emmett 
Till’s corpse in the Tallahatchie River, weighed down with a cotton gin 
fan tied to his neck with barbed wire. His mother, Mamie Till Bradley, 
made the choice for an open-casket funeral in Chicago that allowed 
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thousands to witness the brutalized remains of her son. Activist Joyce 
Ladner termed those galvanized by this event as “The Emmett Till-
Generation.” Youth councils became very active in areas like Jackson, 
Me- ridian, McComb, Vicksburg, and Laurel. From 1956 to 1959, to-
tal NAACP membership in Mississippi nearly doubled, jumping from 
around 8,000 to 15,000 dues-paying members.61

On September 2, 1957, during a sultry afternoon, about 50 indi-
vid- uals met at Laurel’s St. Paul Methodist Church for that month’s 
NAACP meeting. The agenda was clear and targeted. After numer-
ous unsuccessful attempts at integrating and the ongoing obstructive 
stance of white legislators, the traditional tactic of seeking justice in 
court was gradually replaced  by more direct actions. These methods 
encompassed bus boycotts, sit-ins, and freedom rides, all banking on 
the power of collective action, nonviolent protest, and deliberate defi-
ance of the law. This change was also a side effect of the local govern-
ment’s efforts to outlaw and harass mainstream civil rights organiza-
tions across the Deep South.62

Martin Luther King, Jr., president of the Southern Christian Lead- 
ership Conference (SCLC), drove those sentiments home during the 
forty- seventh annual NAACP convention in San Francisco on “The 
Mont- gomery Story” weeks after the federal district court in Alabama 
ruled in Browder v. Gayle that bus segregation was unconstitution-
al. Murph, who was in attendance, played a special recording of the 
speech for the attend- ees present at the meeting. King’s premise was 
apparent. “Wherever seg- regation exists, we must be willing to stand 
up in mass and courageously and non-violently protest against it. And 
I might say that I must admit that this means sacrifice and suffering.” 
Some African Americans were wary of willfully breaking the law, 
but others found it the only practical way to hold forceful demonstra-
tions.63

During the 47th annual NAACP convention in San Francisco, 
Martin Luther King Jr., president of the Southern Christian Leadership 
Conference, delivered a stirring. This moment followed the Alabama 
court’s ruling against bus segregation in Browder v. Gayle. Murph, 
who attended the event, played a special audio re-
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The Laurel Youth Council, 1957 (Courtesy of Sandra Davis Murph)

The Laurel NAACP Youth Council in choir robes (Courtesy of San-
dra Davis Murph)

cording for those who were not present. King stressed the importance 
of confronting segregation with united, fearless, and nonviolent re-
sistance, despite the potential for personal loss and pain. Although 
some African Americans were reluctant to flout the law, many others 
deemed it an effective means to conduct strong protests.

In September 1957, Murph established the Laurel Youth Council, 
which was inaugurated at an event at the Morning Star Baptist Church. 
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The NAACP Youth Council, 1959 (Courtesy of Sandra Davis Murph)

Robert Hearn, the Youth Council president, oversaw the ceremony 
with Albert Power of Jackson as the guest speaker. The Laurel Youth 
Council quickly rose to prominence as the most vibrant and sizable 
Youth Council in the state. By November, Murph formed the NAACP 
Freedom Choir, influencing Oak Park students’ activity in local and 
church events that supported the mission of the NAACP. Members 
gained unique insights into the civil rights movement, partly due to the 
council’s choir touring with Murph. They performed at various events, 
including for Catholic churches and at NAACP meeting nationwide, 
with Murph guiding the youth as a pioneer of their generation’s activ-
ism.64

The Youth Council, largely made up of Oak Park students, faced 
accusations from some white community members of stirring racial 
tension. African American, confronting the stark injustices of segre-
gation, often turned to their religious convictions, finding solace and 
strength in sing- ing to challenge racism. These songs dated back to 
19th-century traditions of negro spirituals, which emboldened the 
community with aspirations of emancipation. Such customs played a 
crucial role in fostering a cul-ture of resilient opposition through black 
prophetic revivalism. At Oak Park, choir director Hattie V. J. McInnis 
was known for her rigorous and methodical training. She helped the 
choir to excel, particularly in state competitions from her appointment 
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in 1931. It was a requisite for Oak Park students involved in public 
music classes to learn and sing both the national and school anthems. 
As the choir students’ participation with the NAACP was questioned, 
McInnis forced a decision: sing with Oak Park’s choir or with the 
Youth Council Chorus. Committed to the cause, even with their re-
spect for McInnis, Janet Murph, Alton Ray, Gilmer Robinson, and 
Donnie Watkins influenced their fellow students to return their robes 
and uphold their roles in the freedom struggle.65

In a correspondence to Roy Wilkins, Murph expressed his favor 
over the graduating youth. “We are waging a mighty battle for the ones 
of the Youth for the righteous cause of NAACP. We have won a ma-
jor victory here by sheer courage. This battle has been lost in other 
places. We are looking to the future when these who have stuck by 
us so courageously will be leaving for college, and we will be able to 
feature others who will take the place of these.” In an effort to expand 
their ranks, NAACP chapters across Mississippi launched member-
ship drives that led to the opening of a new central office in Jackson. 
The Laurel-Jones County branch saw significant growth, achieving a 
roster of 332 by the close of 1957 and forming a youth wing with 85 
members. This rapid expansion under Murph’s guidance won recog-
nition from Medgar Evers. “It is our hope that his excellent leadership 
and success with the youth will inspire the hearts of others so that in 
the ensuing year, we will see the dawn of a bright tomorrow as a result 
of the birth and growth of more Youth Councils in Mississippi.”66

Reaction to Brown
The notable growth of the NAACP and the Brown decision caught the 
eyes of influential local whites, prompting them to actively work to 
weaken the civil rights group’s momentum. Established by the Mis-
sissippi govern-ment in 1956, the Sovereignty Commission’s ob-
jectives were to safeguard Mississippi’s independence and its allies 
from federal overreach, ensuring a positive representation of the state 
and its policies on racial division. To oversee the state’s image, they 
employed detectives and local spies to watch and interfere with civil 
rights efforts throughout the state. This Commission kept detailed ob-
servation records on a large number of indi- viduals suspected to be 
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part of civil rights groups.67

The Laurel Police Department (LPD) started to keep a close watch 
on the NAACP. Local sleuths including O.L. Neatherly from the 
Chamber of Commerce, D.P. Granberry, an oil businessman from Lau-
rel, and even Zack J. Van Landingham, a former FBI agent, focused 
on following the activities of the Black community. Van Landingham 
investigated extensively in Laurel, conferring with Mississippi Repre-
sentative John Neal and Deacon Meatherly, a Chamber of Commerce 
official, to understand the local dynamics of racial interactions. Meath-
erly highlighted Benjamin Murph as a prime instigator of racial activ-
ism. Murph, also a Cub Scout Master, was implicated by Meatherly in 
questionable financial dealings, such as using Boy Scouts fundraising 
as a front for channeling money to the NAACP.68

The Sovereignty Commission’s probe into Laurel’s civil rights 
activity intensified in March 1958 when Laurel Chief of Police Jeff 
Montgom- ery came into possession of Murph’s briefcase, which con-
tained copious NAACP correspondence, names, and addresses of all 
local members. Chief Montgomery anxiously gifted Murph’s brief-
case to members of the Citizens Council. “Dr. Murph’s file, which is 
in this briefcase,” said Investigator Van Landingham, “is being ex-
amined, and pertinent parts will be reviewed in the instant file.” The 
uncovering of Murph’s briefcase height- ened the need for vigilant 
local monitoring. Upon discovering this fortuitous event, both Sher-
iff Lonnie Meador of Jones County and Lieutenant Governor Carroll 
Gartin became involved in the surveillance efforts. The local NAACP 
branches were forced to convene in secret, mostly gathering weekly at 
the First Allen Chapel AME Church. The fear of prior violence made 
members cautious in openly engaging in grassroots activities. Glad-
ys Austin, an educator, refused to openly recruit for NAACP events, 
fearing job loss. Murph, understanding the members’ concerns, main-
tained their anonymity and discreetly collected membership fees at 
night to appease the apprehensive members.69

The probe did not only focus on adults; fear tactics were used 
on the youth as well to force instant confessions of their NAACP 
connections. LPD saw it as their duty to hinder further steps toward 
integration once the Civil Rights Act of 1957 was enacted by Presi-
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dent Dwight Eisenhower. On September 18, 1958, six Youth Council 
members were forcefully removed from classes and questioned by the 
LPD for four hours. The Mississippi NAACP stated this was the most 
extreme measure yet, equating the LPD actions with Nazi operations, 
and decried the abuse perpetrated against the youths. “We deplore and 
condemn these bigoted actions and also those responsible for the hei-
nous crime against these young people.”70

On April 5, 1959, Laurel-Jones County marked the start of their 
fifth annual NAACP membership drive. Medgar Evers kicked off the 
event with an inspiring speech at St. Elmo Baptist Church, where 
approximately 100 people gathered. Speaking at the Laurel branch 
meeting, Medgar Evers highlighted that one of the biggest obstacles to 
African American’s progress in Mississippi was what he described as 
“Uncle Toms and Aunt Thomassenas.” Evers stressed the necessity for 
African Americans to understand that securing and maintaining their 
rights requires sacrifice and diligence. He also pointed out that both 
black and white Mississippians had a role to play in achieving equality, 
warning that suppressing African Americans also limits the potential 
of whites. Their goal was to welcome 350 new members, hoping to 
reach an ambitious 500 before the NAACP’s 50th convention.71

During this time, Murph contributed by sending 76 youth mem-
ber- ships to the organization’s national office. On a copy of an NAACP 
mem- orandum forwarded to King outlining the achievements of the 
Youth Council, King wrote that their “activity during 1958–59 made 
them outstanding examples of NAACP youth in action.” By the mid-
point of the drive, Murph had energetically rallied 608 individuals, 
making Laurel the state’s largest NAACP chapter. He brought together 
a team of local leaders including pastor, businessmen, and teachers—
Fred Hopkins, Willie Jones, Reverend and Mrs. T. D. Brown, Rev-
erend R. D. Holloway, Sam Sand- ers, and Reverend J. E. Camer-
on—to assemble the campaign committee. Guided by their leadership, 
the branch set a new record, enrolling 415 new members in the 1959 
drive.72

As the NAACP’s membership rose, so too did the opposition to 
equal rights for all races. On the morning of January 2, 1960, new 
local officials to their oath at the Laurel Courthouse. The presiding 
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Judge Casey administered the oath to the incoming team of local offi-
cials, with Lonnie E. Meador, previously the Circuit Clerk, emerging 
as a significant challenge to the movement’s agenda. On January 26, 
Murph reached out to Meador seeking his commitment to improving 
the situation for African Americans. Confused, Meador questioned the 
nature of “cooperation.” When Murph elaborated, Meador swiftly cut 
him off, adamantly asserting that he would not allow racial integration 
in Jones County.73

Dissatisfaction was voiced against the political ventures led by Af-
rican Americans, even facing underhanded resistance from the Oak 
Park leadership. Some Youth Council members were allegedly threat-
ened with failing grades for their activism. Still, Murph took steps 
to improve the branch’s appeal to younger members by looking for 
a choir director to help them sound more professional. With assis-
tance from NAACP deputy executive director, Gloster Current, and 
NAACP field director, Clarence Laws, Jackson Acox of New Orleans 
was brought in. When his arrival in December 1959 became known 
to the Oak Park administration, they coincidentally planned a bas-
ketball game for the same day to lure away the regular attendees of 
NAACP events. Murph saw the move’s effectiveness as a reflection 
of the members’ ingrained social habits, leading to a noticeable loss 
in numbers in favor of the basketball game that night. By 1960, the 
Laurel-Jones County NAACP emerged as Mississippi’s largest chap-
ter with 608 members.74

Laurel’s voting drive saw about a thousand African Americans 
join the voter rolls. Yet, Leonard Caves, the Jones County registrar, 
exerted great effort to deter them, often resorting to intimidation or 
bureaucratic obstacles like misplaced applications. A former educa-
tor who became the circuit clerk in 1959, Caves registered merely 15 
out of 60 African Americans between January and March 1960. When 
NAACP’s Maycie Gore attempted registration, she faced outright 
hostility, as Caves affirmed that he was not “registering any niggers 
today.” Despite repeated attempts, Caves maintained his unyielding 
stance as registrar.75

Before this period, Laurel had yet to witness the emergence of 
sit-ins that displayed the impact of peaceful, community-led protests 
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in the South. On April 15, under the guidance of Ella Baker from the 
SCLC’s office in Atlanta, the Student Nonviolent Coordinating Com-
mittee (SNCC) was created following a gathering at Shaw University 
in Raleigh, North Carolina. This event brought together 126 repre-
sentatives from 58 sit-in locations across 12 states. Notable attendees 
who later became key figures in the organization included Diane Nash, 
Marion Barry, John Lewis, and Lester McKinnie. McKinnie was a 
standout for his strong beliefs and mul- tiple arrests during protests. 
For instance, he was arrested and accused of striking a police officer 
in the stomach. McKinnie found the accusations humorous, stating, 
“Why would I attack a policeman with him armed with a club and a 
half a dozen others standing around?”76

McKinnie, similar to other college students, initially doubted the 
legitimacy of a career in grassroots activism. Yet, he came to realize 
that students had the unique financial liberty to act. On his journey 
from Nashville, Tennessee, McKinnie boarded a Greyhound on May 
24, 1961, to join them in Jackson. Subsequently, he participated in a 
protest against segregation held at the Mississippi state capital. When 
the Freedom Rides concluded in Jackson, it attracted many campaign-
ers, including those experienced from Nashville. Throughout the sum-
mer and fall of 1961, he worked with Nashville planners to prompt 
students into protesting various segregated Jackson establishments.77
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MOBILIZING THE YOUTH
Civil rights happened because youth got involved. The youth stood 
up and helped to break the pattern that their parents had got ac-
customed to living. The next generation has to take that stand for 
whatever it is, socially, that they are involved in.
– Octavia Spencer

The year before SNCC arrived in Laurel, President Eisenhower signed 
the 1960 Civil Rights Act, establishing federal oversight for discrim-
inatory voting practices. Nonetheless, the process to challenge vot-
er denial was daunting, with proof of racial discrimination required. 
This led the local NAACP chapter to intensify their voter outreach 
and enrollment drives. Murph convened meetings at black churches, 
rallying community members to inundate the voter registrar’s office. 
African Americans were allotted one registration day monthly, known 
as Black Day. In March 1962, a day saw only nine out of 198 African 
Americans even get a chance to take the voter registration test, with all 
ultimately failing. Leslie Dunbar, Executive Director of the Southern 
Regional Council (SRC), criticized the registration procedures as be-
ing racially biased, not aimed at gauging voter qualifications. He doc-
umented in excess of 500 rejections of African American registrants, 
implying that concealed actions by white officials may have caused 
more unaccounted-for rejections.78

On April 7, representatives from the NAACP convened at their 
main office in New York to devise a six-point plan titled Operation 
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R. Jess Brown, Medgar Evers, Charles Darden, and Dr. Murph in 
Jackson, Mississippi (Courtesy of Sandra Davis Murph)

Mississippi, aimed at dismantling segregation. The initial strategy re-
quired NAACP members to actively work on increasing voter enroll-
ment and participa- tion. The focus was on helping students to engage 
in the voter registration process. This included preparing potential 
voters for literacy tests, establishing schools for citizenship education, 
promoting the importance of registering, and collecting statements 
about African American efforts to register. Medgar Evers led vigorous 
campaigns in Laurel to encourage African Americans to pay their poll 
taxes, which was necessary for voting rights. Thanks to these efforts, 
Laurel saw the number of black voters rise to more than 2,000 within 
a year, a significant increase.79

On April 15, 1962, Bob Moses, SNCC’s director of the Missis-
sippi Voter Registration Project, assigned Lester McKinnie and Diane 
Nash to coordinate efforts in Laurel. Before Nash left for Cleveland, 
Mississippi to join her husband, James Bevel, she and McKinnie con-
ducted workshops every Tuesday night in Laurel. They initiated the 
Laurel Nonviolent group as a SNCC branch. This group took a struc-
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tured approach, setting up two panels: the Student Action Committee 
(SAC) and the Adult Advisory. The SAC was in charge of engaging 
students, while the Adult Advisory kept an eye on student activities 
during protests. The Adult Advisory Board had 15 members from var-
ious segments of the Laurel community, functioning as counselors for 
SAC and arranging for legal representation. On Tuesdays, about 12 to 
20 students would meet to focus on issues like racial equality, nonvio-
lent protest, self-defense, and registering to vote. They were intent on 
testing the downtown businesses but avoided overnight stays in jail.80

Two key pillars form the foundation of nonviolent protest. The 
first is a moral stance rooted in spirituality, which holds that caus-
ing harm to others is wrong and that acts of love towards adversaries 
can create positive changes in both individuals and communities. The 
second pillar is based on leveraging economic, social, and political in-
fluence on demand reforms of laws and policies that are perceived 
as unfair. Individuals who oppose repressive measures possess pow-
ers independent of the state that can pressure governing bodies to ac-
knowledge the need for reforms.81

Early in the 20th century, scholars have connected nonviolent ac-
tions to prominent organizations—those supporting peace efforts and 
labor unions. In mid-April, activists in Laurel started a series of pro-
tests to discuss collective salaries with the local Chamber of Com-
merce. These efforts did not succeed, as the Chamber’s president, J.W. 
West, asserted that they held no sway over the decisions of downtown 
retailers. SNCC distributed leaflets urging a boycott of stores main-
taining racial segregation. Despite not always having the support or 
cooperation of some community figures, McKinnie directed his team 
to partner with the more supportive NAACP in Hattiesburg. Despite 
the challenges, many activists in SNCC stayed in Laurel, and even-
tually, there was collaboration between the groups. Expressing his 
challenges, McKinnie communicated with SNCC’s executive secre-
tary James Forman. “Jim, the Negroes in Lau- rel are like many other 
cities, waiting until someone else starts something, and then if it is 
effective, they will get on the bandwagon. Every minister seems to be 
Uncle Tom-ish; it’s absurd. So, I am working mostly with the common 
layman.”82
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In late Spring, Margaret Lindsey, secretary for the Laurel Nonvio-
lent Movement, supported the merchant boycott with a spirited article 
in the Laurel Newsletter. “Why buy segregation?” She asked, “Why 
spend your hard-earned money at a store that perpetuates racial sep-
aration and inequality? Would you give money to an organization that 
actively worked against your church or country? Of course not. Then 
why give money to businesses which actively work against you?” In 
Laurel, the F.W. Wool- worth Company and S. H. Kress Store allowed 
African Americans to place pick-up orders. Still, they limited their 
facility socially—they did not let African Americans sit at the lunch 
counters, drink out of the water fountain, or use the restrooms. White-
owned businesses throughout Laurel did not hire African Americans 
to work for them, often limiting them to custodial roles regardless of 
their qualifications. She stressed that maintaining patronage at these 
businesses was a tacit endorsement of the racial status quo. “If policies 
aren’t changed,” she desperately cried, “perhaps we have no one to 
thank but ourselves.”83

McKinnie’s approach to fighting racial discrimination in Mis-
sissippi saw pushback from the white and black residents. Benjamin 
Murph, although aligned in purpose, was critical of McKinnie’s tac-
tics, believing Laurel to be excessively perilous. With Murph at the 
helm, Laurel kept a centrist political identity, while civil rights actions 
were non-existent in the rural areas. Murph’s moderately conciliato-
ry method gave him the privilege of mixing with the white elite, yet 
it accomplished little in way of social progress. He saw nonviolent 
direct action as a way for activists to symbolically reach out to soci-
ety’s conscience in building a united community but not by risking 
the younger generation. His endeavors were significant and monitored 
by the Sovereignty Commission. During a conversation with Virgil 
Downing, Senator E.K. Collins acknowledged Murph’s influence over 
African American voters in Jones County and his active role in region-
al politics. Despite potential manipulation, Collins did not perceive 
Murph as endangering the existing white dominance. Despite the pos-
sible railroading, Collins did not view Murph as threatening the white 
power structure. “So far, this Negro—Dr. B. E. Murph—has caused 
no trouble with the negro and white people of Jones County.” Murph’s 
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nonviolent philosophy towards resistance compelled some whites to 
think he was not “one of those agitators.” Mayor Gordon Berry even 
considered Murph, a friend.84

Despite persistent efforts, the advancement of the Laurel Nonvi-
olent Movement was minimal, with only a handful of protests occur-
ring. McKinnie, sensing potential defeat, attempted to spark broader 
engagement through a personal protest. In early May, McKinnie’s solo 
effort to integrate a bus terminal’s waiting room in Laurel led to his 
arrest by Police Chief Clyde Nix for disturbing the peace. Although 
sentenced to four months in jail and a fine of $200, McKinnie was tem-
porarily freed pending his lawyer’s appeal. The appeal was rejected 
on a technicality due to an error asserted by the Jones County Circuit 
Court. Subsequent efforts to appeal fell through because of procedural 
oversights. Despite being ordered to return to court later, McKinnie 
did not show up.85

McKinnie, having avoided his court date, pressed the Laurel 
Newslet- ter to make a drastic shift. “We must make the sacrifice for 
human digni- ty. We can no longer afford to sit idly by and be deprived 
of our rights as citizens.” The local bus station sit-in and merchant 
boycott were trivial when compared to neighboring efforts. On June 
15, the Fifth Circuit Court in Forrest County ordered Circuit Clerk 
Theron Lynd to “provide blacks and whites the same sections of the 
Mississippi Constitution for interpre- tation, to permit federal agents 
to review his registration records and to present to the court a signed 
statement swearing that he would adhere to the court’s ruling. It also 
gave Lynd ten days to register forty-three blacks whose applications 
the court approved.” Despite Lynd’s noncompliance, this denotes a 
shift still pending in Laurel. McKinnie urged Laurel to “wake up and 
join the fight to persevere our American democracy.”86

Similarly, to Laurel, discord ensued amongst younger SNCC 
work- ers and the seasoned, traditional NAACP leaders in several 
towns across Mississippi. In nearby Hattiesburg, SNCC’s efforts to 
register voters hit a snag when NAACP leaders charged them with 
having Communist ties. In response, the Council of Federated Organi-
zations (COFO)—originally created to gain governmental support for 
the release of Freedom Riders—reformed in 1962. The new objective 
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was to reduce conflicts and overlap to align the efforts of key civil 
rights groups in Mississippi.87

Having spent close to three weeks in jail in Mississippi, James 
Forman welcomed fellow prisoner and local Jesse Harris to join the 
SNCC as a field secretary. Tasked by Forman, Harris was to lead voter 
registration efforts in Laurel alongside the Jones County Improvement 
Association and COFO as well as to facilitate a peaceful protest work-
shop at Roosevelt High School in Ellisville. Despite the low number of 
24,000 African American voters in a state where 390,000 white voters 
were registered, Harris pressed on. He approached the Laurel county 
clerk with plans to boost voter registration, only to be limited to bring-
ing two people at a time due to the clerk’s other duties. With a hint of 
irony, Harris agreed, but the next day he showed up with nearly 50 
people, overwhelming the clerk and causing voter registration to shut 
down for that day.88

Uncompromising calls for resistance came from surprising sourc-
es. Printed in the Laurel Leader-Call was an edgy proclamation passed 
by the Harmony Baptist Church congregation in Laurel. It claimed 
Jones County’s serenity was under attack by external provocateurs 
suspected of communist sympathies. The announcement articulated a 
belief that the true aim of the civil rights organizations was not mere 
integration, but rather to overpower a liberated citizenry. The church 
solemnly committed to stand by their governor amid the crises, and to 
resist any overreaching authority or despotic regime at all costs, asking 
for divine support in their steadfastness.89

The chief spokesman for Laurel’s separatist renegade, State Sen-
ator E. K. Collins, defended the institution’s right with a metaphoric 
militia. “We must win this fight regardless of the cost in time, effort, 
money, and human lives,” Collins tempestuously said, referring to the 
Ole Miss riots that spurred after James Meredith was accepted into the 
institution. An uncommon dissenting perspective was offered by J.W. 
West, the Laurel Leader-Call editor, who skeptically viewed Barnett’s 
request for interposition. “Barnett is a lawyer by profession. He knew, 
or should have known, that the theory of interposition has been rejected 
by the court since 1792.” West also contested Barnett’s request to the 
college board to support his decision or resign. “According to Barnett, 
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the members of the state college board either go to jail for contempt 
of a federal court order or get off the board,” he noted. “Really, what 
skin is it off his neck if somebody else goes to jail?” He suggested that 
Barnett could have better served Mississippi’s educational system by 
leaving the matter to those who were responsible for it.

Over the course of two years, demonstrators succeeded in desegre-
gat- ing certain communal areas in some southern college towns. The 
Freedom Rides led to a nominal integration of bus terminals used for 
travel between states. Yet, in most of the South, public venues were 
still segregated under local laws. African Americans who defied these 
rules on buses were met with violence and unfounded arrests. The 
fight for integration in educational institutions often was undermined 
by police hostility and deliberate intimidation by groups like the Ku 
Klux Klan.90

On June 11, 1963, President Kennedy publicly denounced the 
white community’s resistance to African American civil rights, declar-
ing it a sig- nificant moral obstacle, and committed to federal involve-
ment in the fight for integration. That same evening, Medgar Evers 
was tragically shot and killed in front of his family after returning a 
NAACP meeting, advocating for the end of segregation with t-shirts 
saying, “Jim Crow Must Go.” Re- wards from the governor and press 
for details on the shooter yielded little progress. However, the FBI in-
vestigation turned up Byron de la Beckwith, a fertilizer salesman and 
Klan member, as the prime suspect.91

Bowers and the Klan
The Ku Klux Klan (KKK) reemerged to prominence in Mississippi in 
the late 1940s. A power struggle ensued for control of the Mississip-
pi KKK, climaxed by the election of Imperial Wizard Samuel Hollo-
way Bowers Jr. Born on August 6, 1924, in New Orleans, Louisiana, 
Bowers came to Mississippi with his father, who became a salesman in 
Gulfport. Ten days after the Japanese bombed Pearl Harbor, Bowers, 
only 17 years old, left Fortier High School—with his father’s consent 
but not his mother’s—and joined the Navy. “He’s fanatically patriot-
ic,” his mother recalled. “But he thought he was fighting for a pure de-
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mocracy, not for this lousy government.” Bowers served in the Navy 
until December 7, 1945, and by the early 1950s, he moved to Laurel 
and set up the Sambo Amusement Com- pany.92

During the Cold War, like many white southerners, he grew hos-
tile towards the civil rights efforts, suspecting them of communist 
underpinnings. By the late 1950s, Bowers began sharing prejudiced 
political beliefs. He developed a conviction that the Soviet Union was 
a mask for Jewish leaders aiming to topple Western Christianity, that 
Cuba under Castro was training African Americans for an assault on 
the Gulf Coast, and that the U.S. government would turn this into an 
excuse to take control of the National Guard and forcefully remove 
whites from Mississippi.93

Functioning as a clandestine military-style entity under Sam Bow-
ers, the White Knights of the KKK orchestrated a campaign of ter-
ror, marked by a sequence of bombings, beatings, and threats. As they 
came together, Klan affiliates were actively recruiting in regions strad-
dling the border of Louisiana and Mississippi, with southeastern Mis-
sissippi being a hotspot for their operations. The White Citizens Coun-
cil would often publicly reject any ties to Klan-instigated violence, 
attributing it to unsavory characters, yet the Klan was unabashed in its 
calls for violent actions against civil rights campaigns. Although the 
Council outwardly denounced violence, the Klan credited them with 
legally redirecting the widespread resistance against the acceptance of 
desegregation.94

With the rise of the White Knights, Laurel’s resistance to integra-
tion kept growing, making the unification effort seem unlikely. Si-
multaneously, initiatives for school equality jeopardized the existence 
of African American schools. On July 3, 1962, a six-member panel, 
speaking on behalf of 94 African Americans, contested the annexation 
of Nora Davis Elementary in a meeting with the Board of Trustees of 
the Laurel Municipal School District. They submitted a twelve-point 
proposal, one of which was a request for a plan for voluntary deseg-
regation of all public schools by January 1964. One trustee quickly 
scanned the proposals. The board committed to reviewing them but 
provided no schedule for their response. Beatrice Collins, the presi-
dent of the Nora Davis Parent Teacher Association (PTA), took this 
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as a small step forward. The PTA had been strug- gling since 1960 
to have the Board of Education hear their grievances, but correspon-
dence had been neglected until this meeting.95

In September 1962, Beatrice Collins’ husband, Clinton Collins, 
de- clared his candidacy for the role of Justice of the Peace for Beat 
One in Jones County. A law school graduate from Lincoln Universi-
ty, former teacher and principal, Collins had his career in education 
halted due to being a registered voter. Clinton Collins’ electoral pur-
suit was groundbreaking, marking him as the first black candidate for 
public office in Mississippi since the post-Civil War Reconstruction 
era. The SNCC-run newspaper, The Student Voice, backed Collins’ 
initiative. “There is no reason why Negroes cannot run for office—
and win—all over the state of Mississippi—that is if thousands more 
negroes registered to vote.” Collins’ aim was to inspire more Laurel 
residents to register to vote. For campaign support, he talked to Colia 
Liddell, a SNCC field secretary. Despite her initial apprehension to en-
gage in politics, she committed to updating Bob Moses and his COFO 
colleagues about Collins’ campaign, emphasizing the significance of 
his efforts.96

Collins’s campaign, with its motto “Good Government to Suc-
ceed Demands Change,” resonated with the black community’s current 
struggle for justice. He understood that using a language shaped by re-
sistance was essential to achieve reciprocity. “We of the Free State of 
Jones have a rich opportunity to remove much of the alleged inequity 
associated with our southern way of life. We have now the opportunity 
to express ourselves as free men and women in selecting a Justice of 
Peace based only on charac- teristics involving ability, training, ener-
gy, fairness, and social responsi- bility.”97

Collins was the sole Black candidate in contention and faced 
tough competition, particularly from R.E. Parker, who was the exist-
ing Justice and sought his third term. Despite Collins winning a ma-
jority in two predominantly Black districts, Parker was also the Vice 
President of the Mississippi Justice Court Officers Association, giving 
him a significant edge. He spent three months campaigning throughout 
the city, only to find a burning cross on his lawn on May 10, a scare 
tactic against civil rights activists in the 1960s. It was reported that a 
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group of white women were actively involved in Clinton C. Collins’s 
political campaign, a matter that deeply concerned the White Knights, 
and allegations surfaced about these women engaging with African 
American men at the Negro American Le- gion Hall, including shar-
ing meals and intimate associations. As tensions were expected to rise 
in Laurel during the summer, a Klan informant revealed that Donald 
Henshaw shared news from Waynesboro, Mississippi. There, a man 
solicited signatures at a café for a committee focused on opposing 
African Americans, claiming he had already gathered over 300 sup-
porters and that his initiative originated from Laurel.98

The much-awaited zenith of Collins’ campaign efforts had finally 
dawned. On July 27, Leroy Johnson, a trailblazer as the first African 
American to win a Georgia Senate seat in the post-Reconstruction era, 
stepped into the Laurel Civic Center to speak to a throng of Collins’ 
supporters. Collins, accompanied by B.E. Murph and Reverend R.I.T. 
Thomas of Jackson, warmly welcomed the Senator at the polished 
glass entryway. Inside, supporters buzzed with the sort of high spirit 
reserved for song and celebrations. Reverend J.E. Cameron of Hatties-
burg took charge of the proceedings, presenting Collins to the eager 
attendees. His message underscored a heartfelt philosophy: “We, the 
Free State of Jones County, should place values in all people because 
every man is worth something to this community. Whatever happens 
in Jones, whether it be good or bad, reflects the entirety of the Coun-
ty.”99

The cornerstone of Collins’ political campaign was ushering in 
a reformation to boost the efficiency and functionality of the public 
sector. He held the belief that a government functions at its peak when 
every individual has a voice and a stake in it, and the wishes of the ma-
jority guide its actions. Speaking with clarity and conviction, Senator 
Johnson succeeded Collins at the mic, revealing the African American 
community’s aspiration for equal rights rather than exceptional treat-
ment, prompting southern whites to collaborate with them in future 
planning. Demonstrating his dedication to this cause, he pointed to the 
racial integration of the previously segregated cafeteria at the Geor-
gia State Capitol. Conveying to those gathered that African Americans 
were no strangers to heroism and innovation, Johnson celebrated their 



54

historical sacrifices and triumphs, highlighting luminaries such as Le-
ontyne Price and Ralph Boston.100

At the end of his electoral bid, Collins garnered tallied a modest 
518 votes. Nonetheless, local leaders voiced that Collins’ race “has 
done more than anything to awaken Negroes to their civic respon-
sibility.” Before the governor’s election in Mississippi in November 
1963, the African Amer- ican voter registration stood at just 12,000. 
The movement for equitable voting rights, championed by SNCC, 
persisted amidst the biased political scene of Mississippi. On the day 
of the election, November 5, a common belief among whites was that 
African Americans lacked the desire to vote, a misperception perpetu-
ated by the government and the press. The fear that upheld racial voter 
suppression and preserved white supremacy went largely unnoticed.101

COFO launched the Freedom Vote to demonstrate to both the gov-
ernment and the nation that African Americans held a strong desire to 
vote without intimidation or prejudice. They worked to educate and 
motivate African Americans in Mississippi to participate in a mock 
election for governor. Aaron Henry, a pharmacist and the president 
of COFO from Clarksdale, was chosen as the nominal governor, with 
Tougaloo College Chaplain, Edwin King, as the lieutenant governor. 
Voting stations were set up in predominantly African American com-
munities. At an October COFO conference, representatives drafted a 
proposal advocating for the voting rights of African Americans, the 
increase of the minimum wage, and a program to provide loans to 
farmers.102

In 1963, civil rights leaders in Mississippi were exploring fresh 
ap- proaches to break through the persistent obstacles that hindered 
their progress. Past efforts in the 1950s and early 1960s to enlist Af-
rican Ameri- can voters, advocate for desegregation in schools, and 
fight against segre- gated public transit yielded limited success. The 
Voter Education Project (VEP) recognized that such deep-rooted dis-
crimination required interven- tion from the federal level to substan-
tially boost African American voter registration. Although President 
Kennedy had expressed support for the rights of African Americans to 
vote, activists believed more action was necessary. They proposed that 
the government could withdraw federal funds from Mississippi or dis-
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patch federal marshals to voting locations to protect African American 
registrants. Meanwhile, Kennedy’s administration preferred to pursue 
changes through court litigation until new laws could be established.103

On April 23, 1963, despite the insistence of U.S. Justice Depart-
ment officials to inspect these records and poll books, they were not 
present to start their investigation. Leonard Caves declined to grant the 
U.S. Justice Department access to the county’s voter registration re-
cords for photographic and other uses. Gerald M. Stern, an official for 
the Department of Justice in Washington, approached him to under-
stand his unwillingness to share such records. Caves informed Stern 
that he believed the records were regular and without issue. He insist-
ed that the local Democratic and Election Committees needed them 
upcoming voter activities. Stern expressed hope that Caves would re-
consider his stance, mentioning his travel plans and availability for a 
response. However, Caves remained firm in his decision, foreseeing a 
federal court directive to share the records. The inquiry by the Justice 
Department generally followed a complaint lodged by an eligible vot-
er, though Caves made no guesses on the complainant’s identity. There 
was speculation among court officials.104

In Mississippi, African Americans who had been historically de-
nied their rightful status as citizens took a standby engaging in the 
Freedom Vote. This approach utilized the act of voting as a symbol of 
their yearn- ing to vote freely. Historians have noted that the Freedom 
Vote laid the groundwork for Freedom Summer, providing a strategic 
model, motivat- ing African Americans, and cleverly involving white 
volunteers to attract press coverage to oppose the exclusionary Missis-
sippi Democratic Party.105

While COFO worked on mock elections, the NAACP’s Voter 
Education Project in Mississippi aimed to get more African Amer-
icans officially registered to vote. In Jones County, the efforts was 
encouraging. They contacted 15,332 potential voters by door-to-door 
canvassing, 1,654 by home, and 662 at clinics. In comparison to its 
southern counterparts, Mississippi was behind. For instance, in 1964, 
a mere 28,000 out of the possible 465,620 black voters in Mississippi 
had signed up to vote, the smallest amount among the 11 states exam-
ined. Though five states had a greater number of eligible black voters, 
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the tally in Mississippi was still dismal. To illustrate, Alabama was 
just ahead of Mississippi, with 111,000 of its 526,656 eligible black 
voters registered. Hence, the black electorate scarcely influenced the 
results of Mississippi’s 1963 official elections.106
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4

HOTTER THAN THE DEVIL
Loose and easy language about equality, resonant resolutions about 
brotherhood fall pleasantly on the ear, but for the Negro there is a 
credibility gap he cannot overlook. He remembers that with each 
modest advance the white population promptly raises the argument 
that the Negro has come far enough. Each step forward accents an 
ever-present tendency to backlash.
– Martin Luther King, Jr.

In the summer of 1964, college volunteers converged in Mississippi, 
equipped with training from their sessions in Oxford, Ohio, all for the 
initiative known as the Freedom Summer Project. Their earlier training 
at Oberlin College had aimed to prepare them for the difficult tasks 
of edu- cating and registering voters in the face of expected hostili-
ties from the white power structure. The project kicked off on June 
15. The operation in Laurel was headed by Lester McKinnie, with
support from Gwendolyn Robinson of Memphis and Jimmy Garrett
from the University of Southern California. The project gained mo-
mentum with the arrival of 175 new volunteers towards the end of
June. Among them were Oberlin students David Owen, David Good-
year, and Linnell Barrett, who drove in together. Owen’s experience
on his first day, when he observed a man trying to read a pamphlet
upside down, underscored the reality that without the ability to pass
Mississippi’s literacy tests, the Black community would remain under
the thumb of white dominance.107

African American organizers were cautious of the influx of white 
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volunteers, feeling their privileged education could undermine local 
leadership. “Whites might start leading, with their better grasp of ad-
ministrative work and long-distance communication,” a SNCC repre-
sentative shared. Furthermore, the introduction of whites could herald 
a return to oppres- sive racial dynamics and elevate threats to the black 
community due to their high visibility as outsiders, drawing the hos-
tile gaze of both Klans- men and law enforcement. Although there 
was opposition to involving affluent white college students in work in 
Mississippi, advocates such as SNCC organizer John Lewis and Bob 
Moses saw the benefit of an interracial campaign. They felt that a joint 
presence of white and black would draw the attention of news outlets 
to Mississippi’s situation. The strategy of recruiting Northern college 
volunteers aimed to raise awareness nationally about Mississippi’s 
persistent injustices. An interracial campaign was understood to en-
hance the group’s productivity by drawing on a mix of viewpoints and 
abilities, and by harnessing diversity’s capacity to inspire inventive 
strategies and measures, leading to change within society.108

Prior to the onset of Freedom Summer, grassroots organizations 
had little to no footprint in Laurel. Organizing efforts met resistance 
from some local African American leaders and a severe shortage of 
places for civil rights workers to stay. The bulk of the student activists 
assigned to Laurel made the daily journey from Hattiesburg for their 
organizing work. With a significant Klan presence, locals were too 
afraid to offer housing to the volunteers, creating a climate of dread 
as constant as the relentless summer heat. Volunteers held educational 
sessions for Freedom classes in available open areas and park facili-
ties, while a handful of churches provided space for event planning. 
During the early stages, Pastor Mar- cus Cooley and his Morning Side 
Tabernacle congregation gave support to COFO and SNCC, soon fac-
ing terrorist acts like drive-by shootings and cross burnings. Without 
meeting them, a majority of white Laurel residents had already adopt-
ed a stance of opposition towards the incoming volunteers.109

Moreover, the Klan had intentions to inflict harm or even kill if 
they deemed it necessary. The night that three civil rights workers—
James Chaney, Andrew Goodman, and Michael Schwerner—began 
their first mission in Neshoba County, they suddenly went missing. 
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When they did not check in that night, seasoned SNCC members 
braced for grim news. Earlier that evening, the trio was detained for a 
traffic infraction in Philadelphia, only to be released hours later. The 
community grew anxious over the fate of the three activists and feared 
further violence, complicat- ing the search for a safe planning space 
for their work. In a bid to solve their housing dilemma, Robinson, 
Garrett, and McKinnie were handed names of individuals from the 
NAACP to assist them. Clinton Collins turned to Eberta Spinks, a re-
tired employee of Tant’s Packing Company who moved to Laurel in 
mid-1941, to provide shelter for some partici- pants. Spinks, despite 
being unwell, prayed for the strength to aid the cause at its critical mo-
ment. After discussing with her husband Ollie, who agreed to the idea, 
she cautioned him about the risks involved in taking in the students.110

“We might get our house burned,” Spinks said.
Her husband replies, “Bert, whatever you want to do, you do 
it be cause I know it’s going to be right. That’s why we’re 
paying insurance.”111

With the onset of July, Robinson found herself at the front door of 
an unpretentious house, giving a soft knock. Inside, Spinks moved to-
ward the sound, unaware of who awaited. Fumbling with her belong-
ings, Robinson mustered her composure to greet her host. Identifying 
herself as an SNNC employee, she was met with Spinks’ heartening 
words, “Girl,” she told Robinson, “I’ve been waiting for you my entire 
life.” Spinks recruited her neighbors, Carrie Clayton, and Bertie Mae 
Lindsey, to house Garret and McKinnie, and the duo set up operations 
in her Kingston home. Spinks, asserting her belief in self-defense, re-
mained unshaken by threats, vigilantly maintaining security with her 
shotgun, encouraging her guests to sleep soundly. Her resolve mir-
rored the principles of historical figures like Ida B. Wells who once 
declared that she was “determined to sell my life as dearly as possible 
if attacked. I felt if I could take one lyncher with me, this would even 
up the score a little.” 112

With the Democratic Party being virtually all-powerful and ex-
clusive, and the Republican Party too powerless to gain any foothold 
in the state, those championing voter rights were limited to a single 
course of action— forming a party anchored in the principle that voting 
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A portrait of Gwedolyn Robison (Courtesy of Dr. Gwedolyn Zoharah 
Simmons)

is an essential right. Thus, was born the Mississippi Freedom Demo-
cratic Party (MFDP). Across history, third parties have acted as im-
portant conduits for people to influence governance, a role the MFDP 
embraced. Its main mission was to welcome African Americans in 
Mississippi into the fold of national political discourse, a venue from 
which they had been previously barred. Recognizing a need to contest 
the entrenched election laws of the state, COFO established an initial 
executive body for the MFDP on April 26, 1964. This committee was 
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responsible for setting up the precinct and other state meetings.113

COFO workers joined after SNCC, with Marion Davidson—a 
Pasadena native and Smith College graduate, initiating a temporary 
site in Carrie Clayton’s backyard. They soon transferred operations to 
a newly acquired site with a trailer, serving as a makeshift community 
center. Mayor A.S. Scott ordered their removal for not having essen-
tial facilities like running water and toilets. Elsewhere, Marcia Moore, 
a COFO activist from Fort Dodge, Iowa, conducted freedom classes 
in a playground before being housed with Spinks. Her efforts expand-
ed to New Bethel church, man- aged by Reverend Atkins, where she 
implemented a curriculum including Mathematics, English, African 
American History, and French. Alongside, a daycare facility for Free-
dom Schools was established, and locals received aid in navigating the 
biased voter registration process.114

The Freedom School was an alternative platform for learning. 
Mississippi’s educational system for black children historically sug-
gested that being white was the standard, placing African American 
youths in a position where they were either neglected or degraded. 
This educational approach perpetuated exclusion. Educators, volun-
teers, and local residents collaborated in resistance to the authoritarian 
rule. When they filled churches with freedom songs, their collective 
strength shone brightest. Derived from gospel music integral to Afri-
can American religious tradi- tions, these songs carried messages that 
joined individuals of all races in the quest for the God-given freedom 
for all. Civil rights advocates recognized the pivotal role of the church 
in their mission. They made efforts to join worship services, knowing 
that befriending local clergy was a key first step. Securing access to 
churches meant more than just finding a place for meetings; it linked 
their earthly goals of politics and learning with the church’s influential 
moral authority. Stockley Carmichael told a group of new arrivals, 
“You’ve got to understand what religion means to people here. We 
are doing the Lord’s work.” They did not wish to exploit the church 
but rather to tap into the existing synergy between faith, civic life, and 
education with the belief that divine assistance accompanies self-help 
efforts.115

Black pastors mobilized their church members to facilitate voter 
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registration efforts, strategically partitioning the city to ensure wide-
spread engagement in Laurel. Eberta Spinks, the county chairman of 
the MFDP, led teams to canvass rural areas within Jones County such 
as Ellisville, Moselle, Shady Grove, and Hoy. The energy of the move-
ment was evident at nightly meetings. On July 2, during a live broad-
cast from the White House with lawmakers and civil rights leaders 
present, the Civil Rights Act of 1964 was enacted. While some African 
Americans celebrated, others, like Stokely Carmichael and Charles 
Hamilton voiced skepticism about the true motivations of white pol-
iticians. They believed that the supposed allies of African Americans 
would abandon them when their interests clashed. Despite these con-
cerns, the significance of the Act was rooted in the establishment of a 
federal standard that interrupted the legal acceptance of inequality.116

During the summer project, activists adopted strategies recognized 
by civil rights scholars emphasizing the exploitation of activists. This 
approach led to heightened public awareness and increased support 
when demonstrators suffered violence, fostering a more responsive 
attitude from the government towards the cause. The idea was that the 
public would rally behind the protesters as they witnessed their mis-
treatment. The broader community felt more compassion after seeing 
demonstrators hurt and facing police brutality. Volunteers monitored 
the life-saving Wide Area Telephone Service (WATS) line around the 
clock, recording incidents of violence and arrest, dispatching lawyers 
and doctors, noti- fying the press and Justice Department, and compil-
ing the daily “WATS Report.”117

On the 4th of July, workers organized their initial protest to coin-
cide with Independence Day. A group of seven young people visited a 
drive-in burger spot in Laurel named Burger Chef. Their aim was to 
check if the eatery adhered to Title II of the freshly passed Civil Rights 
Act, which banned racial and other forms of discrimination in pub-
lic places like hotels and restaurants. As they arrived, a dozen locals 
obstructed their entrance and provocatively questioned if they were 
looking for a fight. Facing the expected hostility, the youths departed 
but came back half an hour later with thirteen additional demonstra-
tors. The group endured a violent encounter where they were punched, 
kicked, and beaten with iron rods, with two demonstrators sustaining 
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lacerations to their face and chest from a razor. Observing officers did 
not act despite being in the area. McKinnie attempted to alert local law 
enforcement but was cut off when he chose not to reveal his identity. 
The next day, Jones County Chief of Police, Clyde Nix, recognized 
and apprehended McKinnie, confining him to Jones County Jail for 
not completing a prior four-month sentence stemming from an attempt 
to integrate a bus station in 1962.118

Gwendolyn Robinson repeatedly reached out to the county deten- 
tion center to inquire about McKinnie’s condition. At 8:25 p.m., she 
reached out to the city law enforcement, who assured her there were 
no indications Lester McKinnie faced any harm at the correctional 
farm. When Robinson sought the identity of the person she spoke to, 
he did not disclose it. Bill Light, a COFO official in Jackson, phoned 
again and conversed with the same officer, warning him about alarm-
ing reports that McKinnie was left isolated without other inmates or 
guards, raising con- cerns for his safety. The officer retorted sharply, 
insisting Light’s source verify their information before making fab-
ricated claims, and mentioned McKinnie received no extra security 
compared to other detainees. Marcia Moore visited the precinct and 
spoke to McKinnie through a window. He shared that he had been 
deprived of food for two days and was due for labor at the jail on 
Saturday. However, the judiciary brokered an arrange- ment for his 
release in exchange for his immediate departure from Jones County, 
to which he concurred, heading back to Nashville. Consequently, with 
McKinnie ousted from the county, leadership of the Freedom Summer 
Project in Laurel was transferred to Gwendolyn Robinson, with Jesse 
Harris as her co-leader, under James Forman’s direction.119

A large number of arrests in the during Freedom Summer were tied 
to contrived traffic infractions. To preempt these issues, COFO person-
nel and volunteers meticulously followed traffic regulations, ensured 
their vehicles carried necessary documentation, and drove cautiously. 
SNCC Field Secretary Hollis Watkins highlighted that state officials 
tracked all COFO cars, often stopping them to impede their civil rights 
work, issuing tickets for minor violations. Trained to confront these 
detentions with nonviolent opposition, those arrested would not pay 
fines or bail, choosing rather to engage in civil disobedience, despite 
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consistent adherence to traffic laws and being wrongly accused of var-
ious roadway offenses.120

On June 5, as Robinson, Marcia Moore, Tom Watts, and Charles 
Spinks were exiting Pleasant Valley Baptist Church, Tom Watts real-
ized that local police had been trailing them for several blocks. Their 
vehicle, which had two white and two black occupants, caught the 
police’s attention. The police pulled them over, asked them to step out, 
and requested identification. Moore had left her ID at Carrie Clayton’s 
house and withheld the fact that she resided with a black woman due 
to apprehension. The police directed Watts, Spinks, and Moore to get 
back into their car, leaving Robinson roadside, and escorted them to 
the station. Without money, ID, marital status, or a job, Moore was 
taken into custody and charged with vagrancy. Attorney Charles Pick-
ering interrogated her about her role in civil rights organizing, and 
after several unproductive hours, he insisted that she should go back to 
Iowa and even attempted to call her father to make her leave After be-
ing held for an hour, Moore contacted her father to report her vagrancy 
charge. She instructed him to notify the Jackson COFO office of her 
arrest. Upon speaking with Pickering, her father stated that since Mar-
cia was a legal adult, she had the right to remain in Mississippi if she 
chose to.121

After spending a night behind bars, Moore was taken back to the 
police court on Monday morning to face her trial. Before the pro-
ceedings began, she was questioned in detail by journalists and also 
talked with an older gentleman, who was later identified as Mayor 
J.C. Holmes of Laurel. He inquired about her financial situation, and 
she mentioned receiving a $150 weekly allowance from her parents. 
During the trial, led by City Attorney Raymond Schwartzfager Jr. and 
prompted by the Mayor’s advice, Marcia entered a plea of not guilty. 
The only testimony against her came from the arresting officer. When 
the officer stepped down, the judge promptly asked if Moore wanted 
to speak on her own behalf, to which she suddenly asked for a lawyer. 
The judge pointed out that her request was made too late since the trial 
had already begun without her asking for legal representation initially, 
even though she had not been informed of her right to an attorney. 
She declined to testify, was convicted, and handed a 10-day suspended 
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sentence.122

While the prevailing sentiment among whites was against racial 
inte- gration, the leadership of Laurel held onto the hope that racially 
exclusive facilities would be dissolved. Benjamin Murph, allied with 
the NAACP, initiated a proactive approach to mend relations among 
black citizens, white residents, and law enforcement, identifying the 
core problem as police apathy rather than outright aggression. On 
July 7, a mixed contin- gent with NAACP leadership and white allies 
embarked on a mission to inspect Mississippi’s compliance with the 
civil rights legislation. The day started on a high note with an inclu-
sive breakfast in Meridian. Following the meal, they visited Fannie 
Lee Chaney seeking to offer comfort as her son James Chaney, who 
was still missing. They returned to Laurel and discussed a recent in-
tegration attempt at the Burger Chef with the Laurel youth. Following 
the half hour meeting, they proceeded to the Holiday Inn for lunch. 
Declining the restaurant’s separate banquet space, they divided into 
smaller groups among other guests, culminating in the city’s first suc-
cessful restaurant integration.123

Before the day ended, the group dispatched a telegram to Senator 
Barry Goldwater of Arizona, who was at the forefront of the Repub-
lican presidential race. The message conveyed that they were acting 
on behalf of Mississippi’s black community to ensure safety for its 
civil rights leaders, amidst a prevailing sense of fear and intimidation. 
“Since it is your view that the basic human and civil rights of Negroes 
should be left to the states. We urge you to come to Mississippi on tour 
such as ours to talk with Negroes and whites so that you can deter-
mine for yourself whether state officials here are giving adequate pro-
tection to the constitutional rights of Negroes.” Meanwhile, in stark 
contrast, Mississippi’s white populace and the local press branded the 
summer movement as a renewed assault from the North, reminiscent 
of Civil War tensions. Amid this rhetoric about “...savage blacks and 
their Communist masters,” and the absolute necessity of, “...the strict 
segregation of the races controlled by Christian Anglo-Saxon white 
men, the only race that can build and maintain just and stable govern-
ment.”124

In every part of Mississippi during the Freedom Summer, local 
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white residents clung to their own notion of loyalty to the country. 
When Anthony Lynn, a white volunteer from SNCC, was in the court-
yard after helping a local African American with a voter registration 
literacy test, he was suddenly struck in the face. Stunned, Lynn called 
the authorities and identified the attacker who denied any wrongdoing. 
Both men submitted sworn statements. White residents called on Pres-
ident Lyndon Johnson to impose a six-month restriction on outsiders 
entering Mississippi to cause problems. Nonetheless, volunteers kept 
arriving. At the Jones County Courthouse, tactics to block African 
American voter registration emerged.125

Leonard Caves declined to handle large groups, while his secretary 
frequently excused the registrar’s absence due to weddings, funerals, 
or hospital visits, instilling a pervasive fear of solo visits due to the 
threat of white intimidation. Caves set stringent requirements for voter 
registration. Applicants had to provide proof of property ownership, 
a birth certificate, and show they could read. They would then wait 
30 days to see if they were registered. One woman, 65 years old, was 
turned away because she didn’t have a deed. Despite bringing electric 
bills as proof the next day, her lack of a birth certificate led to another 
denial. Jones County received 67 formal complaints from the Depart-
ment of Justice, leading to appeals for federal oversight.126

On July 11, Bertie Mae McGill took her son Larry McGill, aged 
11, along with Jessie Harrington, Jerry Arrington, and their peers to 
SH Kress Store’s lunch counter, now open to all. Anticipating service, 
their hope turned to horror as Jane Holifield aimed a gun at Larry, 
threatening to “blow out your guts.” Their ordeal worsened when two 
Klansmen violently attacked Harrington, drawing blood. Arrington 
suffered a stab wound amid the mayhem, and Larry was subdued and 
thrown down after his brief attempt to escape. Although he tried run-
ning, more attackers hit him with a bat as he fled. They all survived 
the ordeal, bruised and bloodied. The actions at these sit-ins were sig-
nificant; they marked a shift in Jones County’s civil rights battle from 
focusing on voting rights to directly challenging racial segregation. 
The activists, undeterred by violence and systemic racism, continued 
to assert their presence in segregated spaces, reclaiming their dignity 
and resisting white supremacy.127
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As evening fell, the town welcomed more volunteers. Marilyn 
Rapley, a student from Buffalo State College, found Laurel exactly as 
she envisioned it—a quintessential small town from 1964. “Laurel is 
definitely a small, very typical, 1964 rural community,” she observed, 
“with a large portion of the adult Negroes afraid to speak to us and 
a larger portion of Negro teenagers following us at our heels to lead 
them to uphold their rights under the new law.” Upon her arrival at the 
COFO headquarters, there was some confusion among the staff due 
to recent events. The departure of Lester McKinnie and an attack on 
some activists left the Laurel Freedom Project in a precarious position. 
To lighten the mood, COFO employees hosted a get-together at the 
house of Alvin and Maycie Gore while they were away.128

Gwendolyn Robinson only consented to the gathering if it re-
mained alcohol-free. She remembered how previous functions ended 
with intox- icated attendees becoming noisy and scantily dressed on 
the lawn, en- joying themselves. Such events strained relationships 
with local leaders. Benjamin Murph sternly criticized the workers’ un-
predictable behavior in a letter to Gloster Current, the NAACP’s chief 
assistant. He accused them of exploiting the trust of the community, 
engaging in improper conduct with provocative white girls and gam-
bling men. They unauthorizedly painted the NAACP building, filled 
the library with low-quality books, and left a mess behind. “The story 
… is the same all over the state. It is worse in some places. They have 
taken over the Civil Rights Program,” Murph concluded, dismayed. 
“COFO Must Go!”129

Murph was outraged about the current disarray within the Mis-
sis- sippi Freedom Movement. “In a place like this, we should be en-
joying more unity than any place in the United States of America,” he 
exclaimed. “The eyes of the nation is upon us. We must somehow pick 
up the broken pieces and put them together. I am wondering how this 
can be done?” He debated stepping down as differences with COFO 
intensified. However, realizing the happiness it would bring to the 
Citizens Council and the White Knights, Murph decided against their 
wishes to leave. Despite his resolve, he doubted the future path of the 
movement. “It seems to me that our building is falling down like the 
London Bridge. I can only see one panacea for the plight that beset us: 
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A change in leadership. Just how this can be done, I will leave [that] 
up to [the] power structure of the National Office.”130

When Murph was absent, local youth swarmed his office post the 
horrific incident at Burger Chef. Though trust had eroded, they con-
tinued to view him as the frontline of their cause. Murph’s constantly 
busy office drew the eyes of the Klan, prompting them to scare him. 
Initially planning to incinerate his downtown workspace as Caldwell 
gleefully suggested due to the pine construction, they opted for a bla-
tant caution. On July 18, Dr. Barnes, sharing the space with Murph, 
discovered a shattered window and a rock with a threatening message. 
“If you don’t want the same thing to happen to you that happen to the 
three civil rights workers in Neshoba County, then stop working with 
the NAACP. – KKK.” The intimidation was meant for Murph, yet it 
clearly communicated the threat to all.131

At the conclusion of the project, records showed a harrowing 
count that included six murders, 35 reported shootings, four in crit-
ical condition, upwards of 80 volunteers assaulted, and more than a 
thousand arrested. The decisive turning point came on the August 4, 
following a six week-long hunt. An insider, later exposed as Officer 
Maynard King of the Mississippi Highway Patrol, pointed inves-
tigators to a secluded dam on Old Jolly Farm outside Philadelphia. 
This was the grim site where Chaney, Schwerner, and Goodman met 
their tragic end, their bodies found to have been brutally assaulted, 
burnt, and defaced. Speaking to reporters, Rita Schwerner, married 
to Michael Schwerner, boldly proclaimed that her husband’s sacrifice 
was not for nought. She articulated the grim acknowl- edgment that 
if Chaney and Goodman had been black, their deaths might have gone 
largely unnoticed, emphasizing that their race was a factor in the wide-
spread concern and outcry. The experience cemented the resolve of 
many volunteers to pursue a future in social activism; indeed, more 
than 200 stayed in Mississippi once summer ended, abandoning their 
employment or educational paths. This cemented Mississippi’s role in 
the nation’s broader fight for justice.132

The MFDP delegates, on a tight budget, found themselves at the 
worn Gem hotel on August 21, packed into rooms with little cash but 
plenty of hope. Pleading their case to the Credentials Committee the 
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next day, they faced dwindling support due to interference from John-
son and Hum- phrey. Hopes dimmed to have the all-white Mississip-
pi delegates replaced with the MFDP representatives. Nevertheless, 
a fraction of the Committee members endorsed the MFDP’s position 
through a minority report. Senator J.C. Collins of Laurel argued for 
the white delegates, claiming unrestricted black participation in Mis-
sissippi’s Democratic processes. The decision to discuss and vote on 
this report at the convention hinged on the support of eight state del-
egations. The possibility of an MFDP victory loomed, a pivotal mo-
ment hinged on amassing 11 votes for the minority report. Fannie Lou 
Hamer’s moving testimony highlighted the dilemma: “If the Freedom 
party is not seated now, I question America. Is this America, the land 
of the free and the home of the brave, where we have to sleep with 
our telephones off the hooks because our lives be threatened daily, 
because we want to live as decent human beings, in America?”133

Crusade Against the Klan
In the aftermath of the Summer Project, Brewell Currie, a native farm-
er, and his associates held a celebratory send-off picnic at his farm on 
the edge of Laurel, known as the Currie Settlement. The event took 
a violent turn when a group of white men interrupted, leading to the 
assault of volunteer David Gelfard after requesting the song “Dixie.” 
What followed was an eruption of conflict as Klansmen emerged with 
chilling weaponry, causing the volunteers to rush to a nearby farm-
house. Amidst the flight, shots rang out, targeting those who dove 
into the pond. The farmhouse became a haven for the panicked group, 
though Gelfard was left behind, suffering attacks until an intervening 
gunshot by Currie’s son forced their retreat.134

As 1964 drew to a close, governmental investigations into the 
White Knights picked up momentum. The HUAC subpoenaed for sev-
eral Klansmen from Mississippi to testify, including individuals such 
as Sam Bowers and Deavours Nix. Concurrently, the FBI led a hidden 
operation to infiltrate the Klan, marshaling agents and tipsters within 
its ranks. Roy Moore, the head of FBI official in Mississippi, gauged 
that their efforts yielded an informant for every 100 Klan members 
engaged. Networks were also made within the upper echelons of Lau-
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rel’s community. Nota- bly, Charles Pickering from Jones County, 
once a defender of segregation, began to see the damage inflicted by 
the Klan and became a critic of racial brutality. In early 1965, Picker-
ing took a firm stand against the Klan. He made a public declaration 
decrying the Klan, inspired by a dossier of 130 Klan-related crimes 
given by Agent Lee. This manifesto received backing from influential 
locals, including the mayor and the district attorney.135

Bucklew found himself an unexpected and resistant fighter against 
the Klan. Caves noted that the Klan’s endorsement had contributed to 
the election of Henry Bucklew for the incumbent mayor because his 
campaign rhetoric appealed to them. To win his next election, Caves 
too sought to assure the Klan’s vote. His political background includ-
ed organizing George Wallace’s 1964 presidential campaign in three 
southern cities, speaking for the Mississippi State Sovereignty Com-
mission, and pursuing the governorship with a pro-segregation plat-
form. Nevertheless, the Klan’s violent reputation was bad for local 
commerce, which mayors depended on for maintaining their influ-
ence. Klan aggression led to the withdrawal of three major companies 
from setting up in Jones County, and it also complicated the enforce-
ment of law.136

The dread of the White Knights in Jones County was so great that 
individuals were hesitant to sit on juries judging Klan members, caus-
ing the mayor distress. He insisted, “I’m a segregationist, but I’m not a 
criminal.” Bucklew came to see resistance to the national government 
as an unwinnable conflict and urged the public to accept what cannot 
be avoided. Adaptation is required, he argued, even if acceptance is 
not. Shifting from a centrist to an advocate for change, Pickering lev-
eraged the moral urgency and financial crisis to urge Mayer Bucklew 
to take back control of their city. In October, the Laurel Leader-Call 
showcased a photo of Mayor Bucklew, law enforcement, and legal rep-
resentatives signing a declaration condemning the White Knights and 
publicizing the harrowing details of Klan violence. The local news-
paper and influential citizens commended Bucklew for his bold posi-
tion.137

On September 2, top officials at the FBI introduced a secret pro-
gram called COINTELPRO-WHITE HATE aimed at disbanding the 
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leaders and structures of the Klan. The FBI leadership believed that by 
dismantling the organization, they could lessen the likelihood of ag-
gressive behavior within it. They theorized that if they could cut down 
on the number of Klan members, acts of violence would decrease, 
leading to a drop in new recruits joining the group. As detailed by Wil-
liam Keller, during the summer of 1964, the Johnson administration’s 
liberals pres- sured the FBI to infiltrate Klan circles. Their goal was 
for the FBI to gather evidence of conspiracy to use in court against the 
Klan, thus quelling their acts of vigilantism and terror. Alongside this, 
the FBI crafted a clandestine plan to uncover, disrupt, and dismantle 
the Klan to achieve their objective.138

In the fall of 1964, the FBI conducted weekly interrogations of all 
White Knights members, insinuating they were betrayed by their own. 
Spy devices were placed in their meeting areas, while the press was 
alerted to expose arrests and highlight Klan leaders. The extra pressure 
from local police caused some members to quit. By late September, 
anxiety mounted for two individuals connected to the Neshoba inves-
tigation as they pondered over who might be the informers.139

Klan violence continued unabated in the face of local and feder-
al opposition. FBI interference, a Klansman recalled, only motivated 
Sam Bowers to double down on his aggression. Bowers, feeling pro-
voked by external influences he deemed communist, was determined 
to retaliate against both community leaders and those individuals who 
publicly opposed the Klan. Reprisals followed the publication of 500 
names opposed to the Klan in the Laurel Leader-Call, with those indi-
viduals facing Klan intimidation. Instructions from Klan headquarters 
were to capture and beat Charles Pickering. Alerted to the danger by 
FBI Agent Robert Lee, Pickering enacted safety measures. Pickering 
benefited from the vigilance of an ally embedded within the Klan, 
who not only alerted him to looming threats but also safeguarded his 
home.140

The Ku Klux Klan felt unease as the FBI directed its efforts to-
wards the White Knights after the Neshoba incident. On December 4, 
FBI operatives detained suspects while a Jackson federal grand jury 
issued 18 indictments. The initial charges did not implicate Bowers, 
but he was known to the FBI as the one who orchestrated the murder 
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of Michael Schwerner, Andrew Goodman, and James Chaney. Bow-
ers leveraged his influence in the White Knights for personal security. 
He gathered Klan donation pots from various businesses. Some Klan 
members became incensed, suspecting Bowers intended to use the 
proceeds for his legal defense. In 1964, HUAC disclosed that Klavern 
leader Mordaunt Hamilton threatened Bow-ers and Travis Ainsworth 
with a firearm, demanding the return of embez-zled funds meant for 
Klan robes.141

Support for the FBI’s crackdown on the Klan was common among 
state officials. Erle Johnston, public relations director for Sovereignty 
Commission, delivered a message to Mississippi sheriffs acknowl-
edging the ongoing racial shifts and the necessity to adapt to some 
changes for a better future, leaving old attitudes behind. He highlight-
ed the need to uphold public safety as evidence of Mississippi’s ability 
to solve its criminal issues. The state’s sheriffs on December 8, 1964, 
promised their backing to J. Edgar Hoover, asking citizens to support 
the peacekeepers. New regulations led to establishing a police training 
center and an increase in police forces and powers, especially for the 
Highway Patrol.142

The divide between young and old activists grew more pro-
nounced, developing into a division between two conflicting beliefs. 
As time pro- gressed, the community’s receptiveness to these activists 
deteriorated. On a particularly quiet September 24, Gwendolyn Rob-
inson, Linnell Barrett, and Marion Davidson revisited Laurel. There, 
they encountered Eberta Spinks, whose previous vigor for COFO had 
significantly waned. Later, at Thomas Pharmacy—known for their no-
tary services during the summer months—they spoke with Dr. Thom-
as. He suggested COFO were afraid to organize in McComb, a place 
where their presence was essential. Robin- son was taken aback, view-
ing Dr. Thomas as a solid supporter of COFO. This sentiment seemed 
to resonate across town, as even Mayor A.S. Scott broadcasted a week 
before on TV, insisting that “COFO is gone, and don’t invite it back.” 
Nevertheless, despite the overt lack of support, COFO per- sisted in 
participating in the movement. 143

That night, ministers and layman from Laurel gathered to consider 
steps forward in the voter registration endeavor, with COFO caught 
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in a battle for prominence. Participants seemed to await recognition 
be- fore acting. Robinson remarked on their hesitance to be connected 
with COFO. “They don’t want their names linked with COFO in any 
way,” said Robinson. “Dr. Murph was at the meeting in his usual role 
of Uncle Tom.” Murph encouraged religious leaders to plan the vot-
er registration campaign independently of COFO to avoid confusion 
over leadership. At the meeting, there was contention over the descrip-
tion of the event, with Robinson and Murph disputing whether it was 
a political matter or strictly voter registration. Regardless of tension, 
Robinson united with Bob Stenson, Alvin Gore Sr., and Eberta Spinks 
to create a Freedom Democratic Organizing Committee (FDP). She 
declared the clergy’s resistance but foresaw their eventual involvement 
with the FDP. With the local reception growing colder, COFO needed 
a building by November to maintain their civil rights activities. They 
found a deal with Cleveland Golden, a well-off Black realtor, who 
would lease his vacant nightclub at a high rent, explaining that the fi-
nancial risk justified the cost due to the threat of sabotage. “It’s just 
business. After all, I’m taking a real chance renting to you folks. Sup-
pose crackers decide to burn the place down. I’ll lose everything.”144

As the new year commenced, the Southern Student Organizing 
Com- mittee (SSOC) initiated The Christmas Project, with plans for 
two sepa- rate four-day engagements over the holidays—from De-
cember 19 to 23 and from December 27 to January 1. On Christmas 
Day, a dozen students set out to perform Christmas carols and free-
dom songs for 20 detained workers. The sheriff, in a fury, came out 
and began forcefully pursuing them. During the confrontation, Mo-
ses Jackson was physically assaulted by the sheriff, and Lou House’s 
tape recorder was violently taken and thrown into the street. As some 
workers attempted to retrieve the recorder, a large truck barreled down 
the street towards the group, causing them to flee in fear. Amidst the 
chaos, Gwendolyn Robinson sought safety in their vehicle. The sher-
iff, filled with malice, threatened to unleash the Klan on the protestors 
and attempted to pull open the car door to reach Robinson, whose de-
scription of the sheriff was that of a marauding beast rather than a hu-
man. Having narrowly escaped harm, the students re- treated to their 
base, where laughter helped them manage the tension of the ordeal. 
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Unshaken by the event, they started preparing for their next protest set 
for January 15.145

The Laurel-Jones NAACP chapter launched a robust voter drive, 
continuing the energy of the Summer Project. Amidst this effort, 
Susie Ruffin stood out as a commanding grassroots figure. Lawrence 
Guyot, director of MFDP, described her as a “semi-toothless 
woman” who “expressed her opinion everywhere, anytime, 
anywhere, to anyone.” Her southern drawl, floral dresses, and 
delicate hats gave her statewide allure. Her unceremonious 
radicalism in civil rights ventures in Laurel were vigorously 
highlighted in all the state’s black newspapers, championed by Susie 
Ruffin in her editorial capacity. She distributed the Jackson 
Advocate, reported local news in a minority weekly, and was the 
chief editor for the MFDP newsletter. In 1964, she began working 
with leaders like Fannie Lou Hamer and Unita Blackwell. Ruffin 
journeyed widely as a trio with Blackwell and Hamer. They at-tended 
the Community People’s Conference in Cleveland, Mis- sis-sippi 
during the MFDP’s formative years. There, Ruffin addressed key 
issues like welfare, housing, and education, emphasizing that the con-
ference was for community members from all backgrounds. Like her 
counterparts, she took those days as ones about economic justice for 
African Americans in Mississippi. She returned to Laurel to focus on 
voting rights and labor unionism through 1965.146
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A CONSTANT FIGHT FOR LIBERTY
The vote is the most powerful instrument ever devised by human 
beings for breaking down injustice and destroying the terrible walls 
which imprison people because they are different from others
- President Lyndon B. Johnson

African Americans, through peaceful protests and boycott strategies in 
the South, managed to dismantle blatant signs of racial inequality. The 
groundwork was laid for substantial changes with legislative actions, 
highlighted by the Civil Rights Acts of 1964 and 1965. The American 
media, through generally unbiased coverage of racial issues, upheld its 
values of freedom and responsibility, while television broadcasts ex-
posed the reality of deep-seated racial hostility to viewers across the 
nation. Historian Vincent Harding asks in his religiously rooted study 
of the black freedom struggle: “Who dares to dream without acting?” 
Or, as one of the activists in SNCC contended: “When we talk about 
growing up in a better world, a new world, we mean changing the 
world to a different place.”147

On January 14, 1965, Laurel marked its inaugural Freedom Day, 
where a collective of 17 individuals gathered at the COFO office for 
a brief session which offered voter registration forms and essential 
details. They organized to march at 10:30 am towards the Coun-
ty Courthouse. With books, a camera, and their lunches in hand, the 
group arrived at the courthouse. Leonard Caves, the sole authorized 
voter registrar in Jones County, arrived ten minutes following their 
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entrance to the waiting area. Caves called one individual aside to start 
the registration procedure. When the rest moved to register, they were 
abruptly stopped by the loud closing of the registrar’s metal window 
shade. The group lined up patiently in the waiting area, only to learn 
later that Caves would not return that day due to a “funeral.” Despite 
the group’s peaceful demeanor, a cluster of white men gathered out-
side the courthouse, seemingly to keep watch.148

A woman who worked as a clerk at the Tax Receiver’s office di-
rected the group not to drink from the water fountain. Ignoring her, 
Susie Ruffin cautiously approached the fountain, took a sip, and oth-
ers did the same without any direct interference. However, their mere 
presence seemed to provoke silent hostility from the white employees 
at the courthouse. Policeman Curtis Bradford and Deputy Sheriff R.W. 
McMinn routinely passed through the courthouse throughout the day. 
By the afternoon, workers started to remove benches from the lobby, 
forcing the group to stand. They mopped the floors and shut off the 
heating, resulting in a chilly breeze around the group’s legs and feet. 
Ruffin spoke out against these actions, insisting they were deliberate 
attempts to make them too uncomfortable to stay.149

Sheriff McMinn hurried toward the noisy scene. Ruffin firm-
ly stating that if former Sheriff Morgan Holifield were in charge, the 
situation would have unfolded differently. An exasperated McMinn 
countered, “When are you going to get it through your thick skull that 
Holifield ain’t sheriff anymore?” As Ruffin attempted to respond, he 
sharply told her to “shut up” and warned her of arrest. Ruffin, unwav-
ering, declared her indifference to jail. As she moved away, McMinn 
again reached for Ruffin while she cautioned him not to rip her coat. 
When he persisted, twisting her arms to arrest her for causing a distur-
bance, Ruffin struggled against him. McMinn then called for backup, 
and with the aid of two trustees, they forcefully carried Ruffin by her 
arms and legs to the county jail across the street.150

The SNCC worker stayed until 4:30 pm, but not one person man-
aged to sign up to vote, so they eventually left. Approximately thir-
ty African American had attempted to meet with the registrar, as one 
worker noted—four or five to check if they had passed last month’s 
test, and the remainder to attempt the test. Later that day, when Judge 
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Bradford tried Ruffin who was denied legal representation, she faced 
charges leading to bail set at $1,500—$750 for creating a disturbance 
and another $750 for resisting arrest. Bradford accepted a property 
bond, and two community members offered their home titles to avoid 
Ruffin’s overnight jail stay. But Bradford deferred validating those 
deeds until the next day.151

Even with a claimed value of $15,000, the properties did not meet 
Bradford’s requirements, as he dismissed them as being worth that 
sum based on tax assessments since they lacked exemptions. The 
following day, Ruffin contacted the COFO office to share news of her 
release. Ruffin explained that B.E. Murph reached out to Howard Hud-
gies, whom many locals labeled an Uncle Tom, to see if he would aid 
in Ruffin’s release. Hudgies agreed, and through some maneuvering, 
her bail was reduced to $500.152

The next day, Eberta Spinks reached out to Leonard Caves to ques-
tion his refusal to sign up voters on their Freedom Day. Caves argued 
that the crowd had caused major issues for the courthouse staff. Spinks 
pressed him on what trouble they caused and questioned how else they 
should present themselves. Caves replied saying that it was unlike-
ly they would be allowed to register regardless of their approach. In 
spite of Caves’s vow to obstruct African American voter registration, 
Gwendolyn Robinson, COFO activists Ben Hartfield and Peter Ne-
menyi, along with SNCC volunteer and Tulane University professor 
Ed Dubinsky, showed up with a party of 15 at the courthouse around 9 
am. Nearly two hours later, Caves showed up, opened his office, and 
began to process the group one by one. He warned everyone that they 
had only half an hour to complete the literacy test. As the number of 
applicants reduced, Caves informed some they hadn’t passed and told 
others to come back in a month for their results.153

As Dubinsky left his peers to head to his vehicle for the trip back 
to his home in New Orleans, he faced an aggressive encounter. Out-
side the courthouse, a white mob tackled him, kicking him while 
Sheriff Merle Pickering looked on with blatant delight. Despite not 
retaliating, both Dubinsky and his aggressors were apprehended for 
public brawling. At the police station, he learned that his attackers 
were booked on assault and disturbing the peace charges. Due to legal 
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complications, Dubinsky’s attorney couldn’t make his court date, and 
the matter was deferred to the next Friday. However, by Wednesday, 
Dubinsky was surprisingly convicted of the same offenses as the mob. 
He challenged the conviction and wasultimately set free.154

Freedom Day did not achieve its main goal of significantly boost-
ing black voter registration, but it did succeed in making voting rights 
a ma- jor topic of community discussion. On February 20th, the U.S. 
Justice Department launched its 30th legal action focusing on voter 
registration, the 23rd specifically targeting discriminatory practices. 
The suit accused Leonard Caves’ voter registration methods of being 
overly rigorous and ethically wrong. The legal filing highlighted that 
in Jones County, out of 7,927 African Americans of voting age, only 
70 were registered to vote, in stark contrast to the 23,000-plus regis-
tered from the eligible white popu- lation of 25,943.155

The Right to Vote
Meanwhile, the U.S. Civil Rights Commission looked into threats 
and harassment faced by African Americans in Mississippi. During 
hearings in Jackson, the Commission heard reports and testimony 
from 100 individuals, including residents of Jones and Forrest Coun-
ties. Witnesses stated that during the summer and fall of 1964, local 
people participating in peaceful sit-ins to test the Civil Rights Act of 
1964 were victims of racial aggression and police inaction. Groups of 
whites often congregated outside locations of sit-ins to attack the dem-
onstrators. The commission highlighted one of the worst cases, where 
Larry McGill and Jessie Harrington were beaten for trying to integrate 
a lunch counter at the S.H. Kress department store, which underscored 
the need to hold those attacking civil rights advocates responsible.156

Before taking the court proceedings, Civil Right Attorneys coached 
the activist before taking the stand. Larry McGill—the youngest of 
the sit-in students—granted the court its first testimony. McGill ap-
proached the witness stand, and Paul Swartzfager stepped to him and 
yelled, “What’s your name, boy?” A startled McGill shakenly gave his 
name. Swartzfager swiveled around and pointed, “Was this the wom-
an who pointed a gun to your stomach?” Unsure whether he should 
answer yes or no, he quietly replied, “I think so.” He fell right into 
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Swartzfager’s tactics of intimidation. “Case closed,” he declared. Af-
ter 2 minutes of questioning, the judge pounded his gabble and or-
dered McGill to leave the witness stand.157 

Susie Ruffin, along with eight other community members, provid-
ed their testimonies at St. Paul Methodist Church. The defense law-
yer questioned Ruffin on her past arrests, to which she chose not to 
respond. When inquired about any admissions to the State Mental 
Hospital, she firmly denied it. Ruffin then detailed her experiences of 
beatings and wrongful detentions by Jones County officers. Following 
her, Gwendolyn testified about the harsh realities of their “Freedom 
Day,” where aggressive actions by officials and courthouse closure 
led to only one individual getting registered to vote. Gwendolyn high-
lighted the severe beating Ruffin endured and expressed, “This violent 
element in the law officers was in some kind of unholy alliance with 
the local racist. We were in real fear.”158

As the Civil Rights Commission fought against racial segregation 
through legal means, activists persistently opposed racism in every-
day settings. Paul Swartzfager, a lawyer who took legal action against 
Howard Wash and Willie McGee, also ran a coffee house in Laurel’s 
downtown Pinehurst hotel. Eberta Spinks, along with other COFO 
members, entered the cafe and patiently waited for service. When 
Swartzfager noticed the black patrons, he insisted they leave, claiming 
they were not involved in business with African Americans. Spinks 
countered, suggesting that sell- ing more would be profitable and serve 
the interest of any business owner, implying they should be welcomed. 
Her retort agitated Swartzfager who hurried to the police station to 
report the peaceful protest. He came back with police officers and ar-
rest warrants, giving the activists a 15-minute notice to vacate. The 
demonstrators remained seated, prompting the police to immediately 
start handcuffing them and taking them to the station.159

Meanwhile, the Klan continued its sophisticated apparatus through 
newly found tactics. For instance, they would shoot their guns while a 
train passed to deafen the sound of gunfire. They also began using fires 
as a decoy. They knew drawing all the fire trucks in Laurel to opposing 
areas would make targeting the more significant spots easier, including 
the COFO headquarters on Churchton Street in Queensburg, the Lau-
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rel Freedom School, and the MFDP office. On February 20, around 
1 a.m., volunteer Pat McGauley discovered that the COFO building 
was burned to a crisp. He entered the blackened building seeing the 
mimeograph was smashed beyond what the fire could have done, the 
typewriters were missing, and the library was destroyed.160

Ths was a part of the Klan intimidation towards Cleveland Golden, 
who had been renting to the workers since November 1964. A month 
before the COFO burning, the Klan set a hotel that Golden owned on 
fire while he was still present, forcing him to exit through a window 
and, as a result, breaking his leg. Gwendolyn Robinson commented 
on the situation: “He was the only person in town who would rent to 
us. After this fire, I don’t know where we’ll go.” Subsequently, an ad 
hoc committee was formed by a group of donors across Mississippi, 
raising 1,500 dollars and donating 2,000 books and nursery equipment 
for the daycare.161

Persistent in their fight for equality, civil rights workers did not let 
down their guard and continued to hold sit-ins in the spring of 1965. 
They saw some wins, yet the path to real change was still tough. In 
March, a handful of brave activists managed to desegregate a bowl-
ing alley and some eateries in Laurel. However, the U.S. government 
was hesitant to fully back their efforts. Even with new laws against 
racial discrimination and the FBI looking into acts of Klan violence, 
government action at all levels tended to give in to white supremacist 
pressures, often ignoring the very laws put in place. The government 
supported voting rights for African Americans, but it also made sure 
whites maintain power in the state. This happened when the U.S. Con-
gress turned down the Mississippi Freedom Democratic Party’s bid. 
This half-hearted approach from the government sent a signal that it 
was not entirely behind the civil rights movement, which gave whites 
who opposed change more reason to keep resisting. Many white su-
premacists determined that their war of attrition would work as it had 
during Reconstruction. They believed resistance would produce stag-
nation and regression, and ultimately, the federal gov- ernment would 
abandon the black South again.162

On April 7, Benjamin Murph traveled to Bangor, Maine, to speak 
to the Bangor Area Branch of the NAACP at the Bangor Theological 
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Semi- nary and at the University of Maine under the leadership of 
Gerald Talbot, the founding president of the Portland NAACP about 
his state’s current political climate. “The laws of Mississippi are liquid 
when applied to white people; when applied to Negroes, they are fro-
zen like ice,” said Murph. He described to his audience the conditions 
of segregation prevalent in Mississippi, calling special attention to the 
literacy test. According to Murph, the FBI has found strong evidence 
that the requirements to which African Americans are subjected are 
much more stringent than those applied to whites. Although there are 
approximately 5,000 Negroes of voting age in Laurel, only 600 have 
successfully registered.163

White authority in Jones County continued its pattern of aggres-
sion against key figures in the Civil Rights Movement. The Ku Klux 
Klan orchestrated a drive-by shooting at Murph’s residence. On the 
night of June 17, at 1 AM, Murph’s home was jarred by the sound of 
five gunshots, which he later likened to the noise of an atomic explo-
sion. Falling to the ground for safety, Murph quickly notified the po-
lice and his insurance provider. Despite escaping harm, the aftermath 
saw Murph’s insurance policy being revoked, and he faced rejection 
by other insurers.164

The case attracted the attention of officials, resulting in Prosecutor 
William O. Dillard accusing Pete Martin of illegal vigilante activity, 
labeled ‘white capping.’ In a heated courtroom session, Judge Casey 
fiercely denounced the Klan’s brutal tactics. “Make no mistake, they 
may shoot in your windows or attempt to burn your home if you indict 
them,” Casey warned. “But unless you have the guts to put a stop to 
such criminal activities, [they] will take over our country, and fear 
will be in every heart. Strike now, before it is too late.” However, a 
Klan informant revealed to Dillard that Leonard Caves, the local Cir-
cuit Clerk and the one responsible for forming the grand jury, had ties 
to the Klan. This practically ensured that Martin would face no formal 
charges. Later, Murph discovered that the grand jury had unanimous-
ly voted against indicting Martin. Relaying this to Gloster Current, 
an NAACP official, Murph expressed his lack of surprise, noting that 
Martin even got his bond money returned, indicating that justice had 
not been served in the violent attack against him.165



82

Due to widespread violence and acts of terrorism, Laurel had be-
come an off-limits area. However, Gerald Talbot courageously im-
mersed him- self in these hostile environments. Talbot had formed a 
strong bond with Murph and was eventually given the chance to see 
Laurel for himself. Despite being cautioned by Bangor’s clergy and 
residents, who spoke of ongoing killings, Talbot, along with two fel-
low activists, resolved to visit. They reached Laurel in the early morn-
ing of June 28. As Murph led them through the community, Talbot 
observed a clear segregation between the neighborhoods. He exam-
ined the white area boasted typical urban amenities—lit streets, paved 
roads, lush lawns, and standard houses. By con- trast, he described the 
black community as having dirt paths, no street- lights or sidewalks, 
and mostly rundown shacks.166

Spending a week in Laurel to help with voter sign-ups, Talbot 
had a tense encounter with Leonard Caves, who aggressively warned 
him to stay away from his property. Moreover, Talbot got a candid 
glimpse of the local tension when their driver, a woman, kept a “mile-
long handgun” under her car seat for protection as she shuttled them 
to Queensburg. When visiting Murph’s home on multiple occasions, 
Talbot took note of a conspicuously large window in the living room. 
Finally, he asked, “What is this?” Murph replied, “About every Sat-
urday night, [Klansmen] come here and shoot out the front, the big 
plate window. Those are bullet marks.” The bullet marks were stark 
symbols of the persistent racial violence that African Americans faced 
across the nation.167

Freedom Democrats
In July 1965, State President of Mississippi’s AFL-CIO Claude Ram-
sey in- vited more than 100 moderate Whites and Black conservatives, 
including editor of the Delta Democrat Times Hodding Carter III and 
the NAACP’s Aaron Henry and Charles Evers, to form a group known 
as the Loyalist Mississippi Democrats. Working-class individuals 
were not invited to join, including sharecroppers, domestic servants, 
and day laborers. With strong backing by the NAACP and African 
American businessmen, the Loyalist Democrats, officially known as 
the Mississippi Democratic Conference (MDC), lobbied President 
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Johnson for recognition as a legitimate political body, but to placate 
Mississippi congressmen and to retain his southern base of political 
support, Johnson refused.168

Even though the MFDP remained committed to the Democratic 
Party, President Johnson, when he took office, started directing pover-
ty relief funds to the state via groups that were linked to the national 
Democratic Party. This move ignored the MFDP. With the rise of voter 
safety after the 1965 Voting Rights Act, efforts to find an alternative 
to the MFDP increased, especially with the establishment of the MDC. 
Activists like Susie Ruffin believed in forming racial alliances and 
criticized black professionals who joined the MDC. Ruffin admitted 
that the MFDP had not succeeded in building an effective state-level 
organization. The MFDP’s Jackson office was often chaotic, leading 
some middle-class professionals to see the MFDP as unorganized. Yet, 
for Ruffin, the importance of the MFDP was more about its symbolic 
impact than about running smoothly as a political party. She felt that 
the MFDP had challenged the Democratic Party’s core, paving the way 
for black political participation.169

Ruffin wished that black professionals would reinforce the MFDP, 
boosting its image as a legitimate political entity. Despite its challenges 
in maintaining itself as a formal organization across the state, Ruf-
fin valued the MFDP’s historical significance in Mississippi. She be-
lieved that the involvement of black professionals could help elevate 
the MFDP to a respected position as a political choice. Just like during 
the Reconstruction era, when black voters wielded exceptional politi-
cal clout, Ruffin viewed the MFDP as a fresh opportunity for African 
Americans to shape politics. She argued that white political figures 
in Mississippi worried about being abandoned if they stuck with the 
MDP, as it seemed to be losing its political relevance. The MFDP stood 
as the unopposed voice for black citizens in Mississippi and their po-
litical choices. Ruffin believed that the white centrist faction within 
the MDC was manipulating black professionals to safeguard their own 
positions. She suggested that these African Amer- icans were being 
used like chess pieces, set up to cushion the fall of the white political 
leaders. Ruffin feared that this would leave African Americans sup-
pressed for centuries to come. She noted that the more accept- able 
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MDC aimed to prevent the success of both the MDP and the MFDP.170

On August 6, President Lyndon Johnson enacted the Voting Rights 
Act of 1965, describing the occasion as a monumental win for liberty 
equal to any success on a battlefield. The law eliminated literacy ex-
ams and poll taxes, which had been used to prevent African Americans 
from voting. It also granted the federal government power to oversee 
voter registration in areas notorious for ongoing bias. “This law cov-
ers many pages,” Johnson said before signing the bill, “but the heart 
of the act is plain. Wherever, by clear and objective standards, States 
and counties are using regulations, or laws, or tests to deny the right to 
vote, then they will be struck down.”171

On that day, President Johnson declared that Nicholas Katzenbach, 
the Attorney General, would start legal actions against four states that 
still imposed a poll tax for voter registration. After the Act’s adoption, 
a report showed that 99.9% of white citizens in Jones County were 
registered to vote, compared to just 8.8% of African Americans. By 
August 20, the Department of Justice had set up a registration office 
in the Laurel Post Office. Within just ten days, over a thousand black 
voters were added to the registration rolls by a small group of voting 
officials.172

Losing Systematic Support
America’s attitude toward progress broadened while the Klan’s influ-
ence waned. FBI agent Robert Lee teamed up with local prosecutor 
Charles Pickering of Jones County. Even though Pickering had helped 
the Regular Democrats against the MFDP, he despised racial violence 
and started to doubt the segregation laws. In late 1965, Pickering 
bravely opposed the Klan. He did this after Agent Lee gave him evi-
dence of 130 acts of violence by the Klan’s White Knights. Pickering 
wrote a public denouncement of the Klan’s savagery, and with the help 
of D.A. Chet Dillard, took it to May- or Henry Bucklew, who unex-
pectedly joined the fight against the Klan.173

The widely recognized beliefs in white supremacy that character-
ized his past were no secret among political insiders. He led the cam-
paign for George Wallace’s 1964 bid for the presidency, belonged to 
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the Mississippi State Sovereignty Commission, and used overt racist 
language when he campaigned for governor. However, dealing with 
the Ku Klux Klan became an issue for business and was a key part 
of his responsibilities as mayor to keep their influence in check. On 
October 18, Bucklew took a public stand against the White Knights 
during a broadcast on WDAM-TV. He criticized them for their ex-
treme views, even though they often invoked God’s name. In his tele-
vised address, he revealed photos of burned houses, cars riddled with 
bullets, and bombed facilities. He also announced a $1,000 reward for 
tips leading to the arrest and conviction of those responsible for these 
violent acts.174

Directly after his address, a wave of local support surged, with 
a thousand residents from Jones County—including clergy, business 
leaders, and employees from the Masonite Corporation—signing pe-
titions to back his actions against the Klan. Additionally, 46 Baptist 
churches from the Jones County Baptist Association and the Laurel Ki-
wanis Club passed resolutions to endorse the mayor’s campaign. His 
office was flooded with letters and telegrams with a 15 to 1 ratio in 
favor of his stance against the Klan.175

As 1965 ended, the NAACP and Civil Rights Commission recog-
nized that the most pressing issue in Mississippi was racial violence 
and inequality. On January 9, 1966, Vernon Dahmer, a civil rights 
leader and president of the Hattiesburg NAACP, announced on the ra-
dio that his store in Kelly Settlement was accepting poll tax payments 
and promised to cover the cost for those who couldn’t afford it. In the 
early hours of January 10, eight members of the White Knights drove 
to Dahmer’s property and launched an attack. They shot out the win-
dows of his home and store and then threw in firebombs made from 
gasoline-filled plastic jugs.176

Amazingly, the initial gunshots did not wake Dahmer, but the fire 
did. He quickly took up his shotgun and shot at the attackers, allowing 
his wife, children, and aunt to get away, with just one child getting 
hurt. Outdoors, the attackers at the shop mistakenly fired on their own 
when they turned on the car lights, resulting in one of their cars get-
ting a flat tire. In the chaos, attacker Billy Roy Pitts lost his gun, and 
another driver left his car behind after only making it three miles, later 
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falsely claiming it was stolen. Despite being severely harmed by the 
fire, Dahmer managed to make it to a hospital. However, he passed 
away at 3:45 am due to the severe damage the smoke and heat had 
done to his lungs.177

FBI agents quickly linked the deserted car to its owner, Howard 
Giles, an experienced car thief working at Laurel’s Masonite plant. 
Giles, also known as a leader in the White Knight Klan chapter in 
Jones County, reported his car stolen after eating at the Chow House, 
a restaurant favored by Klan members and owned by Henry De Boxtel. 
On January 11, an informant told the FBI that Sam Bowers praised the 
Laurel Klansmen for their work, suggesting they were more effective 
than another group in Mississippi. Bowers expressed his wish for the 
Klan to cause distractions whenever they faced scrutiny elsewhere, 
keeping FBI agents occupied. The following day, another source con-
firmed the White Knight’s involve- ment in Dahmer’s killing, pointing 
to Lawrence Byrd, a prominent oil businessman and Klan member, 
as a suspect. Byrd admitted his role to the authorities on March 2, and 
also convinced another Klan leader, Cecil Sessum, to confess.178

Following the tragic killing of Vernon Dahmer by the Ku Klux 
Klan, the Bogalusa Deacons in Louisiana established a subsidiary di-
vision called the police unit in Hattiesburg, during 1966. They col-
laborated with locals to set up an additional branch in Laurel, which 
broadened their engagement to the labor sphere. In Laurel, the Dea-
cons endorsed voter registration drives and laid the groundwork for 
the basis of the paramilitary organization of a labor movement. They 
were receptive to a harder line in fighting racial injustices. In the midst 
of the March Against Fear, initiated by James Meredith, organizations 
SNCC and COFO openly adopted the ‘Black Power’ mantra, indicat-
ing a shift towards assertiveness and self-dependence.179

The Deacons, recognized for supporting nonviolent CORE demon-
stra- tors in Mississippi, did not partake in protest marching them-
selves. How- ever, they were prepared to defend peaceful activists and 
African American neighborhoods from Klan aggression, using firearms 
if needed. On the second day of Meredith’s march, he was wounded 
by a shooter. Promptly, leading civil rights groups SNCC, CORE, and 
SCLC pledged to persevere with the march. Earnest “Chilly Willy” 
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Thomas, head of the Deacons for Defense & Justice, insisted on an ag-
gressive stance to secure the march, stating his commitment to protect 
the community without directly participating in the march, ensuring 
anyone harmed would not suffer without a response.180

The FBI deployed a large team of agents to Forrest County to 
initiate DABURN (Dahmer burning) investigation. Subsequently, in 
his State of the Union speech, President Johnson urged Congress to 
enhance federal court powers to prosecute those who kill or threaten 
civil rights activists or any individuals asserting their legal rights, and 
to toughen the penalties for these crimes. Within two months after the 
crime, the FBI detained thirteen people linked to the murder, most of 
them members of the White Knights. Sam Bowers was pinned as the 
14th person involved and the brains behind the operation. He handed 
himself over a few days afterward. Charges against the other thirteen 
involved breaking two laws: the Reconstruction Act and the 1965 Vot-
ing Rights Act, for infringing on Dahmer’s civil rights.181

A jury made up of twelve individuals—five men and seven wom-
en, all white—was chosen for the trial. Despite the presence of sev-
eral African Americans among the over 200 potential jurors and the 
inclusion of at least 17 on the panel, none were picked for the jury due 
to the defense law- yers’ objections. The defense probed each African 
American about links to the NAACP, and despite an attempt to dis-
miss one member, the judge declined the motion. All potential jurors 
were asked about involvement in civil rights actions, which led to a 
black woman being dismissed after she acknowledged participation 
in a civil rights march and membership in the NAACP. A white man, 
when questioned, admitted former ties to the White Knights of the Ku 
Klux Klan but insisted it would not affect his judgment. Although his 
membership to the group did not result in his removal, he did not end 
up on the jury.182

Despite a mistrial, the White Knights experienced internal strife 
and violent conflicts. During this time, Bowers, their leader, made a 
controversial statement at a public event in support of James Eastland. 
He claimed the Republican Party was under Jewish control, causing 
upset among Republican-supporting attendees. This prompted them 
to aggressively demand Bowers retract his statement, even threaten-
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ing him with guns. One member went as far as to threaten Bowers’ 
life if he ever came back to their community, putting his leadership in 
doubt.183

The reputation of the White Knights took a major hit due to the 
scan- dal involving Dahmer. The combined efforts of the FBI and the 
Mississippi Highway Patrol to undermine the group, along with local 
Mississippians speaking out against the Klan, hastened their decline. 
In early 1966, the White Knights’ numbers plummeted from around 
6,000 members to only 1,500 a year later. By early 1967, membership 
had fallen further to just 400. These disruptions showed that Missis-
sippi was starting to be a community that respected the law more. It 
marked a period when law enforcement, including the sheriffs’ depart-
ment, began to improve. The staff became more competent and re-
ceived better training, showcasing Mississippi’s progress towards a 
more law-abiding state.184

Black Power and Resistance
On June 16, while speaking in Greenwood, Mississippi, during the 
March Against Fear, Stokely Carmichael, the fresh leader of SNCC, 
looked out over a crowd in one of his beloved Delta cities. Over time, 
he grew fond of Greenwood. He declared to his audience, “We want 
Black Power,” and they echoed the sentiment, shouting “Black Pow-
er” in return. Carmichael urged for burning Mississippi courthouses 
the next day to cleanse them of corruption, signaling a call to arms 
for future generations of African Americans and other oppressed in-
dividuals throughout the nation. Fol- lowing the march, tension arose 
between the established nonviolent approach of the movement and the 
new, forceful Black Power stance. In Laurel, the young and old were 
divided. While the older generation continued to embrace peaceful 
protests, the younger ones saw themselves as revolutionaries.185

Black Power transformed into active resistance in Laurel, where 
the Burger Chef on Cook Avenue stood in the heart of KC Bottom, 
Laurel’s poorest African American area. This restaurant served Black 
customers through a back window but refused them seating inside. 
This discrimina- tory practice angered one predominantly white com-
munity but was espe- cially pronounced in their district. When Black 
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demonstrators walked into the Burger Chef, the white crowd quickly 
threatened violence. A group of twenty stood ready to retaliate with 
bottle-throwing if African Americans were barred entry. The white 
crowd yelled, “Go home Yankees!” During the turmoil, white aggres-
sors, armed with knives, slashed a young Black man, Terry Gillum, 
across his face and cut his brother Willie Roy on the chest. Police 
overlooked calls for help from African Americans, who, fearful, did 
not leave their names. Some white customers looked on, confused. A 
white youth, Frank McKenzie, was shocked to see several white adults 
beating a Black teenager with a lead-filled hose as he tried to flee.186

The day after the initial conflict at Burger Chef, the teens returned, 
and their arrival was met with intense anger. The police were there to 
intervene, telling them to leave immediately. Jerome Wyatt, one of 
the teenagers, calmly warned a white customer to follow the police’s 
directive. However, other Black onlookers were incensed. Charles 
Coleman, aged 30, charged at Harrell Stringer, an enraged white man 
who was threaten- ing him, and stabbed him. Charles Jordan was also 
there, brandishing his shotgun, ready to confront anyone challenging 
him. Both Coleman and Jordan were swiftly taken into custody by the 
police.187

However, whites who had attacked the Black teenagers were not 
de- tained, and the local newspaper, Laurel Leader-Call, didn’t even 
report on the incident or what led up to the Black community’s out-
rage. Enraged by the unequal treatment and bias, some Black commu-
nity members fought back by throwing stones at white people’s cars 
passing through the KC Bottom. When James Lee Buckley, a 20-year-
old Black man, threw rocks and bottles at cars with white occupants, 
injuring a woman and her child, he was charged with assault with 
intent to seriously harm. Even though Klan power shifted and affected 
Laurel’s community, the local Civil Rights Movement experienced ups 
and downs. By 1966, the movement’s reaction was mixed, showing as 
much stability as change. Immediate efforts to overhaul the unfair so-
cietal structure in Jones County or the broader state were not observed. 
Yet, the significant positive changes began to emerge following the 
Klan-related violence, eventually leading to a fairer Laurel for all res-
idents.188
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6

ONE WHO SHEDS BLOOD
Masonite is the beginning of a pattern. This local has a way been 
radical and a thorn in the company’s side. They’ve had some bad 
strikes down there. If they destroy this local, unionism in Mississip-
pi will be set back decades. Masonite laid a trap for them, and they 
walked right into it.
– Claude Ramsey, President of the AFL-CIO, 1967

Following the Mississippi killings, FBI agents not only cracked cas-
es of Klan-related bombings and murders but also learned to prevent 
such violence by employing informants, keeping watch, and other 
tactical methods. In places where influential figures chose to curb 
Klan brutality, the FBI provided local police with crucial information. 
They collected evidence of small-scale legal breaches and handed it 
to local law enforcers, who then strategically targeted Klan members. 
These members faced arrests and charges for trivial matters, leading to 
wasted time, drained resources, and hindered Klan activities. Still, the 
Klan’s anti-unionism continued to be an issue to exploit.189

From 1946 to 1967, the union at Laurel’s Masonite facility walked 
out on strike seven times, leading to a total income loss of over one 
million dollars. The strikes of 1946 and 1949 lasted between one and a 
half to five months, while in 1951 and 1958, there were briefer walk-
outs lasting from a few days to three months. In the 1960s, the worker 
disputes at Laurel were reflective of the broader national climate of 
strife and upheaval. Before the Civil Rights Act of 1964 came into 
effect, black employees at the Masonite plant in Laurel formed their 
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Masonite in the 1960s (Courtesy of the Lauren Rogers Museum)

own all-black sub-local. Despite Laurel having a population of 25,000, 
with 37% being black, due to the majority-white workforce and racial 
segregation in the paper sector, the black subgroup had less influence 
in union matters. For example, pay increases in three departments 
were distributed by a system that kept black employees in lower-paid 
roles. Out of six departments that ranked by seniority—Shipping, 
Warehouse, Sample rooms, Locker room, Engine switching, and main-
tenance—only Shipping and Warehouse provided African Americans 
with roles above janitorial work.190

Additionally, the International Workers Association (IWA) exert-
ed pressure on the union to amalgamate. This resulted in a merged 
union composition of 75% white and 25% black members. In the ini-
tial elections after amalgamation, black nominees vying for leadership 
roles in Local 5443 failed to win, as voting divided along racial lines. 
The white president of the Local, J.D. Jolly, observed that black mem-
bers grew distant from the union activities and refrained from running 
for positions thereafter. Jolly suggested that the lack of collaboration 
between white and black members in selecting leaders was undermin-
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ing the union’s strength against the company. He expressed concern 
that without a unified front the divide would persist.191

Admitting that just a handful were associated with the Klan, Jolly 
acknowledged the group’s significant influence in Laurel. The White 
Knights ruthlessly targeted civil rights workers in Jones County and 
throughout Mississippi to stifle the push for civil rights, particularly 
efforts to ensure the Civil Rights Act was followed. Otis Matthews, fi-
nancial secretary of Local 5443, was relentless in his efforts to deseg-
regate the Klan-dominated Masonite plant. Along with J.D. Jolly and 
other union officers, Matthews held meetings with Masonite employ-
ees from every shift, reporting that over 90% supported the union’s 
dedication to the principle of law and order.192

The planned merger of races at the workplace was met with strong 
opposition from white members and non-members alike. On the eve-
ning of November 18, a band of Ku Klux Klan members tailed Otis 
Matthews after he left the union building. When he was on a bridge, 
another vehicle flashed its lights to signal Matthews’ location. A Klans-
man got out of his car, lifted his hood, and pretended to fix his engine. 
As Matthews neared, another car rushed behind, trapping him. The 
Klan members quickly approached Matthews, threatened him with a 
gun, and dragged him out of his car. They took him to an isolated spot, 
forced him to lie face down, and threatened his life if he did not stop 
attempting to integrate the union. Matthews begged for his life as they 
struck him fifteen times with a thick strap and poured a burning liquid 
on his wounds. They let him go, warning they would kill him if he 
spoke of the attack. Matthews defied their warning and reported the 
incident the next day.193

In a public statement placed in the Laurel Leader-Call, sixteen 
union leaders made a strong stand against their assailants. They firmly 
an- nounced that they will no longer tolerate any form of abuse, either 
verbal or physical, against any union member or officer. “We declare 
that this is the last indignity that is going to happen to an official or an 
employee of this union, whether it be verbal or physical.” The officials 
were resolute in their stance, indicating they would fight back, even to 
the point of lethal confrontation, if necessary, to protect their progress 
and rights, especially in public areas. They stated they are ready to 
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defend themselves, having been advised to take up arms. This straight-
forward warning was effective—there were no further skirmishes.194

Despite being a supporter of racial segregation, newspaper editor 
J.W. West took a stand against violence. By publishing a union adver-
tisement, the local newspaper risked backlash. Not long before the 
assault on Mat- thews, an explosion had damaged the Laurel Lead-
er-Call’s pressroom, shattering its windows and walls. West recalled a 
recent incident where the Ku Klux Klan set ablaze a cross outside their 
building. He was cautious to avoid divisive opinions in the paper’s 
editorials, particularly on race matters. Nonetheless, their reporting on 
the Masonite corporation’s activities drew the ire of the Klan’s public 
faction.195

On March 3, 1967, the union Local 5443 of the IWA partnered 
with Masonite and the larger union group AFL-CIO to create a deal 
that helps solve worker complaints in five steps. If these steps don’t 
work, arbitration is used as the last resort. The deal has a part, Article 
23, that says workers cannot strike, and Article 26 explains how to fix 
issues and use arbitration. With this deal in place, the union and its 
members could not start strikes or stop work until the contract ends. 
Traditionally, labor unions did not consistently dedicate effort or re-
sources to rally workers in the South. This lack of action had given 
conservative forces greater confidence to intensify their unfair treat-
ment of employees. While the South had seen significant economic 
expansion, outpacing other regions for many years, this surge was 
largely due to regressive and overt business-centric policies that in-
volved lower taxes, lax regulations, minimal wages, and strict laws 
that restrict union power.196

On April 21, employees at Masonite staged a walkout after man-
age- ment fired an employee for his support of a worker who had re-
fused to move an employee’s lunch table, which had been obtained by 
going to the third step of the grievance procedure. The walkout vio-
lated the no-strike agreement between the International Woodworkers 
of America and the plant, but the strikers revolted anyway. For years, 
workers had suffered under management that told them to complete 
tasks outside their job descriptions, and union members were singled 
out and endured criticism from ubiquitous Masonite agents who shad-
owed them, scrutinized their work and actions, and threatened to fire 
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them. On the night of the strike, Andrew Goettman, the maintenance 
and engineering manager, tried to leave the plant but was viciously 
attacked by strikers who gave him a black eye. For the next four days, 
R.E. Paul, the general manager of Masonite’s Mississippi operations 
and manager of plant training, had been attempt- ing to enter the plant 
for four days, but he was barred by strikers each time. 197

Amid disorder, Judge Shannon Clark instructed striking workers 
to resume their duties. Nonetheless, 2,000 of them, including many 
Klansmen employed at the facility, defied the order. However, that 
evening Judge Clark, swayed by the union’s plea, allowed the strikes 
to proceed, provided they remained nonviolent. The next morning, 
R.E. Paul and Lewis Carter, while driving to the plant, were con-
fronted by a swarm of cars and protesters blocking the entrance. The 
crowd attacked Paul’s vehicle, breaking the rear window, attempting 
to smash the side windows, and stomping the windshield, without 
breaking it. Paul could not enter the plant, leading Masonite to take 
legal action against IWA, AFL-CIO, and Local 5433. In early May, 
the Mississippi Supreme Court intervened, directing the union mem-
bers back to work. Despite this, the strike carried on, and Masonite 
pressed contempt charges against 82 union officials. Further legal bat-
tles caused division in Laurel, as black employees start-ed returning to 
their jobs, while most white strikers remained. Masonite compensated 
for productivity losses by hiring unemployed college stu-dents of all 
races. Strikers showed bitterness towards these newcomers, but the 
African American workforce saw a silver lining. In the words of long-
time Masonite employee Sam Simmons, the strike opened doors to job 
opportunities previously out of reach for them.198

At their most charitable, white workers tended to dismiss black 
strikebreakers as misguided, ill-informed pawns of capital. Had they in-
quired further into their opponents’ motives, many of their fears would 
have undoubtedly been confirmed. Certainly, some black strikebreak-
ers were recruited under false pretenses or were honestly unaware that 
they were being used as weapons against white labor, as whites occa-
sionally claimed. Certain black employees were clearly aware of their 
actions; they eagerly sought chances to work as strikebreakers in op-
position to white workers, a white union publication declared. African 
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American workers often faced discriminatory union practices and job 
segregation, making their strikebreaking roles a genuine concern for 
white union members. Black strikebreaking was essentially a strategic 
movement by working-class African Americans aiming to promote the 
welfare of their own workers and households—a concept that many 
white workers and black leaders found difficult to grasp.199 

As Masonite leaders and union representatives were embroiled in 
a legal dispute over the strike, members of the White Knights sought 
to throw Masonite’s operations into chaos. Over the subsequent week, 
Klan members aimed to hinder the functioning of the plant by setting 
off explosives at Masonite sites, causing disruptions to transport, and 
targeting both managers and workers. On July 17, they detonated be-
tween 12 to 15 sticks of dynamite at a well situated a half mile from 
the facility. The blast showered the area with debris, narrowly missing 
employees on their lunch break and damaging a pickup truck parked 
a quarter of a mile away. Despite the explosion, the plant’s activities 
continued unabated. Klan members also attempted to sabotage the 
United Gas Company pipeline, but this too had only a brief impact 
and did not significantly disrupt Masonite operations.200

Undiscouraged, the following day, Klan assailants shot a ball 
bearing through the car window of Andrew Goettman, a maintenance 
and engi- neering manager, using slingshots. The projectile shattered 
the glass but did not harm Goettman. Alongside this, strikers pelted 
workers with eggs and stones during shift transitions, and nightriders 
attacked the plant with cherry bombs and gunshots aimed at Masonite’s 
primary power unit. Ultimately, Masonite officials were compelled to 
employ security personnel to safeguard the facility and its employees. 
Regardless of circumstances, Klansmen attacked them, even in broad 
daylight.201

The next day, the situation at Masonite escalated into virtual war-
zone. Wackenhut security set up defensive positions across the site, 
with guards armed with shotguns fortified in sandbagged shelters. The 
facility resem- bled a military stronghold more than a manufacturing 
site. Masonite even purchased a nearby gas station where employees 
gathered, instructing them to vacate the premises. Bowers exploited 
the situation and the re- sentment felt by white workers as they saw 
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their jobs being filled by Afri- can Americans, and he used this to re-
cruit them for the White Knights.202

Bower’s use of racial division in the workplace was a counter to 
the black scab’s quest for economic power. Strikebreakers’ plan to 
continue work was risky and had its downsides. This strategy was al-
ways a gamble. Black workers were valued by white employers be-
cause they could limit the influence of white workers. However, they 
were still at risk in the job market and often faced worse or equally 
bad working conditions that had led white workers to strike. Addition-
ally, black workers who took the jobs of strikers risked being targeted 
with violence by the strikers and their allies, who saw them as unwel-
come outsiders in labor disputes. Many white workers dismissed black 
workers’ complaints about being left out of unions and jobs. Instead 
of understanding, they blamed black workers for the issues and were 
unwilling to acknowledge that black workers efforts to break strikes or 
even their participation in more common forms of labor activism were 
legitimate ways to fight for their rights.203

Hence, Bowers joined forces with Klan members Deavours Nix, 
V.L. Lee, and Norman Lee to intensify their campaign against the Af-
rican American strikebreaker. He turned the White Knights into one
of the most active hubs of terror activity that summer. Large groups
formed picket lines, while smaller teams watched the plant and not-
ed who crossed the picket line. Masonite issued 700 letters demand-
ing workers return to work or forfeit their employment rights with the
company. R.E. Paul got numerous calls from employees who did not
strike about menacing calls they received from Klan members, threat-
ening them with violence if they went back to work as the company
letters asked. On the morning of May 22, a crowd of 350 white strik-
ers taunted 60 African Americans who decided to work despite the
strike.204

The judicial system aimed to control the unrest by imposing limits 
on the strike. On June 22, Chancellor Shannon Clark lifted the strike’s 
tem- porary ban but also prohibited the strikers from picketing or dis-
rupting the work at the plant. Masonite objected to this decision. The 
Mississippi Supreme Court stepped in on July 10, reinstating the ban 
on the Masonite strikers, preventing them from picketing as long as 
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the legal case was ongoing. Authorities anticipated possible violence 
and kept a close watch on the strike organizers. When a large group 
from Jones County, including several Klan members, attended these 
hearings, state police officers encircled the courthouse and recorded 
the Klan members present. Additionally, the state police boosted their 
patrols around the factory.205

The local police’s presence did not stop the ongoing violence. In 
fact, the White Knights escalated their attacks. From June 29 to July 
15, they targeted and shot at the homes of multiple workers who did 
not support the strike. On the night of July 12, LV Reed, a senior Ma-
sonite employee who returned to work a week earlier, experienced a 
shooting at his home. While his family was asleep, his house was hit 
by five bullets, breaking a large window and damaging his vehicle’s 
rear and side windows. Judge Casey was openly critical about the 
night riders’ blatant disregard for the law. He urged all local law en-
forcement, including the sheriff’s office, city police, and deputies, to 
put in a full effort to find the people who shot at the Reed residence. 
In the subsequent week, an attack unfolded at the home of another 
Masonite worker, Gordon Flemming. His home was hit 41 times by 
gunfire, injuring his wife in the process. The police believed the intent 
of these attacks was to kill those inside, rather than merely frighten 
them.206

The shooting incident involving Mrs. Flemming prompted im-
mediate concern among other workers’ wives. On July 7, a group of 
Masonite union workers’ wives marched to Laurel City Hall, led by 
Edna Earl Lewis as their representative, to ask Mayor Fern Bucklew 
for help in resolving the ongoing 76-day strike at the Masonite factory. 
Around 90 women took part in the march, and while Lewis and a few 
others met with the mayor, District Attorney W.O. Chet Dillard, Police 
Chief Clyde Nix, and Detective Captain Thomas Segrest inside, the 
rest of the women waited in the courtroom.207

They found Mayor Bucklew willing to listen and address their 
concerns. Although the meeting was successful, the women felt com-
pelled to take their cause up with Governor Paul Johnson for further 
action. After leaving the City Hall, the women approached local busi-
nesses to express their discontent. Any store that did not support the 
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union was boycotted, prompting the group to go to Meridian instead 
of shopping in Laurel. They spent the day there and planned to con-
tinue doing so in the future. During this time, prominent civil rights 
figures like Martin Luther King Jr. and Huey Newton highlighted the 
importance of mobilizing workers at the community level as a means 
to promote both racial equality and economic fairness.208

Robert “Bob” Zellner, who hailed from Alabama and was the son 
of a one-time Ku Klux Klan member, was moved by his Methodist 
values to participate in the civil rights movement. He became the first 
white person to serve as a field secretary for the SNCC. Together with 
his wife Dottie, also a SNCC activist, Bob Zellner put forward an idea 
to rally working-class white Southerners to the civil rights cause by 
focusing on their shared experiences of labor exploitation. Although 
SNCC’s leadership decided against this strategy, preferring an all-
black staff, the Zellner’s teamed up with Southern Conference Educa-
tional Fund (SCEF) affiliates to establish the Grass Roots Organizing 
Work (GROW).209

In 1967, GROW’s interracial team, including Zellner and New 
Repub- lic of Africa’s Walter Collins along with others, ventured into 
Klan-dom- inated Laurel, to rally white employees for black libera-
tion amid the Masonite strike. Jack Minnis, the Research Director for 
GROW, was skilled at pinpointing weaknesses within the system. He 
collected all the available data on the strike, realizing that the interna-
tional union had breached its own rules by establishing the trusteeship 
and agreeing to the contract with Masonite. Jack Peebles, an attor-
ney and SCEF’s Vice Pres- ident, advocated for the local Laurel res-
idents in court. The legal battle with the International Woodworkers 
of America was becoming more intense. Adding to the controversy, 
Hulse Hayes, associated with the firm that crafted the 1946 Taft-Hart-
ley Act, led a team of five lawyers on behalf of Masonite. Meanwhile, 
the International hired a prominent Little Rock firm that boasted an 
ex-Governor and a former Commissioner of the Ar- kansas Public Ser-
vice Commission.210

Minnis held meetings to inform workers about their legal chal-
lenges and educate them on both state and federal judicial systems, 
highlighting Senator James Eastland’s influence on the appointment of 
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federal judges. Zeller stood firm in his belief that the African American 
union members were being deceived. His goal was to raise community 
awareness, improve research methods, and ensure that knowledge was 
open for everyone to access. During a session with Laurel unionists, 
Bob conveyed his vision:

We are trying to carry on the work 
of organizing grassroots in the South, 
like in Laurel, Mississippi. If we had 
the kind of organization we hope to 
have in a year or so, the fight would 
involve many people across the 
South and not just be between labor 
and management in one town. Have 
we started some- thing that will get 
the working people of the South to-
gether, politically and economically? 
I believe that we have.21

GROW had multiple meetings with the strikers during the period 
of the labor dispute. The pressing need at the time was to persuade 
African American workers to leave the plant and rejoin the strike line. 
However, these workers felt marginalized by the local union, despite 
enjoying higher pay compared to other African American workers in 
Mississippi because of the union’s strength. Workers such as David 
Seals, a trucker for Masonite, did not feel compelled to take sides, opt-
ing to stay away from the strike to provide for his family. As their only 
vehicle was required by his wife Cora, a teacher, for her commute, she 
had no choice but to drive him to work, braving offensive shouts and 
threats along the way. They attempted to disregard the hostility and not 
dwell on the potential for violence that loomed.212

Others, like Alvin Gore Sr., initially joined the picketers but 
stepped back when the strike faced intimidation from the Klan. With 
his wife Maycie actively participating in civil rights efforts, Gore felt 
extremely vulnerable. When Masonite warned that they would fire any 
worker who kept striking, Gore, along with many others, returned to 
work. Gore and other African American employees used carpooling, 
often in packed pickup trucks with armed riders, as a safety measure. 
When confronted or followed by hostile white groups, these armed 
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workers would not hesitate to defend themselves.213

When the Ku Klux Klan started attacking non-union workers and 
college students, the aggression sparked opposition from influential 
local conglomerates toward Bowers and his followers. This surge of 
violence prompted city, state, and national officials to step in with 
comprehensive investigations. Mayor Fern Bucklew, city leaders, and 
members of the Laurel community jointly denounced the violent acts. 
At the community’s plea, state troopers poured into Laurel while Sher-
iff Merrill Pickering began an inquiry and amped up neighborhood 
patrols to bring an end to the nighttime terror. The FBI teamed up with 
local law enforcement to zoom in on the Klansmen intimidating work-
ers at the Masonite Plant.214

Jones County’s District Attorney Dillard, along with Sheriff Pick-
ering, called on locals for assistance in identifying the night riders. Dil-
lard described the plant as a battleground. Sheriff Pickering reminded 
residents of their right to protect their homes and united them, along 
with people from nearby areas, to form a Committee of Concern. This 
committee passed a resolution to denounce the strike-related violence. 
Judge Lunsford Casey urged the grand jury to delve into the nighttime 
terror and pledged to prosecute those responsible. Questioning how 
long innocent people must endure, he likened the criminal actions to a 
snake that moves under the cover of darkness, injecting its poison into 
the unsus- pecting lives of its targets.215

Despite the situation, the local authorities and Masonite appeared 
more focused on defending white employees over their black counter-
parts. Consequently, the sheriff instructed the black laborers to defend 
themselves, which led to their arrest after they acted. During a clash, 
striking worker Deavours Valentine threw a bottle at Otis Milsaps, 
who was black; when Milsaps threw it back, the police intervened 
and detained him. Any improvements that seemed to benefit African 
Americans were viewed with suspicion. Masonite’s move to recruit 
black workers as strikebreakers for jobs typically held by whites pro-
vided new openings for them, but it also escalated racial discord. This 
tactic also caused a rift among workers, while civil rights advocates 
contended that Masonite and the union was exploiting Klan activities 
as a strategy to undermine African American efforts.216
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The dueling visions of the law—majoritarian, anti-statist industri-
al pluralism versus state-assisted redress of individual claims of racial 
discrimination—generated a lot of conflict between unions and civil 
rights activists. A suspicious Susie Ruffin expressed disapproval of 
the local union, pointing out that the union leaders in Laurel had used 
racially divisive tactics in their campaigns instead of uniting all work-
ers around common financial complaints. The union backed a strike 
led by white workers who were against promoting African Americans. 
Another critic from the Freedom Democrats slammed the Mississippi 
AFL-CIO, noting it mainly consisted of craft unions that were “whit-
er than lilies after the rain,” highlighting that it hadn’t organized the 
state’s African American cotton pickers, who were paid only three 
dollars a day. However, some African American members of the union 
did not have complaints; one worker stated the necessity of being in a 
union for protection, crediting the union with ensuring good pay and 
job stability.217

Meanwhile, a collection of African Americans known as the Ne-
gro Cit- izens of Jones County wrote a letter to Mayor Fern Buck-
lew. They urged him to look into the police’s role, questioning “why 
you don’t make these people go home. If you really and truly want to 
keep Laurel ‘The city Beau- tiful’ instead of letting it become ‘The 
City Bloody,’ we are humbly asking you to make the people stay away 
from the Masonite plant threatening the poor working men.” In re-
sponse, Mayor Bucklew reprimanded the group, stating that he does 
not respond to anonymous messages, reminding them that he is always 
available to discuss any issues face-to-face. He noted their views did 
not reflect the majority of the town and expressed his willingness to 
accept advice to resolve the tension surrounding Masonite.218

Three days later, on the early morning of August 14, gunfire 
erupted around the Masonite factory, with bullets bouncing off the 
machinery and striking a security vehicle’s windows, wounding the 
passenger, Sergeant DeFazio, while Robert B. Sparkman was driving. 
Meanwhile, Sparkman spotted a man running towards the Union Hall, 
prompting them to seek shelter. Masonite’s guards, Julian Carr and 
Robert Anthony Billiot, a Vietnam veteran with the prestigious Green 
Berets, left their stations to pursue the source of the gunshots. Shortly 
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after, Billiot quickly armed himself with a knife and gun for defense, 
and Carr heard more shots fired. Suddenly, the area went completely 
dark as Klansmen shot out the factory lighting. Carr dropped to the 
ground until the shooting stopped. When he got up, he looked for Bil-
liot and found him on his back with blood stream- ing from his head 
due to multiple shots in the face. Billiot was killed at age 23. Sergeant 
DeFazio alerted his team, stating that Billiot’s “brains [was] all over 
the place,” insisting his guards not to engage, determined to avoid any 
more deaths under his watch.219

In Laurel, the Klan’s already minimal backing vanished entirely 
following Billiot’s killing. Masonite offered a $10,000 reward for tips 
leading to an arrest, and an anonymous local group added $15,000. 
District Attorney Dillard labeled the crime as a blatant act of murder. 
Mayor Bucklew vowed that the killer would be pursued by the police 
and praised the people of Laurel for keeping their composure during 
the crisis. The slaying of the security guard hired by Masonite did 
not calm the ongoing strike. In August, the grand jury convened, with 
Judge Casey urging them to formally accuse those responsible. The 
Klan’s rise to power, through instilling widespread fear, was likened to 
the tactics used by dictators like Hitler and Stalin. This trend was also 
noted in Jones County. Prosecutors showed that the assailants were in-
volved in various violent acts, shootings at 16 houses, and bombings. 
During a visit to the Masonite Plant and the Union Hall, the jury found 
signs of 81 bullets. They stated that there was an emergency situation 
and blamed the police for neglecting their duties on the night of Bil-
liot’s death. Subsequent grand juries began to issue indictments in re-
lation to the Masonite incidents, and while the aggression at Masonite 
diminished, the strike persisted.220

Hoping for a Better Place
Reverend Allen Johnson, hailing from Jackson, Mississippi, became 
an ardent supporter of the labor cause after being moved by the plight 
of workers following the tragic death of Medgar Evers. His involve-
ment was spurred on by witnessing a large march of 5,000 individuals 
paying tribute to Evers. Johnson stood out for his resilience in face 
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of challenging circumstances. During a demonstration on July 5 in 
Jackson, he received a minor injury to his jaw but brushed off the 
incident with laughter and encouraged fellow demonstrators to press 
on. In 1966, Johnson joined the March Against Fear, standing by nota-
ble figures like Martin Luther King Jr. during the final gathering near 
Mississippi’s State Capitol. King talked about his aspiration to address 
poverty in Mississippi and reignite its dormant industries. Johnson 
then took the stage, invoking the thir-teenth chapter of Hebrews, urg-
ing the crowd to welcome strangers and show empathy toward those 
in hardship, as if sharing their struggles. By June 1967, after dedicat-
ing years to promote voting rights for African Americans and sharing 
his sermons in Jackson, Johnson moved to Laurel, assuming the role of 
pastor at St. Paul Methodist Church.221 

On November 10, 1967, law enforcement from Jackson County 
visited neighboring Jones County to detain Sam Bowers, Cecil Vic-
tor Sessums, and Deavours Nix. Their arrest followed state charges 
from Pascagoula, which came just four hours after Klansman Billy 
Roy Pitts, Bowers’ bodyguard turned FBI informant, confessed to ab-
ducting Jack Watkins earlier that year in March. Pitts admitted that he, 
Attorney Travis Buckley, and three others abducted Watkins to coerce 
a confession for the Dahmer slaying but to no avail. Still, Pitts pleaded 
guilty to the kidnapping and received Pitts received a five-year sen-
tence. Reverend Johnson spoke out, expressing relief that at last, the 
local people could sleep without fear with the White Knights now im-
prisoned. To Bowers, however, Johnson’s statements were antagoniz-
ing, and soon after, Johnson became the target for the Klan’s next hit. 
Within five days, the White Knights placed a bomb under the carport of 
the brick, ranch-style parsonage where Johnson and his family slept. 
The blast destroyed Johnson’s new car, warped the carport’s roof, and 
shattered areas within the house. The family piano was even hurled 
into Johnson’s bedroom wall. Miraculously, Johnson, his spouse, their 
four children, and their church were all safe. Johnson attributes their 
survival to divine protection. The explosion was just one incident in a 
series of violent acts orchestrated by the Klan. The day after the attack, 
in a stance against fear, Johnson’s wife sent their children to school, 
signaling to the townspeople that the Johnson family was undeterred 
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A message from Aaron Henry to Allen Johnson (Courtesy of Glenda Johnson)

by the bombing.222

Following the attack on Johnson’s residence, the white commu-
nity started to join forces with African Americans. The Committee of 
Concern in Laurel openly condemned the attack, stating their support 
for the au thorities’ commitment to bringing the perpetrators to jus-
tice. They believed that most residents would not stand for such vio-
lence. They collaborated with African Americans in Laurel to create 
a biracial committee aiming to curb violence, foster communication, 
and plan for upcoming peaceful protests. Reverend Robert Marsh was 
one of the signers of the alliance, typifying the traditionally moder-
ate white pastors in the South. He rejected the violence perpetrated 
by the Klan and upheld the belief that all people are spiritually equal 
before God. African Americans across the Pine Belt region expressed 
their anger through large demonstrations. Notable figures like Rever-
end Milton Barnes and Reverend J.C. Killingsworth of Hattiesburg, 
as well as numerous black pastors from Laurel, led 100 students from 
Oak Park High School in a march from Johnson’s charred home to the 
city hall. They refused to make more compromises. The people of Lau-
rel did not wish to experience a race riot like Detroit, but they were 
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approaching the limits of their tolerance.223

The Jones County Ministerial Association, led by Wallace Mang-
um and composed solely of white leaders, strongly denounced the at-
tack on Reverend Allen Johnson’s home. They urged the local black 
and white communities to show mutual respect and work together to 
improve racial relations. The group recognized that the bombing re-
flected deeper issues of animosity, hatred, and prejudice in the com-
munity. They emphasized that Christian love should guide everyone 
towards peaceful coexistence and respect for every person’s worth. 
The ministers called for the community to stay calm and help the au-
thorities find those behind the attack. To support the cause, they gath-
ered $600 the following week to repair Johnson’s home.224

The reaction of the Klan to opposition was expected, stemming 
from deep-seated and enduring rifts. Masonite took advantage of these 
bitter divides within the union, manipulating members as if in a strate-
gic game. According to Claude Ramsey, black workers felt a profound 
sense of grievance across the nation, and white workers often avoided 
or outright rejected dealing with the issue. Ramsey warned that un-
less changes were made, the devastating events of Laurel could happen 
again. African Americans, often feeling let down by their white coun-
terparts, were hesitant to start making amends, indicating that white 
individuals needed to step up first. Unionists believed solidarity was 
their shield. Following a new deal with Masonite, the company gained 
the upper hand to set work conditions and pay, leaving workers vulner-
able should they confront Masonite in the future.225

Many of the original employees of Masonite had to find new em-
ploy- ment, often traveling to different counties or states to do so. 
The large gatherings that used to have up to 600 attendees in a rural 
field across the county border had dwindled to just 40 to 50 individu-
als. Nevertheless, those who stayed were determined to keep up their 
fight. However, the nature of their battle had changed; it was no longer 
about the strike. The union was not the same—it was being managed 
by trustees. The workers understood that even if they were successful 
in their legal action against the company and the national union, the 
resolution might take so long that the trusteeship would have ended 
naturally. A few union members were brought back to work at the 
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plant, but not to resume their former roles. Instead, they were added to 
a general workforce, required to perform any given job at the set wage 
for the day. Additionally, there were still some former union members, 
specifically black men and women, who had not supported the strike 
from the start and continued to work at the plant.226

When the strike concluded, many of the former Masonite employ-
ees were forced to seek employment elsewhere, with some even re-
locating to different counties or states. Meetings that once numbered 
in the hundreds had dwindled to mere dozens, but this small group 
remained determined to continue their advocacy for union represen-
tation. Although the nature of their endeavor had altered post-strike, 
they were aware that any victory in their legal case against Masonite 
and the international body could be so protracted that the issue may 
resolve itself when the trusteeship concluded. At Masonite, some 
unionists returned to the factory, not to resume their old roles but to 
join a variable workforce where they were assigned any available job 
at the prevailing wage for that day. Meanwhile, there were still Afri-
can American men and women from the original union who had never 
supported the strike and continued to work at the plant. In spite of 
these challenges, Bob Zellner and his colleagues remained dedicated 
to the Local’s cause against Masonite. They were also focused on per-
suading white workers that their own interests were undermined by 
discriminatory practices against African Americans.227

Civil rights leaders consistently highlighted the link between eco-
nomic injustices and America’s racial disparities, advocating for pro-
gressive labor unions. They often compared the jobless, poor whites to 
the maltreated black laborer, aiming to rally the impoverished towards 
collective liberation from the start. In November 1967, Martin Luther 
King revealed his plan for the Poor People’s Campaign at a Southern 
Christian Leader ship Conference (SCLC) staff retreat. Aiming for a 
method that avoided both violent protests and weak appeals for jus-
tice, King intended to lead 2,000 impoverished individuals to Wash-
ington, DC, and cities across the North and South. Their objective 
was to demand jobs, unemployment insurance, a fair minimum wage, 
and education for poor adults and children designed to improve their 
self-image and self-esteem. King continuously rallied through towns 
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like Greenwood, Clarksdale, and Grenada in Mississippi, always fo-
cused on the link between racial injustice and poverty while recruiting 
for the campaign.228

Martin Luther King Jr. arrived in Laurel on March 18, 1968. That 
eve- ning, he was warmly welcomed by Reverend Allen Johnson who 
hosted King and his close colleagues, Ralph Abernathy, Hosea Wil-
liams, Dorothy Cotton, and Leon Hall, for dinner at his newly finished 
parsonage. The following night, an eager audience waited at St. Paul 
Methodist Church in Laurel as King was set to speak in support of the 
upcoming Poor People’s March in Washington. King arrived at the 
church around 10 pm, delayed and having taken a safer route due to 
the threat posed by the local pres- ence of the Ku Klux Klan. Despite 
the delay, King entered the church confidently and captivated the con-
gregation with his powerful call to action, declaring their march on 
Washington was not about begging but insisting on immediate chang-
es to better the lives of the poor. He pinpointed racism as America’s 
core problem, and with the audience’s overwhelming support, he em-
phasized the dire need for fair-paying jobs.229

King’s campaign led to the creation of a temporary settlement of 
3,000 people in Washington, and the movement captured the nation’s 
attention—even as the FBI actively targeted African American organi-
zations through COINTELPRO. Tensions were high, featuring prom-
inently in events like the Orangeburg Massacre, the Democratic Na-
tional Convention, and the trial of the Chicago Seven. Tragically, less 
than a month after his Laurel visit, King was assassinated, sparking 
waves of riots and unrest in over one hundred cities. The social fabric 
was tired of the ongoing turmoil, and there was a shifting sentiment 
among many Americans for more order and peace, which paved the 
way for new narratives in politics.230

Trial and Destruction
On January 21, 1969, Sam Bowers stood trial, charged with murder 
and arson, after a month and three days since his indictment. A group 
of 100 specially selected individuals was called to the Circuit Court as 
Bowers faced judgment. The appalling deeds linked to Bowers’ Klan 



109

in both the DABURN and MIBURN cases sparked outrage across the 
nation, leading to public statements from the White House and the 
attorney general’s mandate for extensive FBI inquiries. Billy Roy 
Pitts served as the prosecution’s key witness during the trial. Bowers, 
showing no emotion, heard Pitts describe how the plot to kill Vernon 
Dahmer began during a meeting where Bowers pounded his fist on a 
table, demanding action against Dahmer. Pitts remembered Bowers 
calling for a “Project Three,” to burn Dahmer’s house, and even a 
“Project Four,” which meant Dahmer’s killing.231

During the Bowers case on January 25, at 4:15 a.m., a train going 
north with 26 cars full of oil had a wheel break. This caused the train to 
come off the tracks and led to a massive explosion known as BLEVE. 
This blast tore through the air, aiming to break apart everything. It 
wiped out 46 buildings directly in the middle of Laurel’s downtown. 
The power of the blast broke windows far and wide and sent fireballs 
shooting into the dark morning sky. Around ten blocks away, the blast 
brought down another 85 buildings. Businesses like Wansley Machine 
and Welding Supply, Harper Transfer and Storage, Woodall Industries, 
and S and V Wholesale were ruined completely. The leaders of the city 
in Laurel reached out to Mississippi’s representatives in Congress to 
help get President Richard Nixon to proclaim that Laurel was a disaster 
area. Just two hours after the explosion first hit, Sheriff Jerry Landrum 
and Mayor Bucklew called on Governor John Bell Williams to bring 
in the local National Guard and Civ-il Defense. They were to help out 
the more than 70 highway patrol officers already on the scene.232

Residents in the area feared the worst. “I thought the whole world 
was on fire,” said one resident. “I was lying there waiting to get up 
when the room lit up. Then I heard the first explosion.” A nearby res-
ident was asleep when her home was severed by the rupturing tank; 
miraculously, she was unharmed but hospitalized due to the shock. 
Throngs of people, eager to escape town for the day, queued at a gas 
station, vehicles packed with anx ious families. The incident displaced 
711 individuals from their residences. “It was an unbelievable sight,” 
said Chuck Edwards, a National Guardsman. Five hours later, at 9:10 
a.m., a racially diverse jury reported to Judge Stanton Hall they could 
not agree on a verdict, stuck at a 10-2 split. “If we stayed here six
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A family walking around a destructed black neighborhood (Courtesy of The 
Laurel Leader-Call)

Overhead shot of the train explosion (Courtesy of The Laurel Leader-Call).

months, it would still be 10 to 2,” noted the jury’s leader, Robert Spi-
ers. This prompted Judge Hall to announce a mistrial. Following this, 
Lawrence Arrington, the defense attorney, sought bail for his client, 
Bowers. The town of Laurel was rocked by two calamitous events 
in quick succession, causing a blur in perceptions—the line between 
forward movement and the persistent shadow of Klan-related dread 
seemed to vanish momentarily.233
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Many African Americans and some whites saw the accident as the 
work of the Ku Klux Klan, as the violence did not seem beyond what 
the Klan might do. Reverend Robert Marsh, a supporter of equality 
and justice who previously did not advocate racial integration, had his 
worldview rocked by a shocking incident. The day after Marsh hon-
ored a local businessman with a Jaycee Man of the Year award, the 
recipient was arrested along with 10 Klan members for the murder 
of Vernon Dahmer. Feeling disgraced, Marsh decided to leave Laurel 
and perhaps work at a seminary. Feeling liberated by the prospect of 
leaving, he shared his plans with Reverend Marcus Cooley saying he 
was “free at last” and ready to do the right thing since he had nothing 
more to lose.234

Reverend Cooley countered, insisting that true freedom isn’t about 
having nothing to lose. “Surely you understand that until you are will-
ing to lose everything, you will never know what it means to be free,” 
he argued, adding that Dahmer was a friend who left a wife and eight 
children; their lives forever changed. Cooley challenged Marsh’s sin-
cerity about caring for justice, given that he had just awarded a kill-
er. Unaware of Cooley’s connection to Dahmer, Marsh expressed his 
regret. Cooley then questioned Marsh on his actions with the guilt he 
felt, asking if he had used his position to speak against racism and 
for equal rights for African Americans. Cooley spurned white liber-
als morally, feeling they did not truly understand the importance of 
race and power in shaping society. He saw them as pretending to be 
progressive but linked them to the oppressive legacy of white suprem-
acy. During the freedom fights, they faced criticism often. The late 
1960s were a turning point for racial matters in the U.S., with African 
Americans increasingly adopting black nationalism. This new ideol-
ogy became more influential than integration in the quest for black 
liberation.235

At the dawn of the 1960s, the Klan cases began to wind down. In 
the mid-June 1969, District Attorney Harold Odom and Jones County 
Attor- ney Robert Sullivan took Andre Hendry to court over the killing 
of Robert Anthony Billiot. They brought in 34 people to testify and 
showed plenty of proof, including a tape where it sounded like Hendry 
confessed to the crime. White said he sold this tape to Masonite for 
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more than $20,000. They played the tape two times, but it was hard to 
hear what was being said. To fix this, they made the sound louder and 
put the tape player near the jury, which helped make the words clearer. 
It seemed Hendry told White on the tape that he shot the guard with a 
shotgun and spoke about it in a merciless way. When White asked if he 
felt any guilt, Hendry said it didn’t affect him at all. After the crime, he 
said he removed the shells, gave them to Dubie, left, and then calmly 
went to have coffee. Pickering and Dillard were hoping that their work 
in this case and others involving Masonite would put a stop to the 
Klan’s control in Laurel. Yet, Judge Lunsford Casey and the jury did 
not want to hold anyone accountable. The prosecutors, maybe because 
they were discouraged or they knew the local courts wouldn’t convict 
Klan members, did not facilitate more cases linked to the Masonite 
Klan. The trial went on for six days, and in the end, the jury let Hendry 
go free from all charges.236

However, in November 24, 1969, a jury split 10-2 in favor of the 
con- viction of Sam Bowers for arson in the Dahmer murder. Bow-
ers would serve time behind bars for his part in the turmoil of those 
years. Still, he was never convicted for murder, which had a hung jury. 
He resided modestly on Laurel’s Southside, an area populated mostly 
by African Americans. Many neighbors seemed unaware of Bowers’ 
Klan connections. The White Knights fell off the grid in Laurel after a 
decade of terror and criminal trials. If the promise of the 1960s faltered 
in 1968—a year marred by assassinations, the Tet Offensive, and the 
waning of the new left—it also saw the decline of the postwar Ku 
Klux Klan. After the King riots diminished and school integration be-
came more accepted or avoided in the South, the Klan was deprived of 
issues to exploit. This, combined with efficient FBI and police crack-
downs on violence and local courts charging them, spelled the end for 
the Klan’s activities.
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7

GOING BACK TO THE COUNTY

The current language of educational reform emphasizes racial 
‘achievement gaps’ and ‘underperforming schools’ but also tends to 
approach education as if history had never happened. Integration was 
a flawed strategy, but it recognized the ties between racial history and 
educational outcomes.
– “Class Notes,” The New Yorker

Black power is organizing the rage of Black people and putting new hard 
questions and demands to white America.
- Charles Hamilton Houston

Eleven years after the U.S. Supreme Court ruled in Brown II for 
school racial integration with “all deliberate speed,” many school dis-
tricts in Mississippi with school segregation gave their students the 
right to choose between white and black schools, independently of 
their race. About a dozen black students, whose parents’ jobs were 
not at stake, opted for “freedom of choice” at the risk of alienation 
from Laurel’s black commu- nity. In particular, the Holmes family, 
who moved to Laurel in mid-1964, were among the first black fami-
lies to successfully integrate Laurel public schools. In the summer of 
1966, they attended a seven-week-long Summer Enrichment Program 
in Edwards, Mississippi, and Mary Holmes Junior College to “bring 
[black] children, whose parents had ‘chosen’ for them to attend all-
White schools, up to speed before started.” Between these vigorous 
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sessions, they were taught horseback riding, how to swim, and how 
to “behave” when being followed in department stores. Ann Holmes, 
the youngest of the Holmes, recalled arriving at R. H. Watkins, see-
ing policemen standing carelessly with their arms folded and walking 
through a gauntlet of angry whites as they screamed racial attacks 
at her. Despite the constant abuse from teachers and students alike, 
Holmes graduated in May 1968. This efficacious moment made way 
for a new era of integration. 237

A year and a half after October 29, 1969, the Supreme Court de-
cided in the case of Alexander v. Holmes County Board of Education 
that the era of ‘all deliberate speed’ for school desegregation was over. 
Because of this, African American students at Oak Park High were 
given a choice by Watkins: attend that school or stay at their current 
one. The Fifth Circuit then replaced Chief Judge Brown with Judge 
Griffin B. Bell, who along with the panel, ordered on November 7 
that Judge Dan M. Russell from the Southern District would act as a 
special advisor. His job was to look over proposed changes and hold 
meetings about the plans for desegregation. Judge Russell was to re-
port his findings and advice to the Appeals Court. No new plan could 
go ahead without the Fifth Circuit’s okay. By November 25, the Legal 
Defense Fund was brought in as a friend of the court in the cases filed 
by the US Department of Justice. As a result, the workload for the 
Mississippi office dealing with school desegregation grew fourfold. 
Even though the Legal Defense Fund later wanted to be more involved 
in some cases of the Justice Department, they still had the chance to 
take part in Judge Russell’s meetings and share their opinions on the 
plans with the Fifth Circuit, whether or not they were fully part of the 
case.238

At the start of the 1970s, seven states—Alabama, Arkansas, Geor-
gia, Louisiana, North Carolina, South Carolina, and Mississippi—still 
enforced segregated schools, against what the Brown ruling, which 
had deemed such systems illegal, had established. On March 24, 
1970, President Richard Nixon made a detailed public announcement 
about his administration’s approach to ending school segregation. He 
suggested a two- year initiative, costing $1.5 billion, to help school 
districts overcome the specific challenges they faced during deseg-
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regation. Moreover, Nixon put in place a strategy to fulfill the legal 
requirements of desegregation. He assigned Vice President Spiro T. 
Agnew and Labor Secretary George Shultz to a cabinet committee re-
sponsible for overseeing the move to integrated schools.239

Discontent was felt by both segregationist whites and black civil 
rights leaders. African Americans criticized his overlooking of free-
dom of choice initiatives. Senator James Eastland echoed the feelings 
of many Southern whites, criticizing the President for endorsing sep-
arate but equal schools in the North, yet confirming the government’s 
intent to integrate schools in the South. Nixon’s stance was a depar-
ture from his usual policy and didn’t align with Health, Education, 
and Welfare (HEW) Department guidelines. Their initial desegrega-
tion rules for the 1965-1966 school term barely required schools to do 
anything to maintain federal funding. These rules were broad and un-
specific, with no clear integration quotas for students and suggestions 
like joint staff meetings as an initial step towards integration; merely a 
genuine effort to start desegregation was needed. To comply, districts 
could adopt a freedom-of-choice plan affecting only a few grades. The 
shift was gradual, often involving only a small number of black stu-
dents at a time. In Jones County School District, only a few decided to 
switch to predominantly white high schools.240

After a prolonged period of uncertainty spanning three years, the 
District Court finally revised the HEW’s proposal, compelling the 
school district to promptly unify into one high school and one junior 
high school while dismantling racial segregation within the educa-
tional system. This directive was met with dissatisfaction by many 
parents of both black and white students in Laurel, who expressed 
concern about their children’s safety. They worried about the inevita-
ble interactions with trains in Laurel, a community characterized by 
its railway industry, as the HEW’s strategy planned to integrate six of 
the local elementary schools. This would necessitate children encoun-
tering multiple treacherous rail crossings during their daily commutes, 
irrespective of the weather. A troubled parent stressed the potential 
hazards in a letter to the editor of the Laurel-Leader, cautioning that 
the likelihood of train-related accidents was high and questioning the 
potential loss of young lives should the HEW’s approach be pursued. 
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In response to the uproar, the Laurel School District Superintendent, 
J.M. Caughman, aligned himself with the concerned parents. On Au-
gust 7, the newly formed Committee of Concerned Parents, led by 
veteran educator and seamstress Ruth Reid, submitted a petition with 
3,822 signatures to Caughman. The petition represented a stance in fa-
vor of the city’s own desegregation plan and voiced opposition to the 
HEW’s integration scheme due to the associated risks to students. It 
was presented to U.S. District Judge Walter N. Nixon.241

The Laurel School District, which managed racially separate 
schools, including R H Watkins High for whites and Oak Park High 
for African Americans, presented annual plans from 1965 to 1967 out-
lining a step-by- step process to integrate each school. The district 
officials hoped to avoid attracting attention from the US Justice De-
partment with these plans. Nevertheless, on April 17, the Justice De-
partment informed Mississippi education authorities of its plans to sue 
should the schools not be fully integrated by the fall of 1970. Follow-
ing this notification, school districts hastily began to devise full de-
segregation strategies. While these efforts stopped overt segregation, 
they inadvertently stirred a significant increase in internal divisions.242

Oak Park High School had long been a hub of pride and achieve-
ment for the African American community, dating back to the 1920s. 
It was here that young black students felt at home, with faculty mem-
bers often seen as an extension of their own families. The school’s leg-
acy includes alumni like Leontyne Price, who became the first African 
American to be a leading performer at the Metropolitan Opera, and 
Ralph Boston, who was a record-setting long jumper in the Olympics. 
The school held a special place in the hearts of its African American 
students and alumni, an affection not mirrored by the white authorities 
of the time. In 1970, as the high school was transitioned into an ele-
mentary school, workers cleared the premises of its historic emblems, 
including photographs and trophies, which were thrown away, and the 
treasured football gear was cast aside to be incinerated. This act was a 
clear indication that the imposed integra-tion measures were far from 
an actual representation of equality.243

Mayor Bill Patrick, alongside the school board and local figures, 
arranged a meeting of about a hundred parents at Watkins High to mit-
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igate the concerns of white families due to unplanned integration. The 
event aimed to showcase a constructive perspective and build a base of 
support- ive white residents. While the general sentiment about racial 
matters was passive, the past inequality suffered by African Ameri-
cans instilled apprehension in white parents about potential retaliation. 
Conversely, black students were pleased with their schools, with many 
believing integration unnecessary. They were now tasked with min-
gling with the very group that had historically been their oppressors. 
Those against integration expressed deep resentment toward the wide-
spread change and the federal government’s tampering with the tradi-
tions of the South, directing significant disapproval at President Rich-
ard Nixon. Former Mississippi Governor Ross Barnett, on September 
8, prophesied that Nixon’s presidency would not extend beyond one 
term due to his support of integrating schools. Speaking to the Citi-
zen Council of America at their yearly sum- mit, Barnett implied that 
mandatory integration hinted at a new period of imposing widespread 
changes in the South. He reminded the audience of Nixon’s pledge to 
Southern constituents to treat their interests fairly. Now, nearly two 
years post-election, Barnett branded that commitment as a farce. 244

A mere six days after a new semester commenced at R. H. Watkins 
High School, the autumn of 1970 marked the end of segregation across 
all school districts. This was a marked contrast to just three years pri-
or, in 1967, when a third of Mississippi’s school districts remained 
segregated and less than three percent of black students shared class-
rooms with their white peers. Despite the legal changes, the effects of 
segregation were still felt, with many black students preferring the 
safety of their former segregated schools. White district leaders often 
doubted the capabilities of black educators in leadership positions. Al-
though the schools were no longer segregated by law, the discontent 
among the white population was noticeable. White officials continued 
to suppress African American educators by assigning them to inferior 
positions to maintain control in the education system. As a result, these 
once-respected black teachers and principals, key figures in their com-
munities and mentors for the youth, found themselves marginalized. 
Black educators, previously with strong job security, particularly in 
districts where they were numerous, often found themselves unjustly 
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unemployed. Despite their dedication, this relegation marked a sig-
nificant setback in their status, with bias coming from superiors and 
colleagues.245

Alex Warren, formerly the principal of Oak Park, was demoted 
to an aide at Watkins High due to a district reshuffle. Irving Morrell, 
a decorated coach, similarly found himself reassigned to a middle 
school. This trend saw white officials relinquishing junior roles, di-
minishing the impact of black educators. Guidelines emerged that 
barred black teachers from disciplining white students, establishing a 
racially based hierarchy that undermined African Americans’ author-
ity, including over students of their own race. Through various mea-
sures, white school authorities-main- tained control over the unified 
educational facilities.246

The moment the African American students entered through the 
main doors, they faced immediate ridicule from those against them. 
The school’s teachers deliberately arranged classroom seating by race; 
with black students often relegated to the back or one side of the room, 
while white students occupied the front or the opposite side. Tensions 
were palpable in the shared hallways among students and teachers of 
both races, with some believing it was necessary to mark their territory. 
During a dispute about school rules, principal Allan McClure expelled 
Richard Porter, a black student moving into his junior year. The alter-
cation quickly escalated into shouting, drawing attention from nearby 
classes as stu- dents observed the clash. Porter’s frustration turned to 
desperate pleading for the principal to consider his side of the story. 
However, McClure was adamant and demanded Porter leave immedi-
ately. History teacher Larry Coleman stepped in, easing Porter away 
from the scene just as the situation intensified with the abrupt arrival 
of police cars and officers aiming guns at the two. Despite Coleman’s 
appeals to let Porter walk home, one officer forcefully separated them 
and detained Porter. Coleman, facing the threat of arrest himself, reluc-
tantly returned to the school as Porter was taken from the property.247

The Walk-Out
Bearing an invitation, on January 18, 1972, the integrated R. H. Wat-
kins marching band was set to perform at the inaugural parade for 
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the newly appointed Governor Bill Waller at the Capitol in Jackson, 
Mississippi. Excitement brewed amongst the rejoicing high schoolers. 
The celebration raised the ambient soul of the band to a broad, shared 
smile. However, black students did not view the moment as a com-
memorative occasion. Governors of the past have fought a lethargic 
battle against black enfran- chisement, leaving African Americans 
indifferent about participating in any white-led event. As the default 
leader of this cause, Faye Musgrove earnestly decided not to march 
with the band. She lacked the desire to celebrate a self-proclaimed 
“redneck” and even turned in her band suit. A descendant of Newton 
Knight—a white Mississippi farmer who led armed opposition to the 
Confederacy during the U.S. Civil War and married one of his grand-
father’s former slaves—Musgrove was born into a family where mem-
bers were beholden to choose a side: black or white. As a commitment 
to African customs, she chose black. Only a sophomore, Mus- grove 
was an insurgent personality and an uncompromising reformer. She 
wore a towering afro—mirroring the aesthetics of Angela Davis—
with a dashiki as her garment of choice to divulge a sartorial sign of 
racial pride.248

By February, Laurel faced a pressing issue. KC Bottom students 
had to travel a great distance to reach the high school, which was 
situated in a predominantly white neighborhood. The journey was a 
great strain, as black students often faced hostile actions from local 
white residents, such as being chased by purposely unleashed dogs or 
sprayed with water hoses as they walked on the sidewalks. Tardiness 
to school resulted in harsh disciplinary measures by the attendance 
officer, a treatment not equally applied to white students. Johnny Ma-
gee, a former Youth Council member, remembered that sometimes 
they skipped school if they were already late. The students confronted 
black assistant principal Alex Warren regarding the unfair treatment, 
but despite his prior reputation, he did not step in to help. The stu-
dents sarcastically called him a janitor since his role seemed limited 
to cleaning the hallways. Warren’s standing with the black students 
diminished. As a result, the students realized they need- ed to address 
the situation themselves, as they could not rely on support from black 
school staff.249
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Musgrove and Bobby Washington had been in talks about a poten-
tial walkout to protest against the school’s biased practices. The idea 
seemed powerful yet unforeseen. On February 18, in her English class, 
Musgrove spotted a book titled “How to Teach a Negro” on the teach-
er’s desk. She was both shocked and confused. A heated exchange 
followed with the flustered teacher, who exclaimed, “Y’all are coming 
here and disrupting our way of life!” In a burst of anger, Musgrove 
marched down the halls, rallying black students to leave their classes 
for an impromptu demonstration. Around 200 students joined, and as 
they approached the school’s entrance, they were met by armed police 
officers and reporters ready to capture the event.250

As the police tried to block the students’ protest march, one officer 
pushed his gun against Musgrove’s midsection, threatening to shoot 
and hitting her with a club. Unfazed, Musgrove shouted back, “Do 
what you have to do, because we’re marching no matter what!” While 
news reporters clung close and scuffles broke out around them, Mus-
grove led the demonstrators from R.H. Watkins to Saint Paul Method-
ist Church. Chanting for liberty, Musgrove raised her fist with vigor, 
shouting “Black Power.” At the church, the young protesters discussed 
their next moves to shake up the usual way of things. One outspoken 
participant declared, “If we’re going to pray, let’s pray. If we’re going 
to fight, let’s fight.” Word spread that amid the chaos, Wyatt had hit 
Officer Jim McDonald, break- ing his glasses and injuring his eye. 
Now, two people were under suspicion: Wyatt as the attacker, and 
Musgrove as the instigator.251

On a subsequent evening, Mayor Bill Patrick spoke with WDAM 
about the recent upheaval. He underscored the city’s obligation to 
main- tain peace and order, especially in schools. Despite the pres-
sure, Patrick maintained that municipal involvement in school matters 
should be minimal since schools are managed by a legally established 
board. Nevertheless, he criticized the students for resorting to violence. 
Patrick expressed that grievances regarding equal educational oppor-
tunities should be resolved without resorting to riots. He warned that 
if the unrest persisted, the city would take all necessary measures to 
restore order. In response to the escalating crisis, community meetings 
were organized in African American neighborhoods to seek a peaceful 
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solution with the school board and ease racial tensions. However, the 
black students would not attend Watkins High School under current 
conditions. Eventually, their ongoing absence led to a police presence 
at the school, with officers prepared for possible conflict.252

Ministers and church members accepted the task of connecting 
disillusioned African American students with impartial school lead-
ers. Churchgoers spoke out against the visible presence of firearms 
on campus. When African American students established a committee 
to address their concerns, Reverend Allen Johnson documented their 
issues, though he was not familiar with all the committee members. 
However, he recognized their academic excellence and potential for 
leadership. At the same time, Benjamin Murph, head of the Bi-Ra-
cial Committee, engaged in talks with Superintendent Caughman and 
school attorney William Deavours regarding the protest’s broader im-
plications. They intended to review the students’ concerns with lo-
cal clergy associations and communicate them to their congregations, 
hoping to reach all students.253

Since its powerful inception, ‘Black Power’—a term introduced 
by Willie Ricks, a Black Nationalist, and co-founder of the All-Afri-
can Peoples Revolutionary Party—had become a key symbol of a sig-
nificant shift in the way African Americans fought against oppression. 
Moreover, Angela Davis’s trial, which started in March for alleged 
murder, kidnapping, and conspiracy linked to Judge Harold Haley’s 
deadly shooting, drew global notice and caused many to wrongly as-
sociate black activism with acts of terror in America. During this time, 
Musgrove became notorious as media coverage during the Davis pro-
ceeding led to her being expelled. The Laurel School Board ousted 
her and another eleven pupils, accusing them of biased and racially 
driven misconduct. Musgrove alone faced charges of inciting a riot 
for raising her fist and shouting ‘Black Power,’ making her an object 
of fear during unstable political times. Her alignment with the Black 
Panther Party highlighted her and her family as surveillance targets. 
The FBI’s Racial Matters Program kept a close watch on her, monitor-
ing protests, racial unrest, and riots. Even her father, Reverend Hollis 
Musgrove, was not spared; police tailed him, and the family’s phone 
conversations were tapped.254
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On March 23, Musgrove and the eleven other students who were 
previously expelled went to Meridian for a hearing to discuss their 
possible return to school. They approached the municipal building’s 
grand steps and entered the chilly, formal setting of the federal court-
room. Their lawyer, Thomas C. Hogan, questioned the reliability and 
legal standing of the suspensions, labeling them overly harsh and in-
appropriate. Following Hogan’s initial remarks, the court screened a 
video of the protest, with the intensity drawing silence from the ob-
servers. Student testimonies followed, with the seniors particularly 
feeling the weight of the situation as their graduation loomed. Under 
lawyer’s probing, students reluctantly named Faye Musgrove as in-
volved in instigating the protest. She faced her interrogation last, and 
when the prior evidence presented against her was mentioned, she ad-
mitted her involvement by defiantly raising her fist, affirming, “Yes, I 
did do it.”255

Judge Russell was stunned to see the students show no guilt. Prin-
cipal Allan McClure’s words in court made matters worse. He strongly 
felt that readmitting these students would undermine discipline, hurt 
the morale of the school community, and heighten everyone’s anxi-
ety, potentially harming the education system. He also worried about 
losing students to private schools. During the hearing, a consensus 
emerged that courts should not serve as venues for resolving school 
issues, particularly when a school is fully integrated. The expectation 
was that school administrators would manage such problems. The 
judge criticized those assuming they could rely on judicial support to 
act indiscriminately. Judge Russell concurred with the court’s domi-
nant view, noting that reinstating the twelve students would not serve 
the interests of the entire student body or the school system. He con-
cluded by reminding them that they should have considered the impact 
of their actions and the rights of others before participating in the “dis-
turbances at the high school.”256

The news of rebellion caused distress among white families, yet 
they ultimately, albeit unwillingly and with delay, accepted the end of 
legally enforced racial separation. Despite not being able to alter fed-
eral rules, they chose how to respond; prioritizing location over educa-
tional quality, many shifted to the county. The rural areas around Jones 
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County became their refuge, a clearer choice for avoiding integration. 
Some went so far as to give guardianship to relatives who lived in 
the county. This migration gave African American students a chance 
to excel in sports. Whites in the booster clubs expected the coach, 
George Blair, to keep white athletes in prime positions, neglecting the 
more skilled black players due to societal pressures. Larry McGill saw 
Blair as a mentor with good intentions, yet the coach, swayed by racial 
biases, sidelined black talent. Tensions escalated to physical alterca-
tions, with one white coach assaulting McGill, leading to his and other 
players’ temporary departure from the team. Only after persuasion did 
McGill return, driven by his as- pirations and unperturbed by preju-
dice. As the year progressed, the play- ers united, and their collective 
effort led to a winning record to end the season. Coach Blair’s inclu-
sion of black players and the secret willingness of white players to 
cooperate transformed the team. McGill graduated that same year and 
enrolled at the historically black Mississippi Valley State University.257

Death by Integration
In the early 1970s, Laurel saw widespread integration, often sitting 
to- gether in public, albeit sometimes uneasily, without trouble. B.E. 
Murph passed away in September 1972 due to a heart attack. He wit-
nessed the unity he fought for over two and a half decades before 
his death. The city, once under Klan influence, appeared calm, even 
as White Knights members faced legal action for Vernon Dahmer’s 
murder and related crimes. Nevertheless, in April 1973, Assistant 
Attorney General Bob Murphey chose to drop the federal charges in 
the Dahmer case, thinking another federal trial was pointless because 
previous trials with the same witnesses had not resulted in any con-
victions. Judge Harold Cox agreed and dis- missed the charges. The 
FBI wrapped up the DABURN case on August 19, giving back all 
the evidence and closing the matter. Many Klaverns shifted to devout 
Protestant or Christian Identity beliefs, or a mix of both. For example, 
Maurice Flowers, an original White Knights member, took up a role in 
the Jones County Baptist Association as a mission’s director. He also 
set up a hangout in Laurel’s Eastside, the Jones County Curb Store and 
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Amusement Center, which drew in many young people with its com- 
bination of music, games, and especially the pool hall.258

On the summer evening of June 4, 1974, two African American 
Army Reserves, David Windham and Carl Richardson, entered Flow-
ers’s arcade to play billiards. While organizing the game, their friend-
ly rivalry was evident in their loud jests, with each claiming he was 
the better player. An hour of enthusiastic cheers and laughter irritated 
Flowers who then told them to leave. When Windham resisted, their 
argument intensified and spilled into Flowers’ adjacent grocery store, 
where they continued to sling insults. The altercation concluded vio-
lently on the street when Flowers pulled out a firearm from his pocket 
and shot Windham in the chest twice, prompting Richardson to run 
away as the shots disrupted the bustling crossroads.259

Following the shooting, African American onlookers rapidly dis-
sem- inated the news within their community. A multitude of residents 
swiftly convened at the Cross and Chantilly Street junction where the 
tragedy took place prior to the police’s arrival. Enraged, the crowd 
erupted into a riot, hurling stones at Flowers’s shopfront, forcing entry, 
and igniting his vehicle. The chaos extended, impacting nearby busi-
nesses; Grecos Food Store suffered a firebombing, and shotgun blasts 
damaged Mitchells Seafood café. As law enforcement appeared, the 
turmoil escalated with exchanges of gunfire leading to injuries of 
James Jenkins and Luther Boykin. The two-hour bedlam ended with 
sixteen arrests, including youths, four injuries, Flowers facing murder 
charges, and the tragic loss of David Windham. Yet, unrest persisted 
for two more days. Gunfire targeted vehicles, the Brown Street Curb 
Store suffered three fire attacks, and a bottle shattered a car window at 
Howard Industries. Leaders sought peace; I.L. Thomas and Rev. Allen 
Johnson linked the upheaval to youth anger over Windham’s killing. 
Johnson also expressed concern about possible reprisals against the 
black community.260

Following Windham’s funeral on June 11, NAACP’s James Dace 
Jr., Vodie Reed, and Susie Ruffin headed a march of sixty-five from 
Brown Funeral Home to Sandy Gavin Elementary, with local police 
ensuring a safe passage as they transported Windham’s casket, his 
mother Christine Smith followed closely behind. Following a six-day 
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incarceration in Jones County jail and being denied bail at his initial 
hearing, Judge Alpheus McRae granted Flowers a $100,000 bail, lead-
ing to his release on the same day. Flowers benefitted from a specific 
ruling; the Supreme Court’s decision in Ex Parte Charles Jay Willette 
mandated bond privileges for detainees with severe health issues, 
and Flowers was suffering from ad- vanced-stage cancer, explained 
McRae. The judge also noted the ability to set bail rests with the com-
mitting magistrate and is guided by Supreme Court laws.261

The trial of Flowers kicked off on November 20, involving a jury 
composed entirely of white individuals—eight women and four men. 
Acting as his own defense, Flowers recounted how he tried to disen-
gage from an altercation with Windham by entering his grocery store, 
only for Wind- ham to come in after him. Claiming to have feared 
for his life, Flowers explained that he fired his gun without aiming. 
Throughout his statement, he maintained that he acted in self-defense. 
However, witnesses such as Richardson, Douglas R. Buxton, and 
Mary Louise Simmons disputed this, testifying that they did not see 
Windham pursue or threaten Flowers. After intense jury deliberations 
failed to reach a verdict, resulting in a deadlock, the judge declared a 
mistrial. In a subsequent trial on May 22, 1975, Flowers was acquitted 
by a Jones County Circuit Court jury in the murder case of David 
Windham.262

Elementary Schools
After the Windham riots, the tension and division grew stronger, es-
pecially when parents faced off over the persistent division in edu-
cational institutions. In the summer of 1975, the R.H. Watkins High 
School Golden Girls drill team was getting ready for the new football 
season, embracing a Bicentennial theme for their first game vs. Pas-
cagoula. As they arranged themselves for a team photo, Faye Jones, a 
black junior, stood out as the only black member on the team. Previous 
black members had joined but never completed a season due to var-
ious challenges. But Jones would break new ground by participating 
the whole season. Jones experienced the scorn of white parents who 
were upset their daughters did not make the team, as she occupied a 
spot. One parent rudely confronted her, bantering racial slur, insisting 
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she had no right to participate alongside their children. Throughout 
the season, her car was vandalized with scratched insults, her locker 
was broken into, and slurs were hurled at her while she wore the team 
uniform. Nevertheless, two supportive white coaches helped make her 
time on the Golden Girl squad more tolerable, despite the prejudice 
she faced.263

Despite small victories in desegregating the school system, true in-
tegration had yet to be fully embraced, as progress seemed to halt. In 
the early 1970s, the Black community took the district to court again, 
and by 1975, Judge Dan Russell informed the Laurel district that com-
bining the city’s elementary schools was likely necessary. The U.S. 
Attorneys revealed to the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals data showing 
Laurel remained as divided as ever since the 1970 compulsory inte-
gration. White students were absent in predominately Black schools, 
while Black students only made up fifteen percent of the racially mixed 
white schools. The Fifth Circuit supported Judge Russell’s observation 
and mandated that Laurel’s elementary schools must integrate by the 
autumn of 1978.264

When the news broke, the white residents of Laurel left the city’s 
school district in greater numbers, galvanized by Judge Russell’s 
caution of the looming need to pair elementary schools. Obliged by 
Russell, Judge Walter Nix demanded that the Laurel School District 
adopt a strategy to form a single, inclusive system for middle and high 
schools. The mandate highlighted the end of racial division in educa-
tion. The court implored the community to embrace this goal and back 
the district’s mission to provide equal education to all students. Fur-
thermore, Nix made it clear that the elementary schools would not be 
merged. Instead, students could transfer based on racial majority-mi-
nority ratios. Per the plan, Oak Park High School would shut down, 
compelling 10th to 12th graders to join R.H. Watkins High, expecting 
a mix of 745 white and 534 African American students. To integrate 
secondary schools, Idella Washington Middle School would close, 
merging students into Maddox and Jones Junior Highs. Nix confirmed 
that any schools closed must remain out of private educational use.265

Between 1976 and 1978, Laurel schools saw a decline of over 800 
students, largely white. As white families moved away boldly, many 
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Black county families left for the city. To challenge political and ed-
ucational set- backs, prominent figures were needed. This is where 
Arwilla Huff Davison stepped in. A dedicated Democrat from her 
youth, Davison showed a keen business sense. Starting humbly at 39, 
she cared for housebound seniors in the simple home left by her par-
ents. She drove for Sargent Shriver’s anti-poverty campaign, earning 
just 25 cents an hour. Davison secured a $50,000 grant for building 
a sanitarium and founded the Davison Nursing Home in Kingston. 
Her political journey led her to the Mississippi Democratic Executive 
Committee and onto a national political path. In 1972, she was the first 
black delegate at the National Democratic Convention in Miami, and 
later the Kansas City mini-convention. Her independent political spirit 
was recognized when President Jimmy Carter chose her as one of Mis-
sissippi’s seven presidential electors in 1976. Davison often said her 
civic commitment came from her father, who was active locally, while 
she aimed to go further.266

Davison’s clear passion for diverse political matters endeared her 
to both African American and white communities. With her unifying 
thinking and business acumen, she exemplified outstanding leadership 
that resonated with the public. Another African American school, San-
dy Gavin Elementary, was shuttered due to new integration laws. The 
African American neighborhood had to craft a formal complaint to 
voice their disapproval of Russell’s integration strategy. On March 7, 
1978, a crowd of 375 African Americans united in protest against the 
new integration plan, a sense of solidarity palpable in the air. Within 
the chatter-filled auditorium of Sandy Gavin, Arwilla Davison stepped 
up to the microphone with a prepared list of objections against the 
new policy. She began to read the list to an attentive audience, receiv-
ing approving nods and supportive outcries. Applause erupted upon 
her finishing, but it was a bold, unplanned speech that capped off the 
evening. She declared that until fair representation from the Justice 
Department, the U.S. Health, Education, and Welfare Department, and 
Judge Dan Russell is secured, they wouldn’t send their children to any  
public school in America. Her declaration took the crowd by surprise 
and was met with a powerful show of support from the African Amer-
ican parents.267
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Arwilla Davis shaking hands with President Jimmy Carter and Thurgood 
Marshall (Courtesy of Dr. Deborrah Hyde)

Community members organized protests and gatherings to prevent 
the shutdown of a local school. PTA representative Flora Brooks from 
Nora Davis campaigned from house to house, gathering community 
views on the potential closing of Sandy Gavin School. She put to-
gether a persuasive argument and emphatically stated that the NAACP 
planned to bypass the local officials and direct their appeal to Judge 
Russell. William Deavours addressed the intense discussions about the 
closure being based on racial issues. He explained that the school was 
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no longer modern, and its location did not align with the required dis-
trict boundaries for equitable student distribution. He believed that 
keeping the school open would incentivize African American families 
to stay nearby to prevent their children from having to transfer to pre-
dominantly white schools.268

Burtis Dougherty, a lawyer for the US Department of Justice, 
offered a new plan on April 8 to reorganize the local schools. The 
strategy involved swapping students between four schools, grouping 
three others, and redrawing the district boundaries. Debate escalated 
over Sandy Gavin school when Dougherty introduced a report from 
a month ago, disputing its poor condition and affirming its structural 
integrity. However, William Deavours rejected the plan, accusing it of 
distortion and petty objections. The issue at Sandy Gavin widened the 
rift among parents, school officials, and the community across racial 
lines. Despite Deavours’ efforts toward equality, the reality persisted 
that Laurel maintained two segregated white schools, partly funded by 
black residents’ taxes.269

By mid-May, the doors to Sandy Gavin Elementary were locked 
for good. There was a pressing issue at hand as previous errors came to 
light. When it came to merging students from different backgrounds, 
the initial steps were a struggle, especially for African American ad-
ministrators. The group designed to bridge the gap between local 
citizens and the educa- tional institutes, known as the Desegregation 
Steering Committee, challenged Deputy School Head David Sheppard 
on the defined responsibilities for Oak Park and Nora Davis, the black 
schools. Sheppard put forward the idea of jointly assigning a black and 
a white principal, thus removing any hierarchy in the role. Yet, with a 
significant tenure, Lamar Elementary School’s Principal, Bobby Ste-
vens, labeled the strategy as nonsense and detrimental to education. 
He couldn’t see the reasoning in possibly moving an esteemed princi-
pal to a setting they are unacquainted with.

Additionally, the topic of 60 teachers not having their contracts 
renewed was on the table. This time, race impacted the situation dif-
ferently; black teachers were more experienced and were seen as more 
reliable, making younger white educators less favorable. Sheppard 
confessed that length of service was the deciding factor in keeping 
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staff, although he also men- tioned that a resolution about their job 
security is expected soon. In the end, despite a night of intense dis-
cussion, all parties left feeling hopeful, echoing the sentiment that it 
heralds a new era.270

The Laurel School District resolved the contentious issue of 
shared principalship and likely job losses by hiring a single principal 
and two ad- ditional staff members for administrative roles at Stone 
Deavours School. Eugene Owens, former principal of Sandy Gavin 
School Elementary with a background in elementary music instruc-
tion, took the position of Director of Transportation for the district in 
the new academic year. A native of the Salem Community near Forest, 
Mississippi, Owens earned his Music Ed- ucation degree from Jack-
son College in 1964. After avoiding the Vietnam War, Owens chose to 
contribute to his nation by fostering the intellectu-al growth of young 
people. In 1967, following a brief period teaching in Holmes County 
and facing his mother’s illness, Owens accepted the role of choral 
director in Laurel School District to stay geographically close to his 
family.271

Despite being hired under urgent circumstances, Owens’s expe-
rience in managing music programs across six primary schools made 
him a strong contender for an administrative role. With recent quali-
fications including a Master’s in Elementary Education and a School 
Principal Certificate, Owens had reservations about the new job. How-
ever, after discussing it with his loved ones on June 10, he chose to 
take on the challenge. His duties involved overseeing bus route cre-
ation, training of drivers, and management of bus facilities. Shortly af-
ter, on June 12, 1978, the Justice Department formed a trio, including 
Owens, Arwilla Davison, and Police Chief Dan Walters, to observe 
the busing operations in Prince George, Maryland. They departed Me-
ridian around 3:25 pm, reaching Washington, D.C., by 7:30 pm. The 
following day, they engaged with James Gholson, the Prince George’s 
school busing supervisor, at a bank in Baltimore. The meeting was 
kept open-ended to encourage a free exchange of ideas. They explored 
topics like scheduling buses, driver training, and recruitment. Davison 
committed to preventing disturbances like those in Boston, ensuring 
community harmony. On Owens’s team, Davison’s role was being 
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the “peacemakers,” to cultivate trust and manage conflicts related to 
school transport.272

As the heat of summer intensified and the reality of integrated ele-
mentary schools took hold, nine individuals who previously served on 
the Desegregation Steering Committee came together to establish the 
Education First Committee (EFC). This diverse group aimed to tackle 
the challenges of integrating public schools. Quickly after their meet-
ing began, they crafted a mission statement to define their role: The 
EFC was a nonpartisan group dedicated to supporting the school dis-
trict in bring- ing the community together for a seamless and effortless 
consolidation of the elementary schools. This effort ensured that the 
children’s education continued without disruption or decline in quality. 
The primary focus rested on the education, safety, and well-being of 
every child. Following their inaugural meeting, the committee chose 
its leaders: Ginny Traylor, a local real estate agent and PTA president, 
and Arwilla Davis, by agreeing to a co-chair arrangement.273

On August 22, the EFC held a two-hour open house at all five 
local primary schools, providing a relaxed setting for eager parents to 
meet the equally apprehensive teachers. Principal Douglass Peppers of 
Nora Davis welcomed each child with warmth, regardless of race. The 
youthful attendees played carefree while education officials, teachers, 
and parents filled the auditorium, unexpectedly hopeful about the up-
coming school year. The EFC’s earnest endeavor was significant, with 
its effectiveness depending on the satisfaction of the 833 parents.274

The academic year progressed smoothly, and by the end of the 
1978- 1979 term, the Parent-Teacher Association, under Ginny Tray-
lor, organized meetings every other week to define school goals and 
success markers. The school leaders considered the first fully integrat-
ed year in the local elementary schools a triumph, while parents had 
varying opinions. In July, a meeting took place where Traylor compli-
mented the Jones County leaders for their steadfast dedication, leaving 
many parents content with the year’s results. They were surprisingly 
pleased and felt the year ended well. However, Susie Ruffin disagreed, 
stating that African American parents did not share this positive view, 
feeling overlooked as usual. A particular concern was the high number 
of black students being expelled. Ruffin argued that parents should be 
made aware of handbook rules before they are applied, noting that this 
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could be harming the kids’ morale. From another angle, some white 
parents argued that the presence of African American students had 
caused academic and disciplinary stan- dards to drop, prompting plans 
to create a new private high school.275



133

8

BREAD WITH BUTTER

For the many black residents, the isolation of their community and the 
occasional blocking off by trains are more than inconvenient. The 
train line has come to symbolize a segregated past and a perceived 
neglect of present needs.
- Laurel & Laurel: A City Divided

The Jackson Advocate featured a story and photo covering the induction 
of Fred L Banks Jr., the latest African American county judge, who was 
sworn in by Justice Reuben Anderson, the first African American on Mis-
sissippi’s highest court. Beside this was a report titled “Cross Burned—
Youth Abducted and Beaten in Strife-Torn Durant,” reflecting the 
contrasting racial climate in Mississippi during the 1980s. Statewide 
interviews showed evolving attitudes juxtaposed with echoes of past 
prejudices. Political progress was made, it is said, but racial integra-
tion on a personal level remains insufficient. The “Residential Segre-
gation by Race in Mississippi, 1980” study indicated significant sep-
aration among races, especially in the Delta and Piney Woods regions 
and slightly less along the Gulf Coast. The report also highlights that 
segregation intensifies with a larger economic disparity between Black 
and white residents.276

Residents of Laurel have expressed concerns that the separation 
with- in their city deeply hinders the advances of black residents, from 
educa- tion to employment. The racial divide, though no longer legally 
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enforced, became apparent through a documentary by Miriam Gray-
boff, a US Civil Rights Commission field worker. Titled “Laurel & 
Laurel: A City Divided,” the film uses the town’s railroad track, which 
physically splits Laurel between white and black neighborhoods, as a 
metaphor for the deeper social and political rift between the races. It 
features footage showcasing neglected homes and streets in disrepair 
in Laurel’s black neighborhoods. The city was selected by the Civil 
Rights Commission as a representative example of a typical town in 
Mississippi. The long-standing issue of police neglect described by 
Benjamin Murph continued to negatively impact the black commu-
nity.277

Since a black officer joined LPD in 1963, over the next seventeen 
years, their ranks swelled by fifty-seven. This increase in diversity was 
seen by some as a positive step, but opinions were divided. Susie Ruf-
fin called African Americans on the Laurel police force “nothing but 
patrollers,”—a term that black slaves used for the “patrollers” once 
hired by plantation owners to keep the slaves systemized. “I’ll tell 
them I wouldn’t have their jobs,” Ruffin said. Her critique was that 
African Americans in the system acted as placeholders, following a 
routine life, attending church, yet lacking autonomy, and too intimi-
dated to think for themselves.278

In the film, the existence of racial segregation was presented as an 
un- deniable truth, not simply an opinion. Local authorities strength-
ened this divide, comparable to apartheid, between Black and white 
populations through their augmented clout. Both a sizable Black-on-
ly public housing development and numerous White-only apartment 
buildings received federal funds to house those with low incomes. 
Freddie R. Beech, the head of the local housing authority, frankly, ad-
mitted the racial homogeneity of the public housing units, saying with 
no hint of emotion that Whites simply wouldn’t consider moving in. 
Conversely, the supervisor of a White-only apartment complex gave 
a vaguer reason, suggesting Black applicants often found alternative 
housing after their paperwork was processed.279

African Americans in Laurel faced a significant hurdle due to their 
exclusion from political clout. Whites exclusively controlled Laurel’s 
city governance because the electoral system selected city council 
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members on a citywide basis. This method effectively prevented Afri-
can Americans, who made up a substantial portion of the population, 
from being elect- ed. The U.S. Civil Rights Commission’s Mississippi 
Advisory Committee urged Congress to eliminate the citywide elec-
toral system in favor of district elections in places with significant 
minority populations. Mayor Bill Patrick argued against this change, 
suggesting that electing representatives from individual districts might 
not serve the city’s overall interests. Patrick professed ignorance of 
any complaints regarding the status quo. This political disenfranchise-
ment led many African Americans to question the value of their vote, 
resulting in apathy. The lack of political representation also cast doubt 
on the prospect of economic advancement for the community.280

Attempts to gain political power for African Americans began 
with pushing to broaden the reach of the 1965 Voting Rights Act. Ar-
willa Da- vison vividly described being forcefully removed for seek-
ing to vote. As a lead figure in the Jones County Democrats, Davison 
stressed the need for the Voting Rights Act’s preservation to validate 
the struggles and losses of many. In Mississippi, where blacks consti-
tuted over a third of the population, they were noticeably absent from 
any state-level elected positions, and several majority-black counties 
had exclusively white leadership boards.281

Throughout the ‘70s and ‘80s, the NAACP encountered various 
dif- ficulties while adapting to changes. Roy Wilkins concluded his 
extensive leadership period with the organization from 1931 to 1977, 
and Margaret Bush Wilson took on the historic role as the first black 
woman to lead the NAACP Board of Directors. Continuing the fight 
against racial injustice, the NAACP advocated for measures like bus-
ing to mix schools racially and affirmative action to remedy past dis-
crimination. However, legal challenges and a dip in relevance, crit-
icized by the Black Power Movement, nearly drove the NAACP to 
bankruptcy by the mid-1970s. In the 1980s, the Reagan administra-
tion’s slashes to civil rights resources and opposition to affirmative 
action intensified the NAACP’s struggles. These issues pushed the 
organization to redefine how it would serve African Americans in a 
changing society.282

In Jones County, the NAACP found itself embroiled in division, 
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mirroring the broader divides in city politics and the national NAACP. 
At a state NAACP meeting held in Laurel, a clear disagreement was 
present between Susie Ruffin and the county’s NAACP president, 
Manuel Jones. Their intention was to discuss charges of racial bias 
in the city’s schools but ended up focusing largely on debates regard-
ing the NAACP’s strategies for demonstrations and advocacy. Ruffin 
mentioned that internal conflict stemmed from misconceptions about 
the NAACP’s workings, leading to the breakdown of the educational 
committee she oversees. Additionally, she reported feeling ostracized 
by the youths due to the NAACP’s stance. The NAACP had earlier 
issued 31 requests to the Laurel School Board, advocating for the hir-
ing of additional African American teachers. Olivia Jones attributed 
the ongoing issues within the NAACP to a personal rift between Ruf-
fin and Manuel Jones. Although she had great respect for Ruffin, she 
urged the need to support the incoming adminis- tration for the better-
ment of the community.283

Whispers of internal conflicts among African Americans over the 
protests targeting select Laurel establishments were present, but these 
disputes only came into the open during a Sunday board meeting. In 
this meeting, Ruffin confronted Jones for privately organizing media 
engagements without notifying her. In a defense against the criticism 
of her actions, she suggested her critics wanted her to disengage from 
the issue. Aaron Henry, the state president of the NAACP, was present 
and reported that per the national legal team, there was no legal justi-
fication to boycott the school-related matter. Previously, the NAACP 
had presented clear demands to the Laurel school board, which in-
cluded stopping the divi- sion of black students into different academ-
ic categories such as special education, the appointment of a black 
assistant superintendent, and the balanced allocation of accolades to 
black and white students. The school board, however, did not act on 
these issues because they were entangled in a lawsuit accusing the 
local schools of not respecting civil rights regulations.284

In an extended period of activism, the NAACP also highlighted 
discriminating practices at the Laurel Ramada Inn against black house-
keepers, such as making them use separate entrances and forbidding 
them from eating in certain areas. Despite his best efforts, Jones was 
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not successful in persuading Oak Park High School and Alcorn Uni-
versity alumni groups to avoid the hotel for their meetings. Regional 
NAACP director Earl Shinhoster reiterated to the Laurel community 
that without local African American support, the changes aimed for 
by the national body would not be achievable. “If you can’t influence 
in your town a group of black folks who want to have a meeting there, 
can’t nobody in Washington, Baltimore or anywhere else influence 
them.”285

On December 20, 1982, the Mississippi legislature concluded a 
two- week extraordinary session by passing the Education Reform 
Act, a proj- ect led by Governor William Winter. This Act introduced 
kindergarten into the public education system, required children to 
attend school, and insisted on higher standards for teacher certifica-
tion. Additionally, it outlined a method for assessing the performance 
of local schools and arranged for classroom assistants in grades one 
through three. There was debate over whether to merge smaller school 
districts to improve education quality and save money, but despite 
concerns about the potential impact on rural schools, compromises 
led to a plan. This plan required school districts to comply with a con-
solidation strategy by 1986 or risk losing their accreditation and state 
funding.286

The Education Committee set aside legislation, introduced by 
Mize lawmaker Senator Billy Thames on February 2, 1983, aimed at 
reversing a school unification initiative. Some opponents called for a 
pause, suggesting legislative action should follow the study examin-
ing the merger’s impact. Senator Thames stood against the consolida-
tion, highlighting that neither larger schools inherently lead to qual-
ity education nor to cost savings. Taking a nuanced approach, House 
Speaker C.B. Newman mentioned, especially during an earlier press 
conference, that while not a proponent of obligatory consolidation, 
the decision should be left to locals in areas where there is support for 
a unified system. Newman asserted that the concept of consolidation 
had been a recurring topic over years and stressed that merging should 
be voluntary, not imposed.287

Local families in Jones County became aware that state budget 
trou- bles could heavily impact the future makeup of their community 
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schools. Details of the failed bill, including timelines and processes 
for merging school districts, were clearly outlined. Yet, signs pointed 
to a future recon- sideration. School leaders voiced that consolidat-
ing administrative offices would not achieve the anticipated cost sav-
ings, suggesting the push for consolidation was financially, not edu-
cationally, driven. In addition, the 1981 Education Consolidation and 
Improvement Act (ECIA), introduced during Ronald Reagan’s pres-
idency, led to major educational reforms. This act eliminated terms 
and support that had previously allowed schools in underprivileged, 
bilingual, and segregated areas to receive federal assistance for over 
15 years. John Ashbrook, the creator, aimed for the ECIA to transfer 
more educational control to states and localities, a key conservative 
objective. Nonetheless, the act also ceased programs that promoted 
integration and ensured that schools with the greatest needs received 
funds.288

Despite energetic moves toward school desegregation, the out-
comes were not completely effective. In the 1980s, despite legal or-
ders, a signif- icant portion of black students in the South still attended 
predominantly black institutions, with a renewed push toward segre-
gation occurring. This echoed what was unfolding in the north. The 
actions of white families, particularly those with economic means, 
played a large part in resegregation. Those moving to less diverse ar-
eas or enrolling their offspring in private institutions caused a signif-
icant change in the demographic make-up of public schools, leading 
to a rise in the number of schools with mostly black and lower-in-
come children. Policies aimed at balancing student placement could 
not keep up with the swift shifts in the makeup of local populations. 
The fight for integrated schools was complicated by individual choic-
es, including those shaped by discriminatory attitudes, reinforcing the 
stubbornness of segregation.289

President Ronald Reagan exploited the rising anxiety of white vot-
ers concerning the influence of Black political leaders. Voting rights 
expert Jesse Rhodes notes that the Reagan team reshaped the Justice 
Department’s Civil Rights Division and influenced the Supreme Court 
using their governmental powers. They intended to discreetly reduce 
the power of the Voting Rights Act by painting minority voting pro-
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tections as if they harmed white voters, branding them as a form of 
“reverse discrimination.” In spite of the Reagan administration’s ef-
forts to reduce the involve- ment of the Legal Enforcement Assistance 
Administration in executing civil rights legislation, African American 
political endeavors rose sharply in the 1980s. This rise is represented 
by the growing count of African American politicians, which jumped 
from 4,912 in 1980 to 6,056 by 1985.290

In early January 1985, the plan to switch Laurel’s municipal sys-
tem to one led by a mayor and seven district-based council members 
received ap-proval from U.S. Magistrate John Roper. This approved 
structure, which boasted three majority-black districts, yet only two 
where the majority of residents of voting age were black according to 
the 1960 census, was publicly recognized by city leaders in Laurel. By 
the following day, this proposal had been submitted to the U.S. De-
partment of Justice, awaiting their sanction. The 1965 Voting Rights 
Act sets a 60-day deadline for the Department’s decision, but the ex-
pectation was to proceed quickly since the Department had already 
submitted a participation request for the case.291

In 1912, the city of Laurel implemented a commission-based gov-
ern- ment system that employed at-large voting. Despite a significant 
black population constituting 37% of the community, to date, no Afri-
can American has served on the city council. African American nom-
inees, Republican Pearl N. Blalock and Democrat Viola Malone, were 
set to contend in Ward 7. Meanwhile, George Gaddy and Lula Cooley, 
black candidates in Wards 5 and 6 respectively, ran unopposed. By 
June 5, Malone won the race with a vote of 65%. Under the newly 
elected mayor, Sam Lindsey III, Laurel’s City Council saw its first 
three African American members esteemed for their excellence: Lula 
Cooley, George Gaddy, and Viola Malone. According to the Laurel 
Leader-Call, they were chosen for their capacity to champion the in-
terests of the African American community at City Hall, ensuring all 
citizens were considered equitably and with fairness. Moreover, Je-
rome Wyatt was elected as Laurel’s first African American County Su-
pervisor. Even though the African American community made impres-
sive political gains in the 1980s, it seemed to many that those gains 
were not translated into decisive economic power to significantly re
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John Drennon, Lula Cooley, and George Gaddy (Courtesy of Lula Cooley)

verse the continuous decline in the living conditions of the majority of 
African Americans. 292

The majority of residents believed that local votes are the best way 
to address issues in Jones County, not mandates from the government. 
Jones County Superintendent Carey Clay stood firm against merging 
schools. “I’ve been opposed to this since before the Education Reform 
Act was passed,” he stated plainly. “I think if the Legislature sits by 
and lets this go through, they’re making a mistake.” Clay and the Jones 
County education rejected any action that would reduce their gover-
nance over schools. They feared that without the ability to enhance 
their curriculum to reach newly set standards, smaller schools would 
be ousted. Clay argued that the community should decide on their 
school system and the number of schools, not the state government.293

Concerned parents with children in county schools urged Senator 
Smith to overturn the recently enacted Education Reform Act. Smith 
advised the worried parents that two legislative proposals are on the 
table: one seeking to abolish the merging of schools and another pro-
posing a three-year postponement consolidation. “We’ve got two shots 



141

at changing the plan. Quite frankly, the bottom line is Frank Lovell,” 
Smith stated, referencing the Education Finance Commission’s chair-
person. He expressed his unwillingness to stand by as Frank Lovell 
wields the ultimate authority to determine the fate of the school sys-
tem.294

Despite clear opposition, the Education Finance Commission 
(EFC) decreed that the Laurel Separate School District would merge 
on July 1, 1986. David Sheppard, who was visibly upset, called the 
move a preliminary attempt at reorganizing school districts. He shared 
his uncertainty regarding the merger’s impact on Jones County with 
the Laurel Leader-Call but declined to comment further. The next 
day, Jones County lawmakers united to oppose consolidation. Senator 
Ronnie Shows, a Democrat from Moselle, took the matter personally, 
citing his experiences at larger schools lacking close-knit interactions. 
Senator P. A. Townsend criticized the EFC for not listening to the pub-
lic as elected officials did. Representative D. R. Anderson reported 
an influx of calls all against consolidation. There was debate about 
student numbers, the execution process, financial estimates, and the 
motives for such a policy. Fears arose over the loss of local control and 
the potential dominance of one district by another larger or more influ-
ential one. Some educators worried that quick decisions by politicians 
ignored the long-term consequences of such actions.295

In mid-1985, the movement towards school consolidation lost 
momentum among legislators due to significant public disapproval. 
The strong opposition was fueled by worries over job security for 
school administrators, who stood to lose the most, though the debate 
rarely touched on how consolidation would advance education. No-
tably, those who stayed quiet on the consolidation issue would suffer 
the most. The Mississippi House and Senate, meeting in Jackson, then 
chose to scrap the consolidation component of the law. Senate Edu-
cation Committee head Jack Gordon sought a three-year moratorium 
on consolidations, thinking this would allow other urgent issues, like 
boosting teacher wages and examining tax hikes, to take precedence 
without the additional pressure of consolidation deadlines. In wanting 
to delay the process, Gordon and his fellow legislative leaders were 
cautious not to further undermine the Education Reform Act, leading 
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to the implementation of only two of its initiatives: placing assistant 
teachers in early primary classes and enforcing school attendance 
laws.296

When the Laurel School District was ordered to desegregate in 
1970, it had 6,073 students; 2,833 (around 46%) were black, and 3,270 
(about 54%) were white. At the same time, the Jones County School 
District agreed to a desegregation plan with 8,279 students, 79% of 
whom were white and 21% black. Over time, the student count and 
racial mix in Jones County remained somewhat the same, showing 
8,478 students (81% white and 19% black) by the 1988-89 academic 
year. However, Laurel’s enrollment dropped sharply to 3,215, and ra-
cial proportions shifted significantly, with 75% of the students being 
black and 25% white in the 1988-89 school year. This change signifies 
that while Jones County School District has consistently been recog-
nized as predominantly white since 1970, it has gradually started to be 
seen as a majority-black district.297

On December 17, 1987, Mayor Sam Lindsey unveiled an annex-
ation lawsuit against the Laurel and Jones County school boards in the 
Jones County Chancery Court. City leaders were anxious about the 
potential changes to schools if the area north of Laurel, measuring 413 
square miles, were to become a part of the city. Both school districts 
were criticized for breaching civil rights laws by allowing children 
in the city of Laurel to attend county schools. The racial mix in both 
urban and county schools was uniform, with a balance of 70 percent of 
both black and white students. City Council had previously dismissed 
the idea that schools would be a problem during the 1986 annexation 
discussions, up until new regulations came into effect later that year, as 
Mayor Lindsey emphasized. The lawsuit also broached the hot button 
issue of school consolidation. As stated in the claim, the Mississippi 
school statute had been implemented with a racially biased agenda, 
contradicting federal and civil rights voting laws in America. This pol-
icy endorsed annexation but let children within this new city area con-
tinue their education in county schools, took away the parents’ vote on 
the governance of city schools, planned to allocate city school taxes to 
county school districts within the annexed area, and outlawed merging 
school districts without the agreement of all parties involved. This was 
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seen as a strategy to allow school districts with a predominantly white 
student body to evade consolidating with predominantly black school 
districts.298

Lindsey thought seriously about merging schools when consid-
ering the annexation. He proposed a central high school that could 
serve over 2,000 students, possibly the best in the state. Yet, he ac-
knowledged the strong opposition to merging school districts and 
the requirement for building permits. Many residents moved outside 
Laurel to escape the city schools and to maintain their current unre-
stricted land use without the hassle of permits. In US District Court, 
city attorney Harold Melvin and county attorney Terry Caves sparred 
over whether Laurel’s annexation case should be locally or federally 
tried. Melvin challenged the state’s school law as “patently racial” and 
pushed for federal courts to assess its constitutionality. Caves main-
tained that the constitutional query could be settled by a county judge. 
Magistrate Britt Singletary heard the arguments and was evaluating 
the next steps, with the expectation that a federal decision would be 
quicker than one in Chancery Court.299

On August 25, 1988, a pivotal meeting took place in the court-
house auditorium regarding the fate of the city’s school board. Lawyer 
Richard Yoder shared that a directive had come from Judge Singletary 
at 5:30 in the evening, mandating the disbandment of the board. Sharp 
divisions marked the panel, evident in the voting outcome of 3 to 2—
three white members voted in favor of merging schools, and two black 
members opposed. Amidst the proceedings, Rev. Johnny Anderson, 
Laurel school board member and vice president of the Laurel-Jones 
NAACP, voiced his strong objections to how the merger process was 
unfolding, earning support from the present crowd. Barbara Brum-
field-Pruitt, the board’s president, shared Anderson’s sentiment, yet 
the agenda for the night was followed. During a subsequent closed 
meeting, an in-camera session sparked resistance from NAACP Pres-
ident Manuel Jones and parent Janice Hollingsworth, who remained 
seated in protest. Confrontation escalated, prompting the intervention 
of police, although Jones and Hollingsworth left of their own accord 
before any arrests. Afterwards, Yoder communicated to the now in-
trigued and upset audience that the board decided against fighting the 



144

order and would proceed to formally consent to the disbanding.300

Following the directive’s issuance, the Laurel-Jones County 
branch of the NAACP, alongside four students, filed a request for court 
intervention in the lawsuit. A community forum was orchestrated by 
Jones at the St. Elmo Baptist Church to deliberate on the school dis-
trict consolidation. The venue was filled to capacity, with several Afri-
can American local councilors, county officials, and former members 
of the Laurel School Board in attendance. Despite their presence, the 
sentiment among attendees was one of betrayal by most incumbents, 
criticizing their role in the dissolution of African American schools. 
Arwilla Davison, a longstanding participant in pivotal decisions for 
African Americans post-school integration, addressed the crowd. “All 
these people you marked your ‘X’ for [flushed] you down the drain,” 
she said. “The Laurel City Hall, they knew about this.”301

Davison reflected the sentiments shared by others at the meeting, 
asserting that the district’s closure was timed with the rise of African 
Americans in leadership roles, suggesting the system was changing 
to suit certain interests. She criticized the silence of black officials 
until now, questioning why discussions were only starting when simi-
lar, white-led conversations began in November. She called for action 
rather than mere talk and encouraged proposals from the audience. Dr. 
Morris Kinsey from the state NAACP identified the district’s actions 
as rooted in racial avoidance, as white families moved away or opted 
for private schooling to prevent their children from attending schools 
in primarily black areas, despite African Americans experiencing bus-
ing since the start of integration. “The bottom line is that the move by 
the school board is due to white flight and racism. Whites don’t want 
their students bused to black neighborhoods. African Americans have 
been bused ever since there has been integration.”302

Manuel Jones promptly employed Michael Alderman, an attorney 
with roots in Michigan now practicing in Hattiesburg, to take on a 
case aimed at halting the consolidation of two school districts on Sep-
tember 1. Jones and Morris Kinsey stirred up the community with a 
march against the district merger. Kinsey declared, “While the lawyer 
is doing his job, we must get out there and do ours.” A voter’s event 
was planned as part of the march, and Jones arranged a meeting with 
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Circuit Judge Roy Hunt Boutwell to facilitate voter registration at the 
courthouse. Before the march, Alderman briefed a large audience, urg-
ing parents and students to engage in the case. The gathering high-
lighted Susie Ruffin’s influential spiritual presence, with her strong 
vision leading the way. The support of the black community was large-
ly secured by Ruffin, Kinsey, Jones, and Rev. Anderson, though one 
NAACP member voiced opposition to the group’s stance against the 
merger, arguing it was a favorable development for Laurel and that the 
NAACP was entirely wrong in its opposition.303

Two weeks of planning led up to the day when protesters, bearing 
ban- ners with messages like “Remember Oak Park School” and “How 
Far Will Your Child Be Bused,” gathered 500 strong at Oak Park. They 
marched to the Jones County Courthouse. Despite the drizzling rain, 
they lifted their voices in protest songs while walking through down-
town Laurel. The majority of the participants were young people. Al-
though content with the turnout, particularly the presence of youths, 
Jones voiced his disappointment at the low representation of black 
elected officials. Laurel City Council’s George Gaddy was the only 
one who stood out that day. “We will retaliate at the ballot box,” Jones 
declared. During the march, young people made their opinions clear to 
the press, with 9th grader Stephanie McCormick from Watkins School 
predicting increased fights if schools were merged. Others told the 
Laurel Leader-Call they’d refuse to attend school elsewhere if clo-
sures happened. They aimed to make a strong statement at the court-
house against school consolidation.304

Following a protest, Mac Holladay, Mississippi’s appointed chief 
of the Economic Development Department, swiftly addressed the trust-
ees of the Economic Development Authority (EDA) in Jones County, 
touching on recent occurrences in Laurel. He opened the discussion 
stressing the importance of uniting regional assets and organizations. 
Holladay expressed his desire for a seamless merger of the state’s Re-
search and Development Center, anticipating it would meet the posi-
tive expectations set by the 1988 Legislature. He acknowledged not 
all would favor the consolidation, stating, “Consolidation won’t make 
everybody happy, but that’s not my job. I want to put together the very 
best team to give Mississippi the best opportunity for growth 
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The March Against School Consolidation (Courtesy of 
the Hattiesburg American)

and economic development.” They projected merging the two areas 
could save city and county dwellers between $500,000 and $1 million 
annually in taxes. Mayor Lindsey supported this, noting the economic 
necessity of the move. Meanwhile, the NAACP grew suspicious, in-
terpreting the merge as favoring those in power rather than committing 
to meaningful education improvements.305 

The NAACP has scheduled a boycott targeting the commercial-
ized policies of Laurel School District to coincide with the Christmas 
shopping period. In a meeting at St. Elmo Baptist Church on October 
13, Reverend John Anderson explained to a crowd of 150 people how 
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a boycott can impact tax revenue by avoiding purchases. NAACP’s 
Earl Shinhoster, who attended the rally, concurred with Anderson and 
pointed out the problem of insufficient African American input in ed-
ucational decision-making. He emphasized the critical importance of 
education and the demand for representation in decisions about merg-
ing schools.306

At St Elmo Baptist Church, the local NAACP chapter commenced 
preparations for a renewed protest, taking cues from their previous 
march in September. This occasion, however, was to coincide with 
an NAACP national radio event aimed at attracting new members and 
rallying support from community businesses. Jones declared on Oc-
tober 13 that their demonstration would challenge the unjust nature 
of the town’s unification process, asserting it an opportunity to clarify 
the community’s inclusivity of African Americans in its governance. 
He maintained that the merger was tainted by racial bias, noting that 
despite being the majority in Laurel, African Americans lacked gov-
ernmental representation. To broaden the Laurel Branch’s outreach, 
a three-hour live segment on WQIS was scheduled at Ruth’s Place 
downtown. The planned protest was to start near Sandy Gavin School. 
During an animated meeting, Rev. Johnny Anderson urged the congre-
gation to stand firm in their demand for justice, making it clear that the 
time for passive strategy had passed. “It is not a time for diplomacy. 
It is a time to fight for your rights,” he said. “On Saturday, we will be 
heard!”307

After two days, 200 demonstrators came together at Sandy Gavin 
around 10:30 am. Jones anticipated 1,000 participants but remained 
optimistic through his faith, recalling a biblical message about the 
power of small groups. The protesters made their way through down-
town Laurel, chanting the iconic anthem “We Shall Overcome.” Chil-
dren waved signs that read “No Consolidation” and “Let Freedom 
Live On.” When they reached the courthouse, Manuel Jones stepped 
up to address the crowd. He criticized the merger proponents for by-
passing the local NAACP and insisted they would eventually have to 
negotiate with those who challenged the consolidation legally. Jones 
revealed the Jones County EDA’s attempt to bypass the local chapter 
by involving the NAACP offices in Atlanta and Jackson and disregard-



148

ed EDA claims as untrue. As their court date loomed, Jones was ada-
mant that their voices would be heard. “We not going to hush up.”308
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9

SAVING A STAPLE, 
RIDDING A PROBLEM

Poor people know they have to accept [what] they cannot change. 
Now we are waiting on all the things that were promised.
- Omeria Scott, 1989

I won’t give up. I’m as determined as sugar is sweet.
- Marzelle Clayton, 1989

In early December 1988, the pushback against Governor Mabus’s plan 
to shut down the state’s charity hospitals was a common sentiment 
among state lawmakers and local government representatives who ad-
dressed a gathering on the South Mississippi State Hospital’s front 
lawn. The rally attendees, approximately 500 strong, braved the cold 
winds, many hold- ing signs to signal to Mabus and the legislature 
that “while poor, we vote.” As they listened to the speakers’ earnest 
requests to prevent the hospital’s closure, Rep. Gary Staples of Lau-
rel, received loud cheers for his em- phatic challenge to the governor. 
“Governor, read my lips—you’re wrong, wrong, wrong.” Other poli-
ticians, such as Rep. Vincent Scoper of Laurel, Rep P.A. Townsend of 
Laurel, and Dr. James Anderson, founder of the Medical Committee 
for Human Rights, attended the rally to advocate for the state’s hos-
pital system, along with county officials from the area. Rep. Johnny 
Stringer of Jasper County pointed out that most people he repre- sent-
ed depended on South Mississippi State Hospital and overwhelmingly 
support its continued operation.309
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The South Mississippi Charity Hospital (Courtesy of the Mississippi 
Department of Archives and History)

The primary issue for speakers and supporters was keeping medi-
cal services available for the state’s low-income workers. Additional-
ly, Jo Moody, a nurse at the facility, voiced worry over the staff’s job 
security in light of these developments. Carolyn Boutwell, administra-
tor of South Mississippi State Hospital, noted that uncertainty is a re-
curring problem every year when it’s time to allocate funds for charity 
hospitals. Nonetheless, she argued that it was unfair to the employees, 
advocating for a lasting solution to the funding controversy. The char-
ity, despite its longstanding rigorousness to maintain support, was a 
staple for poor Mississippians.310

Until the end of the 19th century, with minimal government help, 
people in Mississippi mostly depended on nearby medical profession-
als for health care. In severe situations, the poor turned to the limited 
charity hospitals in major cities such as Natchez, Vicksburg, Jack-
son, and Me- ridian. In 1916, Senator Theodore Bilbo established the 
South Mississippi Charity Hospital in Laurel and recommended to put 
more in other sections of the state. Subsequently, the three main char-
ity hospitals in the state were located in Laurel, Vicksburg, and Me-
ridian. Still, as healthcare was still a resource prioritized for whites, 
at the hospitals, African Americans and whites had separate wards, 
separate entrances, and separate nurses. For example, at Laurel Gen-
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eral Hospital in Laurel, only two rooms with four beds were allocated 
for African American patients, and there was not a dedicated nursery 
for their newborns, unlike ones available for white babies. African 
Americans in Jones County not only lacked access to necessary care 
for infants, such as monitoring or incubation, due to the absence of 
appropriate facilities, they suffered from segregated, substan- dard 
hospital conditions and access to doctors. Historian Thomas Ward 
notes in Black Physicians in the Jim Crow South that Mississippi had 
the lowest number of African American doctors for its black popula-
tion, exceeding a million; with just one for every 18,527 people from 
1932 to 1942, the state only had fifty-eight African American doctors, 
sometimes even fewer.311

As the struggle for adequate healthcare became more define, May-
or George Flaggs of Vicksburg referred to it as “the third Civil Rights 
Move- ment.” After 1975 there was a decline in political and eco-
nomic support for African American health, leading to poorer health 
outcomes compared to whites after 1980, and the mid-1980s marked 
the first decrease in life expectancy for African Americans in the 20th 
century. African American life expectancy for African Americans de-
clined from 69.7 in 1984 to 68.4 years old in 1989 while whites were 
living until 75. Throughout the 1980s many hospitals relocated from 
heavily African American communities to predominantly white subur-
ban communities. Mabus’s announcement of getting out of the charity 
hospital business ignited a new fight for health- care.312

In January 1989, Governor Ray Mabus, a Harvard Law School 
Grad- uate and the former state auditor, proposed a total reorganiza-
tion of Mississippi’s government. Two years prior, Mabus managed to 
secure legislative backing for various restructuring plans proposed by 
the Reorganization Study Commission; this included establishing the 
Department of Finance and Administration (DFA) and abolishing the 
local charity hospitals and the Eleemosynary Board. Mabus proposed 
that the state legislators consider eliminating the $103,000 funding for 
the Eleemosynary Board that oversaw the charity hospital. He sug-
gested transferring the hospital’s management to the State Board of 
Health. He argued that since Medicaid largely took over providing 
medical care for the poor, the state’s use for the charity hospital 



152

Ray Mabus standing at a podium (Courtesy of the Mississippi Depart-
ment of Archives and History)

was obsolete. He recommended shutting down the charity hospitals, 
believing they hardly served anyone. He also advised reallocating 
the $68 million they receive from Medicaid each year towards new 
economic ventures. Mabus’s decision was heavily influenced by Dr. 
Clinton Smith, former Laurel pediatrician turned Mississippi’s Direc-
tor of Medicaid. Smith was convinced that a more robust Medicaid 
system would benefit the state’s working poor who lacked insurance. 
He planned to broaden Medicaid’s reach to include a larger number of 
citizens. Smith predicted that, over the next few years, around 32,000 
additional people would receive Medicaid coverage.313

At the Mississippi State of the State Address on January 3, 1989, 
Mabus gave his remarks about the state’s economic situation in front 
of a panel of legislators. Consistent with his entire political career, 
Mabus talked about progressivism in Mississippi. He devoted roughly 
one-third of his lengthy 42-minute address on the legislative session’s 
opening day to building a case for an intensive overhaul of state gov-
ernment. The proposal would pull roughly 135 state agencies and de-
partments under the yolk of a dozen major governmental divisions, 
reduce the executive chain of command, and allow the Governor more 
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authority to hire and fire top administrators in state government. The 
tepid reception to Mabus’s 42-minute speech was punctuated with a 
few boos when the Governor spoke about the closure of charity hos-
pitals. With his relatively bland, technocratic language, restrained de-
meanor, and jet-speed pace, he set out to show the public that Missis-
sippi could be a player in the wealthy, quickly homogenizing world of 
1980s medical care.314

The idea was to eliminate state support for charity hospitals, but 
whether these hospitals could remain open would hinge on local fund-
raising efforts or if a private enterprise would step into the void. The 
expansion of Medicaid was seen as a victory by progressive politicians 
and child welfare advocates, with some anti-abortion activists also 
supporting better healthcare for mothers and babies. Traditionally, 
Medicaid for these groups was linked to being part of the Aid to Fam-
ilies with Dependent Children (AFDC) program, but states had the 
option to offer Medicaid to pregnant women not in AFDC, leading to 
some shifts in AFDC and Medicaid qualifications. The 1988 Census 
revealed that less than half of America’s 32 million poor benefitted 
from Medicaid, as states had a lot of say over who was eligible, espe-
cially children and families, resulting in many not being covered due 
to low state income thresholds for AFDC and Medicaid. Vincent Sco-
per, a former election official turned senator, challenged the idea that 
expanding Medicaid would support those relying on charity hospitals. 
He noted that over time, changes to Medicaid and AFDC had led to 
certain groups qualifying for Medicaid based solely on income and 
assets. He expressed concern that altering the eligibility requirements 
could lead to an overwhelming increase in enrollees.315

Mabus started approaching the hospital funding conflict from a 
fresh perspective. Seven years prior, during the previous major dispute 
regarding the financing of the three charity hospitals, representatives 
from northern Mississippi and the Gulf Coast failed to eliminate the 
charity hospitals. Yet, they managed to secure higher payments for 
local hospitals to treat patients unable to pay. In 1982, Governor Wil-
liam Winter acknowledged that the system for providing health care 
to the needy was unjust. He emphasized that the solution was not to 
stop funding existing charity hospitals but to distribute funds for the 
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needy’s health care more fairly. Winter conceded that legislators fight-
ing to phase out the charity hospitals are “beginning to recognize there 
is a marked disparity in the distribution of indigent care money.”316

For Mabus, the dilemma was straightforward: determining the 
best way to offer health care to Mississippi’s low-income residents. He 
agreed that charity hospitals did provide help. Nonetheless, the state 
was unable to support health care at charity hospitals to the same ex-
tent as at Delta Medical Center in Greenville, St. Dominic Hospital, 
Baptist Medical Center in Jackson, and other private facilities. As a 
result, impoverished Mississippians were getting less health care than 
they should, due to a two-tiered medical system that disadvantages 
those who are poor or live in certain areas.317

The response to the speech was not internally supported. Even 
with Mabus’s vows, those in favor of the hospitals felt it would leave 
many without Medicaid uninsured. Supporters of the Charity hospital 
accused Mabus of using the matter for political gain. They saw clear 
political motives from the other side as well. In particular, regional 
lawmakers with voters linked to the hospitals suggested Mabus was 
ignoring the needs of the poor. Some believed that keeping things as 
they would harm more low-income individuals than the hospital’s 
aid. They argued that closing the Charity hospitals could end unequal 
healthcare in those regions—a subpar level for the poor and a superior 
one for others. Concerns were raised for patients too rich for Medicaid 
but too poor for private health insurance. Mabus had committed to 
attracting more doctors for the poor via the National Health Service, 
making sure all hospitals give emergency care to the poor, and creating 
a hotline to help impoverished people find medical help.318

Despite opposition, he garnered backing from legislators in the 
Gulf Coast and northern Mississippi to consider closing hospital doors 
since those regions did not have one. During the initial construction 
of hospitals in Mississippi, legislators faced resistance from plantation 
owners, who feared widespread diseases like smallpox or tuberculosis. 
Carolyn Bout-well believed the solution would be to establish charity 
hospitals in areas that did not have them. She proposed to transform 
the University Medical Centers into such facilities. Alternatively, Ma-
bus suggested creating federally qualified health centers and starting a 
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Marzelle Clayton in his front yard (Courtesy of the Laurel-Jones Black 
History Museum and Arts)

hotline to guide those in poverty to medical support.319

On the following day, Marzell Clayton, who established the orga-
nization People Helping People in Laurel and served as its treasurer 
and secretary, hand-delivered letters to Eric Clark, the Head of the 
House Rules Committee, and Tim Ford, the Speaker of the House. The 
letters requested the lawmakers to postpone decisions on Mabus’s pro-
posal until a January 26 meeting of the Eleemosynary Board, which 
had decided to listen to arguments to keep the hospitals operational. 
Ford mentioned he had not received the letters and did not commit 
to adhering to Clayton’s plea. Standing noticeably taller than others 
at over six feet, Clayton’s distinct feature was his greying Jheri curl 
at his hairline. Despite his modest means, as he referred to himself as 
part of the “po folk,” he proudly wore his signature blue jeans every-
where—whether attending legislative ses- sions or discussing issues 
with government officials like the Governor, congressmen, and local 
leaders. Clayton’s focus was to gather funds to convert a closed charity 
hospital into a clinic. His approach to fundraising was straightforward, 
appealing for just one dollar from every person’s paycheck in the state. 
“We’re asking for a dollar from everyone in the state from each pay-
check,” he stated. “We are going to have to fight. We must fight.”320
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Omeria Scott, born in Laurel and forging a career as a Nursing 
Home Administrator at the Meadow manor Intermediate Care Facility, 
became president of the Committee for the Continued Funding Opera-
tion and Ex- pansion of the Charity Hospitals (CFO), a group dedicat-
ed to safeguarding the continued financial support and growth of the 
Charity Hospitals. This passion for healthcare advocacy was not from 
personal hospital experience but was kindled when her aunt, Arwilla 
Davison, who served on the Eleemosynary Board, faced the challeng-
es when the Natchez Charity Hospital funding was cut in May 1987, 
as Mississippi redirected its financial resources amidst the facility’s 
decline. Davison recognized the grave consequences of shutting down 
the hospital, alerting Scott with a serious warning that echoed the peril 
of a domino effect across other hospitals. This was particularly alarm-
ing for pastors in Jasper County who joined the fight for funding.321

The CFO outlined plans for a rally on January 18 at the State Cap-
itol in Jackson. Clergy not only voiced their support but also worked to 
transport backers of the cause. Meanwhile, Scott, with fellow activists 
and committee members, mobilized a petition to confront Governor 
Mabus with public sentiment. They tirelessly spread the petition for 
signatures, from hospital desks to church doors, and from neighbor 
to neighbor, gathering an impressive tally of over 20,000 signatures 
backing their stance. Rooted in her faith and keen on justice for the 
underprivileged, Scott maintained that true Christian values included 
compassion for the poor. This belief propelled her into the Charity 
Hospital Movement, driven by the conviction that the fight transcend-
ed race—it was a matter of moral and Christian principles.322

Omeria Scott, alongside her spouse and fellow CFO colleagues, 
made the trip to Jackson three times a week. Their mission was to con-
vince state senators to support the hospital petition. Dorothy Rustin, 
affectionately known as Dot by those close to her, had been a pas-
sionate advocate for the hospital since the late ‘50s. However, due to 
health issues related to high blood pressure, her doctor advised against 
travel. “The doctor said the stress makes my blood pressure too high 
for traveling,” Rustin shared. “Still, I’ve done my part by speaking 
out, signing petitions, and even driving ill folks to the state hospital, 
the only place they can afford. We desperately need more hospitals. If 
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the Governor spent just one day in my life, he’d understand.” Rustin 
ran Dots Cash and Carry, a local store in the Rustin Community, some 
13 miles from Laurel. For years, she was the one who’d give people 
rides to the South Mississippi State Hospital if they lacked transporta-
tion or the funds for a doctor’s visit.323

On the way to the rally, Mayor Bucklew was at the forefront of the 
convoy filled with advocates as they departed the city. The highway 
patrol was on hand in each city they passed, ensuring they navigat-
ed through traffic smoothly. When they arrived in Jackson, around 
300 supporters from Laurel, donned in yellow ribbons and heavily 
wrapped in coats, joined the protest. The corridors of the state Capitol 
buzzed with activity as the demonstrators, armed with signs, filled the 
Senate galleries to brimming. The signs they carried bore messages 
about the concerns of Mississippi’s poor. As the demonstrators fully 
occupied the building, Capitol officials, acknowledging their protest 
rights and the consideration due to older participants, set out chairs for 
them to sit and rest. At 12:01 pm, the group gathered on the Capitol 
steps. Scott ascended the steps and shared a unifying statement, noting 
the diverse representation of people united by a singular goal: to pre-
serve and hopefully extend the charity hospital network in the region, 
including North Mississippi and the Gulf Coast.324

Barbara Jones, secretary of the CFO, observed significant sup-
port from the House of Representatives members for the state hospital 
system. “We’re not backing down and we’re going to ramp up our 
efforts,” she declared. Jones showed concern that Governor Mabus’s 
focus on expanding Medicaid coverage to an additional 32,000 indi-
viduals overshadowed the needs of the uninsured. Following a near-
ly 45-minute demonstration, some protesters, including Dot Rustin, 
secured a meeting with Governor Mabus. Rustin vowed they would 
not quit, as many lives hung in the balance. She shared the challenges 
faced by Jones County with the Governor, but he responded confident-
ly that his plan would succeed, noting that it would extend Medicaid to 
families earning less than $22,500 per year. He also mentioned a poll 
suggesting his growing popularity. Despite this, Rustin challenged the 
relevance of the poll, arguing that it did not capture the true sentiments 
of Jones County residents towards the governor. She left the meeting 
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uncertain about the future of healthcare.325

After putting in months of hard work to rally support for the char-
ity hospital network, Omeria Scott and Barbara Jones returned to 
Laurel with disappointing news. The outcome of the House vote did 
not align with their hopes. She expressed concern over the lack of a 
backup plan for individuals who don’t meet Medicaid’s criteria. Ac-
cording to Jones, the notion that welfare is the best economic strategy 
for assistance is a dismal perspective. She emphasized that a similar 
level of investment in economic development, as seen in the efforts 
to dismantle state hospitals, could have led to a more favorable situa-
tion. That evening, the South Mississippi State Hospital in Laurel saw 
the CFO gather for a candlelight vigil and prayer service on the front 
lawn. Eberta Spinks guided participants in singing hymns as they held 
candles, standing against the Governor’s suggested changes. They un-
furled a set of petitions bordered with red, with the theme “Mississippi 
Speaks.” These petitions, filled with heartfelt pleas, were displayed 
prominently to express impetus and goodwill for the perceived obso-
lete hospital.326

Despite the demonstration not changing Mabus’s stance, it did 
succeed in one aspect—it garnered more support from legislators for 
the charity hospitals. Several state representatives had indicated that 
there is sufficient backing in both the House and the Senate to ensure 
the continued funding and operation of the hospitals. The following 
week witnessed a second vote by ten Senate Executive Reorganiza-
tion Committee members regarding the hospital’s fate. On January 23, 
Senator Cy Rosenblatt, serving as the vice chair of the Public Health 
and Welfare Committee, insisted on yet another vote after verifying 
at least ten times that he had the necessary support for the motion’s 
success. Rosenblatt believed the hospital’s supporters were in the mi-
nority within the Senate, but it appeared that he was mistaken. He 
described the situation as “getting caught with your pants down.”327

Even though they secured a victory, the conflict was far from over. 
The House was still embroiled in disputes regarding the issue. The 
CFO felt deceived upon learning about the subsequent vote. Barbara 
Jones warned that continuous re-voting on the future of the hospitals 
might lead to vot- er exhaustion. On February 8, around 75 hospital \



159

The candlelight visual in front of the South Mississippi Hospital (Courte-
sy of Rachel Summers)

advocates from Laurel made their way to Jackson to witness the debate 
and voting process in the House. Among them were Omeria Scott and 
Barbara Jones, who carried a collection of petitions signed by 200,000 
people. Despite the House passing the initial vote narrowly, the Sen-
ate’s proposed legislation was left to unaddressed.328

A crucial decision was made after Representative George Flaggs 
of Vicksburg, a self-taught politician from Vicksburg, proposed a 
change. He suggested removing the hospitals from the proposal, fo-
cusing only on growing the Medicaid program. During the discussion, 
there was a strong show of lawmakers arguing to keep the hospitals 
running. Tension rose between Flaggs and Mabus, almost leading to a 
fight. Flaggs angrily asserted that he believed in expanding the Med-
icaid program, but “not on the backs of charity hospitals” and that the 
Legislature could find $6 million to expand the Medicaid program and 
save the hospitals. “You’re picking on the poor,” he angrily protested. 
When things calmed down, the Mississippi House decided by a vote of 
68 to 52. This would officially close the hospitals, not letting any new 
patients in after June 15. The plan was to use the $68 million meant for 
the hospitals to enhance the state Med- icaid program, which would 
be boosted by federal money at a four-to-one match. With this bill, 
Mabus said, it meant that everyone, no matter their income or location, 
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should get health care of the same quality. He praised the House’s 
action as “a bold step toward improving health care for needy citizens 
throughout the state.”329

Supporters of charity hospitals were heartbroken when a proposed 
change was turned down. “People are crying,” Omeria Scott declared. 
“They’ve been through this before; they know what’s coming.” Al-
though exhausted, Scott and Barbara Jones remained hopeful. The 
thought that frightened them was the possibility of individuals avoid-
ing medical care until it became an emergency, Jones emphasized, 
pointing out that just in 1988, the three charity hospitals dealt with 
64,000 outpatient visits. Scott stated again that the uncertain future 
and limited federal funding only benefit a small number of patients 
and hospitals. She highlighted the importance of the charity hospi-
tals in Mississippi, where the cost for a patient is $220 a day, a stark 
contrast to the $480 a day at other hospitals. Scott warned that if this 
affordable option is lost, low-income workers would be left with no 
choice but to endure their ailments quietly.330

Yearly struggles to secure funding for charity hospitals were 
commonly recognized in the state Legislature, but this year marked a 
unique situation with the proposal to shut them down originating from 
the governor’s office. Officials from Governor Mabus’ team high-
lighted his readiness to tackle contentious matters, despite the risks 
involved. Mabus emphatically argued that the hospitals were inade-
quately financed and symbolized a less favorable level of a two-tiered 
healthcare system in Mississippi. He stressed the importance of striv-
ing towards a future where a person’s location and income would not 
dictate the quality of healthcare they receive.331

On February 23, the hospital advocates were delighted with the 
news from the legislative body. Cheers filled the state senate when 
the vote turned in favor of keeping Mississippi’s three charity hos-
pitals running, with a count of 28 to 23. Throughout the prolonged 
discussions and persuasion efforts, senators not only chose to broad-
en Medicaid but also deliberately excluded the charity hospitals from 
this legislation, while concurrently approving the financial support to 
maintain these facilities. Vince Scoper expressed satisfaction with the 
decision but acknowledged the lingering threat of a gubernatorial 
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Another protest in front of the South Mississippi Charity Hospital (Courtesy 
of Rachel Summer)

veto, recognizing that the final decision, despite public opinion, was 
still up in the air. Governor Mabus had not abandoned his plans to 
broaden Medicaid and shutter the charity hospitals by July 1. Despite 
this outcome, the matter remains unresolved, as Mabus reaffirmed his 
commitment to his goals, commenting post the morning senate vote 
that he would pursue the issue with unremitting effort, as noted in his 
office’s public statement.332

Despite the recent approval of a Senate Bill, the state’s finan-
cial commitment to funding hospital operations remained tepid. Dr. 
James Urban Morrison, medical director at South Mississippi State 
Hospital, spoke to the lawmakers to shed light on the obstacles they 
were encountering. He attributed the hospital’s deficiencies solely to 
the lack of financial resources. Dr. Morrison shared alarming statistics 
that revealed Laurel Hospital’s funding was a meager $16,410 per pa-
tient per day, a sharp contrast to Jones County Community Hospital’s 
$48,234.333

Dr. Morrison argued that with sufficient funding to meet actual 
ex- penses and match the services provided elsewhere, they could ef-
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ficiently handle the state’s medical needs. Yet the situation was critical. 
South Mis- sissippi was making do with outdated surgical instruments 
and a shortage of equipment. For example, having only one fetal 
monitor meant that if three women went into labor at the same time 
and faced complications, it could result in over $100,000 in added 
healthcare costs. He also pointed out the disparity in wages, noting 
that while a top nurse at the University Hospital could earn $15 an 
hour, his hospital was only able to pay $9. The proposition to have 
these charity hospitals self-sufficient was dismissed as unrealistic by a 
former Eleemosynary Board member, given that these hospitals cater 
to the underprivileged, including employed people who do not have 
health insurance and don’t meet the criteria for Medicaid or other state 
aid. Dr. Morrison recognized the lawmakers’ reluctance to fund ser-
vices that their voters may not directly benefit from, yet he stressed 
that it is the responsibility of the entire state to support the hospital. 334

Supporters of the hospital worked hard to sustain public support 
that grew from earlier petitions and demonstrations at the start of the 
year. On March 12, about 150 of them gathered again at the Jones 
County Court- house for a new rally set by the CFO. Hospital advo-
cates were adamant on that critical Saturday night, declaring “We’ve 
lost some fights, but not the war.” In this meeting, supporters of the 
charity hospital listened as a group of legislators and a past governor 
made assurances to continue their efforts until the very end. “The bat-
tle isn’t over until it’s over,” pro- claimed Rev. CE Appleberry, presi-
dent of the Concerned Citizens of Lau- derdale County, emphasizing 
their determination to fight on. He indicated that any defeat would be 
temporary, predicting that future events could see improvement. The 
absent Mabus faced severe critique from speakers in the crowded, hot 
courtroom. Attendees were reminded to remember Mabus and his ac-
tions during the 1991 reelection. Former Laurel Mayor Henry Buck-
lew passionately appealed to the audience not to cast their votes for 
someone who seemed uncaring and coldhearted.335

Former Governor of Mississippi, William Allain, was among the 
gathering. Known for his frequent references to the Bible, Allain de-
livered a talk stressing the significance of health care access for all 
citizens. He highlighted the constraints that Medicaid would impose 
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on the lower income working population. Peaking in his involvement, 
Allain actively sought out and spoke to those who would suffer from 
hospital shutdowns. “Throughout my time as Governor and Attorney 
General, I’ve prioritized access to quality healthcare,” he stated. “It’s 
my firm belief that everyone in this state, no matter their age, wealth, 
or background, should receive the medical care they need, whether 
they can pay for it or not.” Speculation grew about Allain possibly 
seeking the governor’s seat once more.

He was widely regarded as the preferred choice among African 
American voters due to his position on the controversy surrounding 
the charity hospitals. Mississippi Representative Aaron Henry, an ad-
mirer of Allain, commended his consistent rapport with civil rights ac-
tivists, noting, “He’s kept good relations with those fighting for civil 
rights and has been an ally to our cause.” Mabus also saw his support 
among African American voters diminish because of his failed attempt 
to remove Ed Cole as the chair of the state’s Democratic Party. Henry 
expressed a belief that in a run-off with Mabus, the African American 
electorate would favor Allain if the vote occurred at that time.336

On March 16, after a half-hour debate, lawmakers voted 68-48 to 
fund Kuhn Memorial Hospital in Vicksburg—the first of four chari-
ty hospitals supporting bills they approved in a late morning session. 
The session was, however, highlighted by name-calling and bickering. 
Charity hospital op- ponents and proponents privately argued on the 
House floor, specifically between Representatives Barney Schoby and 
Horace Buckley. Schoby was one of thirteen African American House 
members who voted for the hos- pital’s funding, and Buckley was one 
of three who voted against it. Schoby, who spoke for the bills from 
the House podium, ignored three separate warnings from the House 
speaker to avoid personal attacks on Buckley. Schoby stood at the po-
dium on the House floor, looked up at the fourth- floor visitors’ gallery 
jammed with mostly black hospital supporters, and expressed words 
defending his stances that many thought had undertones of the Uncle 
Tom caricature and impious. “I never thought I’d see the day when a 
black man would come to this podium and fight against [charity hos-
pitals],” Schoby said. “These people feel these charity hospitals are 
theirs. I just can’t understand how a Christian—not only a Christian 
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but a minister of the Gospel—would come forward and speak against 
this.”337

Buckley, a Baptist minister, immediately made use of a seldom 
invoked legislative rule to claim his right to address the House, feel-
ing per- sonally offended. He approached the stand with anger and 
addressed the House, indicating that Schoby had cast doubts on his 
morals and wrongly accused him of being indifferent to the plight of 
the impoverished, which, he firmly asserted, was far from the truth. 
With a subdued yet passionate tone, he shared with the House his own 
experience of growing up in poverty on the south side of Jackson 
alongside his twin brother who became seriously sick in childhood. 
His brother was treated at a local clinic, which Buckley thought of as a 
charitable institution, though it was not among the three controversial 
charity hospitals. Buckley stated that if his brother had received ade-
quate medical treatment, he would still be alive. He conveyed the pain 
of witnessing his brother’s death and asserted his deep understanding 
of poverty and the lack of proper healthcare. Now with a chance to 
make a difference, he found it unjust to be labeled as neglectful and 
insensitive.338

Setting personal feelings aside, few questioned that Mabus would 
hes- itate to use his veto power on the funding bill—a move predicted 
to be the most contentious of his tenure. Despite demonstrations at 
the Capitol by supporters of charity hospitals, aggressive lobbying by 
influential African American leaders, and warnings of political conse-
quences from lawmak- ers representing impacted communities, Ma-
bus remained steadfast in his intent to overhaul the state’s Medicaid 
system.339

On March 21, with a signature, Mabus dashed the hopes of many 
Mississippians in need by shutting down the country’s last three chari-
ty hospital networks. He argued that his decision, focused on funneling 
the $68 million budget into an expanded Medicaid scheme, aimed to 
deliver superior healthcare to the greatest number of residents. The 
Governor underscored that potential political backlash was not a factor 
in his decision. His politics made way for a bleek future as governor. 
Yet, Mabus stood undetered.340

Mabus invited those opposed to the shutdowns to seek judicial in-
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tervention. He maintained that the initiative was rooted in government 
authority, comprising both legislative and executive branches, and 
simply stated to the opposition, “go ahead.” The state Senate solidified 
the veto by ending its session on Tuesday without addressing the is-
sue. Mabus stated his willingness to accept any political repercussions 
for cutting funding to the hospitals and their administration. However, 
Eva Farrish Ford, an advocate for the hospitals, contended that Mabus 
had committed a significant political error, emphasizing that the poor 
would not forget that moment.341

In vetoing the package of three appropriations bills, Mabus high-
lighted the need to carefully allocate scarce resources for maximum 
public benefit. Overturning his veto required a two-thirds legislative 
majority, but it did not happen. Regarding the closing of charity hos-
pitals, Mabus was clear-cut. He did not worry about the politics in-
volved, believing the policy’s value would eventually become clear. 
Mabus was candid about his setbacks, such as failing to secure the 
Walls nomination and fully reshaping the government. Yet, he took 
pride in the legislature upholding his right to appoint members to the 
Public Service Commission, maintaining his influence.342

Governor Mabus selected James C. Stubbs, who previously led 
the Mississippi State Hospital and managed the state Eleemosynary 
Board for a quarter of a century, to oversee the shutdown of the three 
hospitals. Although Stubbs had retired in early 1988, he returned 
shortly after to lead Mabus’s initiative for smoothly transitioning pa-
tients. The program’s main strategies were to increase the number of 
doctors where the hospitals being closed were situated and to set up 
assessment centers in related towns by mid-April. The centers aimed 
to connect those in need with available healthcare providers and fa-
cilities.343

As the hospital’s deconstruction was nearing, fresh thoughts were 
taking shape. Dr. JU Morrison and local entrepreneurs discussed 
setting up a nonprofit organization to run the hospital, focusing on 
helping people with Medicaid and those lacking health insurance in 
Mississippi. Toward the end of the legislative term, a law was passed 
allowing the shift of the charity hospital’s land to the municipal and 
county hands. These authorities could, in turn, pass it to a private en-
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tity. Senator Vince Scoper outlined the immediate tasks. He needed 
to confirm that physicians with restricted licenses could work in any 
medical facility. The Senate had already given the green light to this 
provision, as well as to legislation that confirmed the transfer of state 
hospital land to local governance. This local governance could, there-
after, delegate the land to a non-governmental body if they chose to. 
Moreover, Morrison urged local officials to allocate $500,000—which 
is equivalent to three mills of county property tax (a mill here means 
a tax of $1 for every $1,000 of assessed value)—to help keep the hos-
pitals running. With a $4 million operating budget, the hospital would 
be greatly improved. What they required from the officials was the tax 
cushion, to guarantee the hospital’s doors stayed open.344 

Supporters of a hospital aimed to pressure political leaders. Mar-
zell Clayton, who had been leading protests, now zeroed in on Senator 
Rick Lambert of Hattiesburg. Lambert had openly backed Ray Ma-
bus. During a 15-minute meeting with the feel of an old-time religious 
meeting, Clayton called for Lambert to be ousted. “If you’re upset with 
Senator Lambert, put your name in this book,” he urged those at a Hat-
tiesburg church. “Our votes are powerful. We’re the ones who support 
Lambert with our money. To oppose him, sign here if you’re a voter.” 
Cheers of agreement, like “Hallelujah!” and “That’s right!” filled the 
room as people signed. Clayton then went from house to house with a 
petition to gather signatures to recall the senator representing District 
45, with the goal of showing state officials the number of voters wish-
ing to retract their support for Lambert. However, Clayton didn’t know 
the exact number of signatures needed to achieve this. Not like a nor-
mal recall election where a politician is put to a new vote, Clayton’s 
plan was to have people take back the votes they had given Lambert in 
the recent November election.345

A week later, Marzell Clayton, supported by a group of about thir-
ty-six people from Laurel, Hattiesburg, and Meridian, marched from 
the Jones County Courthouse to the South Mississippi State Hospital 
in protest. Clayton addressed the assembly declaring a commitment to 
exhaust all efforts to keep the hospitals running. “We will fight for the 
rights of all poor people, both black and white, people who need these 
hospitals open. We will let the courts make the decision. I will wear 
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these blue jeans I have on up there to Washington if I have to because 
I ain’t got no suit to wear,” he professed.346

By July, People Helping People had a clear strategy to maintain 
hospital services. “Come Monday, we’re requesting a court order to 
prevent the closures,” Clayton announced. Should their appeals be ig-
nored by a jury, their next step would involve seeking an audience 
with a trio of judges, and should Governor Mabus turn a deaf ear, they 
would initiate a recall against his governorship. “I know the way, and I 
don’t mind doing anything I have to keep these hospitals alive. I know 
some people who have been talking, but they don’t have the ways of 
getting him out of office that I do,” Clayton asserted. He highlighted 
that Medicaid and Medicare, being federally funded initiatives, are 
not within the state’s jurisdiction to control—that would form the ba-
sis of their legal challenge. The funds in question were federal, not 
state, which invalidated any state interference. Clayton’s resolve was 
to either pursue legal action to immobilize those funds or bring forth 
a discrimination lawsuit, pinpointing the state’s un- equal treatment of 
its impoverished citizens.347

Shortly after, Clayton filed a class action lawsuit in the U.S. Dis-
trict Court in Hattiesburg, with the case set to be heard by Judge Dan 
M. Rus- sell. For legal representation, he requested that the state’s 
Eleemosynary Board allow People Helping People a chance to discuss 
the issue of the hospital’s closure. The following day, according to a 
court clerk in Hat- tiesburg, Clayton came back to ensure that both a 
summons and a copy of the lawsuit were sent out to Governor Mabus 
and six Eleemosynary Board members. He stipulated that the Gover-
nor had 60 days to respond after receipt, and the summonses were to 
be served within a 15-day period.348

The previous year, Clayton had sent an official letter to the Gov-
ernor, the U.S. Department of Justice, and the Eleemosynary Board, 
requesting that they hold off any decisions regarding the charity hos-
pitals until he could present his case in a hearing. However, he received 
no answers from Mabus, and the Board rejected his request for a hear-
ing, although he was later permitted to speak at the Board’s meeting 
in December. “I know the Governor got my letter. In fact, I know they 
all got my letter because I got the green-certified cards back. I gave 
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the speaker of the House of Representatives and the chairman of the 
House Rules Committee a copy of my letter and asked that no action 
be taken on the charity hospitals until after a hearing. They wouldn’t 
do it. And I don’t believe they let the House members know about it, 
either.”349

On a busy Tuesday morning on April 4, Mabus enacted legisla-
tion, concluding a strenuous debate concerning the ongoing financial 
support for state hospitals. In a subsequent press briefing, Mabus’s 
comments were unclear regarding his intention to reconvene the leg-
islature in Jackson to review measures about building upgrades and 
establishing a permanent Parole Board. “The bill that I just signed is 
going to have a measurable impact on Healthcare in Mississippi,” Ma-
bus said during a ceremony in which he signed the bill. In the next 
meeting, the Senate concluded its session without addressing the veto, 
effectively upholding it. Mabus expressed readiness to face any polit-
ical consequences for reducing the budget of the three hospitals and 
their managing committee.350

The Senate Public Health and Welfare Committee approved the 
legislation but made a change that prohibits hospitals from trying to 
seize wages from those who cannot pay their medical bills. The mod-
ification meant the bill goes back to the Executive Reorganization 
Committee, which would decide before the end of that day to meet 
their deadline. The bill aimed to increase the Medicaid budget from 
$100 million to $130 million. It also planned to boost what doctors 
get paid, allowed patients more days in the hospital, and let them have 
more prescription medicines. However, on a less positive note, the bill 
laid out a method for what to do with the old charity hospital buildings. 
The closure of the hospitals began as planned with minimal issues.351

In a move to mend relationships, Governor Mabus extended a din-
ner invitation to the 22 African American legislators in Mississippi. 
However, the invite was declined. They felt it would be insincere to 
appear content with the Governor’s actions. Among those who refused 
were Aaron Hen- ry, George Flaggs, and Barney Schoby. Schoby stat-
ed he could not enjoy a meal at the mansion after Mabus vetoed the 
legislation crucial for char-ity hospital funding, calling the veto a poor 
decision by the Governor. The timing seemed insensitive, given the 
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ongoing debate over charity hospital funding, an issue the majority of 
the Black Caucus supported. Ultimately, only about half of the caucus 
members accepted the invitation to dine with the Governor.352

Despite the setback of Mabus’s veto, the determined residents of 
Laurel kept pushing to save their hospital. The City Council unani-
mously decided to rent the hospital from the state and let a local non-
profit group, directed by Dr. J.U. Morrison, named The Mississippi 
Hospital Corporation (MHC), run it. The Council also agreed to at-
tempt leasing the hospital grounds for just $1 a year from the Gov-
ernor’s Office of General Services, allowing MHC to do the same. 
Moreover, international doctors needed their licenses extended until 
they could be made permanent. For- ty-two local doctors called on the 
Licensing Board to approve this, and the board did.353

According to the lease agreement, Morrison committed to upgrad-
ing the hospital with renovations worth $750,000 within the next five 
years. Some of those upgrades would be completed promptly to meet 
state regulations for hospital operations. Pending state approval of the 
lease, planned improvements include updating emergency exits and 
creating a sterile area where doctors and nurses can scrub in before 
surgeries. The city secured a promise from Morrison that it would not 
be responsible for the hospital’s management, which will be overseen 
by a board of directors. Once the mandatory repairs were done, the 
hospital would be ready to reopen.354

During the mandated closing week, Dr. Morrison halted his at-
tempts to keep the state-funded hospital in Laurel open beyond its 
planned shutdown date. He faced unresolved legal issues regarding the 
employment of internationally trained physicians and the utilization of 
county tax funds. Speaking on Dr. Morrison’s behalf, his representa-
tive told the press that Morrison was unlikely to return for the rest of 
the week due to taking a break after extensive efforts to maintain the 
hospital’s operations. The spokesperson estimated that about 95 to 100 
staff members would continue working through the week. The facility, 
South Mississippi State Hospital, was set to permanently shut down 
on Friday, June 30. Despite this, Morrison had until that Friday to se-
cure state approval for the med- ical staff and confirmation of financial 
support from the Jones County officials. Morrison had anticipated that 
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the county board of supervisors would raise property taxes to support 
ongoing free medical services. However, the board was counseled by 
their lawyer that legally they were unable to allocate funds for the hos-
pital. Morrison saw this legal advice as merely an opinion. From July 
1, 1989, new strict regulations for medical facilities meant the build-
ing could not receive state approval to function as a hospital.355

On the final day of the state’s charity hospital operations, tearful 
embraces and sorrowful expressions filled the corridors as staff com-
pleted their last shifts, coinciding with the state’s budget year end. The 
facility’s doors shut for good, leaving everyone affected deeply. “It’s 
the lowest I’ve ever felt,” lamented Omeria Scott. “It’s that kind of 
empty feeling you feel when you lose a loved one. I guess we’ll have 
to do as one does when they actually lose a loved one. I guess all we 
can go on is the spirit that the hospital is leaving and the memories of 
the people it has helped. It’s just unreal,” remarked Scott.
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10

NEVER BEING CONTENT
As you have people of more diverse backgrounds going into any situation, 
that brings a difference of opinions. In order to have fair representation, I 
think that is important.
- Omeria Scott, 1994

There is a sorting process, and people with jobs, education and 
resources live somewhere else, and people without live in the most 
undesirable places.
- Dr. Frank Glamser, University of Southern Mississippi Professor of So-

ciology

During the 1992 election season, many political advancements were 
made, one of which involved Omeria Scott stepping into the political 
arena by vying for a seat in the freshly established House District 80. 
This district came about following the redrawing of boundaries involv-
ing parts of Jones, Jasper, and Clarke counties, a change sanctioned 
by federal judges earlier that year. Her prior efforts in advocating 
for the Charity Hospital positioned her well for her campaign, which 
highlighted the necessity of educational and social program reforms, 
including universal healthcare. Scott’s shot at office exemplified the 
demand for a fresh kind of leadership in the state’s legislation, advo-
cating for individuals with strong moral convictions and innovative 
approaches. Committed to moving forward, Scott declared, “It is time 
for us to have God-fearing people in elected positions. This is a time 
for new thinking, a time for a new face. I am dedicated to progress.”356

The 1992 local elections sparked minimal interest from voters, 
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largely overshadowed by the presidential debates, despite the historic 
number of women progressing to the runoff stage. While women have 
held roles in the House before the 1990s, many highlight the signifi-
cance of 1992, often referred to as “The Year of the Woman.” On July 
14, candidates for the local legislative races took the stage to address 
around 40 attendees at an event hosted by the Laurel Business and 
Professional Women’s Club. Scott leveraged her brief three-minute 
allotment effectively, emphasizing her dedication to the community. 
She pledged to support those hardest hit by the 1989 shutdown of the 
charity hospital. Scott recounted the efforts in Jackson to sustain char-
ity hospitals, acknowledging the challenges they faced. “We felt we 
needed something to carry us from that point on the charity hospitals 
to a brighter day when working poor people could have affordable 
health care,” said Scott, underlining the widespread impact the closure 
had, particularly the surge in insurance costs, and asserted the need 
for action.357

Although being the only woman on the ballot, Scott secured a no-
table lead over her competitors. In Jones County, she topped the chart 
with 527 votes, outstripping James B. Jones, an African American 
WWII veteran, who amassed 316 votes; James Belding of Heidelberg, 
with 262 votes; and Marzell Clayton, who received 94 votes. Despite 
her early lead, after the counts from Jasper and Clarke counties were 
in, Scott remained ahead with 916 votes while Belding moved up to 
second with 810 votes. Jones had a total of 562 votes, and Clayton 
ended with 253. With these figures, Scott and Belding were set for a 
runoff on August 25th. The lack of a Republican challenger ensured 
that the Democratic victor would go uncontested in the November 
elections.358

By the end of August, Scott clinched District 80’s victory with a 
count of 2,122 against 1182 votes. Scott’s triumph contributed to the 
rise of black representatives in the 1993 House to 27, an increase of 
six from the previous year. With the composition of the House seeing 
a growth of black representatives, female members grew from nine to 
15. Additionally, Republican representation rose from 23 to 27. No-
tably, Representative Omeria Scott made history as the first black 
woman and person to serve Laurel in the Legislature, covering Jones, 
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Jasper, and Clark counties.359

Observers of African American political trends have noted the sig-
nificant rise in black engagement in mainstream politics starting in the 
1990s. The ability to register and vote, granted in 1965, led to a surge in 
black political representation. In 1970, only 1,460 black officials were 
elected across the U.S., but by 1989 the figure jumped to 7,226, and 
it topped 8,000 in the 1990s. Additionally, by the end of the decade, 
black elected officials were found in every state but Idaho, Montana, 
and North Dakota. In the legislative branch, African American repre-
sentation increased from 10 or 1.9% in 1970 to 26 or 5.8% in 1991. In 
the realm of city governance, by 1989, 299 cities had a black mayor, 
a significant expansion from just 48 in 1970, and of these mayors, 26 
governed large cities.360

Nearly 30 years earlier, the MFDP was striving for the increased 
representation of African American policymakers that the 1990s saw. 
Though it was not unrealistic to expect unanimous decisions from 
them, their significant presence formed a powerful coalition that could 
not be easily disregarded. Such a group had the potential to effectively 
challenge contentious legislation, including fiscal bills necessitating a 
supermajority for passing. Scott emphasizes that the key advancement 
is the newfound access and opportunities. The broader articulation of 
public issues was not merely due to the rise in African American office-
holders but also to the influx of many fresh faces in the legislature.361

Scott’s initial week in Jackson was filled with significant activities. 
She expressed satisfaction with her assigned legislative committees. A 
dedi- cated advocate for health care reform during her campaign, Scott 
proudly secured a spot on the Public Health Committee in the state’s 
House of Representatives. “I am very pleased because we had the op-
portunity to request what [committees] we really wanted from 1-10,” 
Scott stated. Additionally, she would contribute to the Oil and Gas, Ap-
portionment and Elections, and Public Buildings committees.362

Still, African American lawmakers frequently crafted legisla-
tion focused on education, with 45 such proposals. Additionally, they 
stepped up efforts in economic and community advancement through 
bills emphasizing affirmative action, such as special programs for mi-
norities. Of these, seven focused on affirmative action, but none were 
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Pro Tempore Robert Clark of Ebeneezer was presented the Political Education 
and Economic Development Foundation’s Leadership Award by Rep. Charles 
Young, Jr. of Meridian and Rep. Omeria Scott in January, 1995 at the annual 
PEEDF Banquet in Jackson. Rep. Clark was the first African American elected to 
the House of Representatives since the end of Reconstruction. Clark was Scott’s 
deskmate (Courtesy of Omeria Scott)

successful. Representative Horace Buckley commented that when 
Black legislators introduced thorough and progressive bills, they often 
faced opposition. As a workaround, Black legislators would strategi-
cally move key elements from the bill to amendments or attach them to 
different bills. This approach increased the chances of at least part of 
the original proposals being enacted.363

A variety of reasons may explain why Black lawmakers have 
struggled to enact their own bills. Yet, the clearest explanation comes 
from Representative Barney Schoby, chair of the Mississippi Legisla-
tive Black Cau- cus. During an NPR interview in April 1993, Schoby, 
a forward-thinking White legislator from Mississippi, suggested that 
Black legislators faced constant defeat in their efforts despite doubling 
their numbers from 12 to 24. He said that the overriding message be-
ing sent to Black representa- tives and the wider Black community 
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in Mississippi was that their legislative power would be diminished 
regardless of their numbers. He highlighted that relationships had 
weakened with progressive White leaders who felt betrayed by the 
redistricting process.364

Additionally, Ayres Haxton, a progressive White lawmaker who 
kept his seat post the 1992 elections, commented on the impact of re-
districting. He observed that it has created extremely split districts—
ones with only White interests or only Black interests. This division 
meant that White lawmakers were not motivated to address Black 
constituents’ needs and vice versa because their votes are not need-
ed to win elections. Despite these obstacles and the belief that Black 
voices were still somewhat on the sidelines of policymaking, the anal-
ysis points to real progress by Black legislators in Mississippi. Even 
though this progress is limited, it resonates with the saying of an old 
preacher: “We ain’t where we ought to be, we ain’t where we wanna 
be, but thank God we ain’t where we used to be!”365

Local Politics
Even with progress in political representation for African Americans, 
racial tensions persisted in Laurel. During the Charity Hospital Move-
ment, city council members of Laurel, the Jones County Board of Su-
pervisors, and local residents convened on a hot August evening to 
seek strategies for unifying their community and addressing its chal-
lenges. A team of eight was established from this assembly to plan 
actionable steps. This committee included community leaders such 
as Manuel Jones, Omeria Scott, and Susan Vincent. In 1989, Susan 
Vincent took leadership of the Jones County Concerned Citizens for 
Better Government. Before this role, she had already been working 
to bridge gaps between black and white community members. Over 
three years, she and her colleagues promised to thoroughly examine 
the community to improve racial harmony and tackle issues like eco-
nomic growth, drug abuse, teen pregnancy, and school dropouts. Their 
goal was to develop comprehensive strategies to improve life in Jones 
County for the coming century.366

Susan Vincent, inspired by her mother Billie Boone’s dedication 
to the community and passion for a litter-free Laurel, announced her 
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intention to run for mayor on February 25, 1993. The mayoral cam-
paign became the hot topic on May 3, with Susan facing off against 
the incumbent Mayor Henry Bucklew and the former comptroller Don 
Bullock in the Democratic primary. Amidst her rising political efforts 
as an open supporter of Mabus, her campaign was soon the target of 
criticism. During a news conference on June 13, which Susan attend-
ed, Dr. J.U. Morrison accused her of backing a plan to restructure the 
government as a ploy to shut down the hospital. Susan firmly denied 
the claim, stating she only supported reducing government size, an 
opinion she had shared at a 1989 public hearing in Meridian. Morrison, 
who claimed he was not trying to interfere with the election or support 
Vincent’s Republican rival Bobby Nichols, felt pressured to clear the 
air. He assured everyone that he did not vote in Laurel, nor had he do-
nated to Nichols’ campaign. Despite his assurances, the timing of his 
press conference made many suspects that it was designed to influence 
the election outcome.367

Roughly twelve of Vincent’s supporters expressed their disap-
proval of Morrison with boos following his statement. They probed 
about his earnings as a medical director and if he was compensated for 
the press briefing. Morrison, denying payment for the event, disclosed 
a $40,000 annual income from his director role, in addition to state-
paid surgery fees. Subsequent to the briefing, Vincent, from her cam-
paign office, produced a 1989-dated petition advocating for the charity 
hospital’s survival, filed with the Mississippi Department of Archives 
in Jackson.368

Vincent remained confident that her direct outreach to the citizens 
of Laurel could help her overcome the charges against her and win. 
Her efforts were fruitful as she earned a two-to-one victory against 
Don Bullock for the Democratic mayoral nomination. The campaign’s 
final weeks involved connecting with voters in face-to-face interac-
tions, telephone outreach, and advertisements. Vincent described her 
campaign as grassroots, focusing on meaningful personal dialogue 
with the electorate. With 1,765 votes over Bullock’s 925, she achieved 
a 65 percent win. Vincent’s campaign promoted a platform of renewal, 
optimism, and dedication to improving Laurel’s image.369

On July 3, Susan Vincent’s grassroot mayoral campaign outshone 
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Bobby Nichols’ expertly directed effort. With humility, Vincent of-
fered a prayer at her inauguration held at Laurel’s City Hall, marking 
the start of her historic tenure as the city’s inaugural female mayor. 
The new leaders of Laurel called for unity and collaboration at their 
oath-taking ceremony, as council members, festively attired, dealt 
with the summer heat. During the occasion, Vincent delivered a brief, 
motivational talk, encouraging res- idents to back their local officials. 
“Let’s join in moving our city forward,” Vincent urged, imagining a 
Laurel free from racial divisions and shielded from crime. She empha-
sized teamwork as the key to success for both the citizens and Laurel. 
The newly formed Laurel City Council brought a blue-collar touch, 
comprising individuals like Jeff Bailey, proprietor of a car dealership 
in Ward 1; contractor Gordon Myrick from Ward 2; lawyer David Rat-
cliff representing Ward 3; another contractor, Jones Brogdon from 
Ward 4; former NAACP leader Manuel Jones in Ward 5; Lula Cool-
ey, the first voted female council member from Ward 6; and Melvin 
Mack, an electronics sales agent from Sears managing Ward 7.370

African Americans were in powerful positions of local govern-
ment, which was a distant thought in years past. Yet, the power level 
inside was still minimal in the 1980s. Before the Vincent Adminis-
tration in Laurel, council members were still voting in “racial blocs” 
against proposals pre- vented by black councilpersons, which main-
tained a pseudo-integration of local government. Districts with ma-
jority-minority voters were largely created due to extensive racially 
divided voting. When white voters con- sistently rejected minority-fa-
vored candidates, minority voters only stood a chance to elect their 
preferred representatives if they were the majority within their voting 
district. Establishing such districts had been crucial in enabling vic-
tories for candidates favored by minorities. Nevertheless, doubts had 
grown about the long-term effects of crafting these districts. Some 
worried that they may cement or worsen racial voting divisions, lim-
iting the potential for multi-racial political alliances and reinforcing 
racial identities in politics.371

An exasperated Lula Cooley hit her breaking point in a council 
meeting, exclaiming that the “the day is gone when we have to do 
what the white man says.” Conflicts erupted but they did not lead to 
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any changes. The white council members ignored Cooley’s passionate 
pleas for or against policies, routinely casting their votes without con-
sidering her arguments. The black council members discovered that 
their white peers were meeting secretly before the sessions, coordinat-
ing their approach. In response, the black council members started to 
hold their own private meetings.372

Amidst political tension, Cooley was at the forefront of enhancing 
the influence of African Americans and women in Mississippi’s leg-
islation. Establishing the Mississippi Black Caucus for Local Elected 
Officials (MB-CLEO) and the state’s Women in Municipal Govern-
ment (WIMG), she contributed to the creation of a unified force that 
leveraged their collective voting leverage to ensure that white male 
policymakers addressed the needs of black communities and women. 
This alliance not only spotlighted critical issues but also connected 
black representatives to a wider net- work, boosting their ability to se-
cure state funds and augment their power within the Laurel city coun-
cil.373

Following prolonged internal disputes among local leaders, Vin-
cent committed to maintaining open lines of communication with the 
com- munity and the newly formed council. Melvin Mack, speaking 
for the new council, echoed her call for healing after years of acrimo-
ny: “If there must be a fight, let it be a fight against crime and against 
drugs.” The City Coun- cil acted swiftly to reintroduce public forums 
at its meetings. They consid- ered an ordinance to eliminate two ex-
isting opportunities for public in- teraction at council meetings: a 
30-minute period for six citizens to speak for five minutes each, and a 
15-minute citizens’ hearing that requires prior permission. The council 
members prioritized tackling crime and narcotics as an initial focus of 
their term.374

Crime
In the 1990s, crime substantially increased, inciting widespread con-
cern for safety even during seemingly calm moments. Eberta Spinks, 
at 77 years old, reflected on the stark contrast to the 1940s when she 
settled in Laurel, noting “Back then, I didn’t have to lock my door. 
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Now, if you’re in one end of the house, you’d better lock the oth-
er.” She detailed a recent theft when burglars forcefully entered her 
shed, taking a lawnmower and a pair of clippers. She attributed such 
crimes to the lingering impact of the previous decade’s crack epidem-
ic, observing the prevalence of loiterers, many of whom are outsiders. 
Spinks suggested drug activity could be fueling the increase in loiter-
ing and cars slowly cruising by.375

Crime in the United States had been increasing significantly since 
President Lyndon B. Johnson’s term, with the mid-1980s crack-co-
caine epidemic intensifying the situation and causing the number of 
deaths by handguns to more than double between 1985 and 1990. Pro-
active policing reforms emerged as a key part of various communi-
ty-focused strategies, pushing for changes in local law enforcement 
practices and rallying both political and private support for neighbor-
hood policing. African American urban areas were torn on how to 
handle crime amid economic struggles and urban changes, with the 
decade seeing jails overcrowd. Black politicians, activists, and police 
were at odds, at times advocating for severe crime laws and at times 
rallying against forceful policing and privacy invasions. Community 
divisions influenced how black locals and activists handled policing 
methods and increasing crime rates, with grassroots workers focusing 
on rehabilitative solutions for drug and violence prob- lems, and black 
political and law figures pushing for stricter drug laws and fixed sen-
tences for gun-related offenses.376

On July 15, 1992, Laurel was struck by a severe flood, deluging 
local communities with 5 inches of rainfall. This led to 600-plus citi-
zens evacuating their residences. The flood worsened the already poor 
condition of several homes, especially in low-income areas like Brown 
Circle in Queensburg, which suffered greatly. Nicknamed “Another 
Vietnam,” Brown Circle transformed into a chaotic battleground. A 
week after the flood, under the scorching near 100-degree summer 
sun, women and children roamed the housing complex, fanning away 
the heat while grappling with anger and sorrow as they rummaged 
through whatever possessions they retrieved from the flood. Brown 
Circle was particularly inundated by the overflowing Tallahoma 
Creek, with water invading homes up to 10 inches deep. Amidst this 
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distress, a neon-green Chevrolet abruptly raced into the scene, its 
armed occupants firing guns wildly as they drove. The vehicle sharply 
stopped, and the gunmen sprang out, continuing their rampage on foot. 
The echo of gunfire and skidding tires filled the air. “Gun!” someone 
cried out. “Someone’s shooting!” another voice screamed. In terror, 
the community members dispersed chaotically, trying to protect the 
children. Some kids were whisked into the nearest flat, while others 
were left unattended as adults scrambled for safety. Individuals either 
found cover under cars or lay flat on the ground to dodge the bullets.377

Following the gunfire, approximately a dozen officers from Laurel 
Police arrived, prompting the residents to emerge from their cover to 
survey the aftermath. As residents cautiously checked the scene from 
shattered windows, they called out to one another to be cautious. Small 
clusters of people gathered, vigilantly guarding their young ones, and 
observed the bullet-riddled vehicles and buildings with alarm. They 
pointed to marks of gunfire on the ground and gathered spent shells 
and pellets. Conversations circulated about narrow escapes from being 
shot. A pregnant woman recounted a gunman passing by her firing 
erratically, while another person described bullets hitting his car as he 
stood by it, his voice filled with distress.378

The community’s apprehension to identify the culprits became 
clear. Vincent sympathized with the neighborhood’s fear of snitching. 
“I think a lot of people who live in high-crime areas are afraid to turn 
people in. They are afraid of retaliation,” Vincent observed. Inspired 
by the Jackson Police, she aimed to launch ‘Postcards for Pushers’ the 
following week, a scheme facilitating anonymous tips to the police. 
Residents could confidentially send 19-cent postcards to the LPD, 
which were also available in stores, post offices, and public housing 
complexes. On July 23, Police Chief Jamie Bush, Mayor Vincent, and 
City Council members assembled at City Hall for a press briefing to 
escalate the fight against crime. Chief Bush reported an increase in 
patrol personnel and the adoption of new policing strategies. Just a day 
prior, roadblocks resulted in four arrests, 19 traffic violations, and the 
seizure of three firearms. The authorities responded to five reports of 
gunfire, with three incidents in housing com- plexes, known hotspots 
for shootings. Although there are no budgets for hiring new officers, 
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the department was intensifying patrols with existing staff working 
overtime, some on extended shifts, while others were offer- ing their 
service voluntarily.379

Between 1989 and 1992, communities faced a tough battle against 
a 13% surge in violent crimes, with some cities curbing this trend 
through community policing strategies, though many lacked the nec-
essary resources for effective law enforcement expansion. Political 
disagreements hindered advancements in the fight against crime. As 
offenses rose, law- makers in Washington squabbled over the false di-
chotomy of punishment versus prevention. These divisions delayed a 
national crime legislation for six years. Upon President Clinton’s entry 
into office, violence, especially among youth and involving gangs and 
drugs, had surged, marking a twenty-year peak.380

Local authorities in Brown Circle were increasing their patrol ef-
forts in response to numerous complaints from the community’s res-
idents about ongoing violence. Mayor Susan Vincent affirmed on the 
commitment to closely observe the area and deploy sufficient police 
forces to address the issue effectively. Following a demonstration by 
around 60 individuals at City Hall, which called for the removal of 
Police Chief Jamie Bush and an assurance from Vincent that their 
grievances would be acknowledged, an urgent meeting was convened. 
This meeting included Vincent and three other members of the coun-
cil. Mildred Davis, a 46-year-old resident who brought up her nine 
children in the neighborhood, expressed her concern for safety and 
urged for an end to the violent incidents. Notably, a young man of 19 
years was injured in a drive-by shooting, and a subsequent shooting 
involving several males took place days after, though no injuries were 
reported, and arrests were made following the event. Davis, who has 
been a part of the community for over a decade, pointed to non-res-
idents as the source of the violence and implored the city council to 
keep the perpetrators out.381

The LPD aimed to strengthen the trust with residents of the hous-
ing project. Issues at these sites often stemmed from individuals not 
residing there, as Eberta Spinks highlighted. Spinks announced the 
eviction of any unauthorized occupants. Addressing reporters, Bush 
revealed that the police planned to implement visible and secretive 
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strategies and will accept tips without revealing sources. Vincent in-
troduced the new “Postcard for Pushers” initiative. Lula Cooley noted 
that despite past strong stances on crime, previous political resistance 
hindered their impact. “This time, we’re warning everybody that we’re 
just not going to tolerate it.”382

In spite of continuous alerts, crime persisted. Many pinned the 
sharp rise in unlawful activities on gang conflicts, particularly those 
related to drug trafficking. Police Captain Don Scott noted, “It would 
not be exaggerating if I said we got calls to go out to Brown Circle 
twenty times a week.” Locals were adamant about removing the crim-
inals from their neighborhood. While Vincent pondered introducing a 
community watch program, Robert Farrish, director of the housing 
authority, balked at the idea of eviction based solely on suspicion, with 
a strong commitment to the rights associated with public housing. Far-
rish pointed out, “The bottom line is going to be money. You can put 
police here, or you can even put National Guard troops here, but what- 
ever you do, it’s going to cost money.”383

In his 1992 bid for the presidency, Bill Clinton aimed to shift the 
Democratic Party’s image from being perceived as “soft on crime” to 
supporting strict law enforcement and community-based policing. 
Numerous communities, especially African Americans, were troubled 
by crime, yet there was no consensus among black politicians on the 
crime bill. Congressman John Conyers, a leading figure in the Con-
gressional Black Caucus, championed an alternative focusing on pre-
venting crime and im- proving drug treatment and employment, rather 
than merely increasing prison capacities. In their pursuit of support 
from suburban white voters, Democrats embraced a tough-on-crime 
stance, aligning with a conservative view that expanded harsh state 
and local practices into federal law. This led to an increased incarcer-
ation rate and harsher sentencing, even though it was not the initial 
cause of the issue.384

Manuel Jones points out that racial inequality within the criminal 
justice system has deep historical roots and is entrenched in the poli-
cies of the justice system. In the post-Emancipation era in the South, 
African Americans were disproportionately subjected to harsh polic-
ing, sentencing, and imprisonment practices. In a notable September 
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1993 case, Paula Christine Fulmer, a 19-year-old black college stu-
dent from Waynesboro, was convicted by a jury of manslaughter after 
her newborn son was discovered in a trash can outside her dormitory, 
concealed in a shopping bag. Despite her conviction, Fulmer avoided 
jail time altogether, receiving a suspended 10-year sentence, with a 
mandate to do community work, continue her studies, and undergo 
psychological treatment.385

In December 1993, 22-year-old Cheryl Garner, an African Amer-
ican student at the University of Southern Mississippi, faced allega-
tions of in- fanticide. Alone in her Hillcrest Dormitory, she delivered a 
baby girl while her roommates were away. Two days later, her room-
mates discovered the newborn in a sports bag. Garner was tried and 
initially sentenced to life in prison, but not long after, her sentence 
was downgraded to manslaughter when a judge overturned the jury’s 
decision. The courtroom, filled with African Americans, erupted in ap-
plause at the news. Conversely, approx- imately 200 African Ameri-
cans protested against the Forrest County Judge and District Attorney, 
questioning their roles in the justice system. Reverend Kenneth Fair-
ley of Hattiesburg suggested that they might seek a recall vote against 
these officials, emphasizing the community’s right to choose its rep-
resentatives and expressing dissatisfaction with local legal represen-
tation. This case intensified calls for the establishment of consistent 
sentencing guidelines and other judicial reforms that had long been 
under discussion within the state.386

On January 14, 1994, in a Laurel Leader-Call article, Manuel 
Jones voiced his discontent regarding racial sentencing gaps in South-
east Mis- sissippi. He urged the community to call on the District At-
torney, Attor- ney General, Justice Department, and FBI to scrutinize 
Jones County for discrimination, from biased hiring practices to unfair 
treatment within the local jail and courts. Although those in power 
offer seemingly fair responses when questioned, Jones believed that 
God, above all, will hold them accountable for injustices that African 
Americans are unjustly made to accept.387

Manuel Jones, the NAACP president, insisted that everyone 
should receive equal treatment under the law. He expressed dissat-
isfaction with the disparity in bail amounts for two recent cases. 
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Jones highlighted the case of Joe G. Alexander from Laurel, who was 
charged with a racially motivated drive-by shooting and was given 
a $25,000 bail. In contrast, James Bester faced a $200,000 bail for 
two aggravated assault charges after a shooting at the Ellisville State 
School, which resulted in an injured guard and property damage. Jones 
criticized the judicial system for its unequal treatment based on race, 
pointing out that different judges had set the bail for each man. Judge 
Jim Stricklin stated that he does not consider a defendant’s race during 
bond hearings, believing the court to be “colorblind.” He highlighted 
that a review of the past 15 or 16 months would reveal his tendency to 
set lower bonds, particularly on lesser charges.

Three African American council members showed support for the 
NAACP at the news briefing. Melvin Mack, the Council President, 
made it clear the Council has no authority over the setting of bond 
amounts, a task that lies with the judges. Although he mentioned some 
bond amounts might be inequitable, he respects the judges’ responsi-
bilities. The NAACP did not propose a specific solution for making 
the bond system more equitable, leaving it to the judges, according to 
Jones.388

The fight for fair sentencing took a hit when President Clinton 
supported a crime bill that laid down several of the foundations for 
dealing with crime. The Clinton administration began charting a fresh 
approach to tackling violent crime early in 1994. The Fiscal Year 1995 
budget mes- sage highlighted this approach, prioritizing support for 
state and local law enforcement over federal intervention in combat-
ing crime and drug problems. Surprisingly, congressional crime bills 
during that period tended to increase federal crime responsibilities. 
The foundational element of this new strategy from the Clinton ad-
ministration was to provide initial federal funds to assist communities 
in hiring additional community police officers, accompanied by a push 
for a robust crime bill.389

Residents of Jones and Forrest counties united to tackle pressing 
local concerns. On September 21, a town hall in Hattiesburg saw lead-
ers from the community show up. About 600 to 800 citizens gathered 
to discuss is- sues of racial inequality in Forrest County, echoing con-
cerns from the fall of 1993. Manuel Jones spoke about a dual justice 
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system, a topic he’d long championed. Melvin Mack commented on 
recent cases involving harm to children, criticizing the lack of appro-
priate punishment and noting stark differences in the cases’ severity 
on a scale from 1 to 10 with African Americans facing prolonged jail 
sentencing being a 10. Mack announced a forthcoming community di-
alogue in Laurel, hoping to spark major involvement. The NAACP’s 
Forrest County president, Jeanette Smith, who was born in Jones 
County, noted the high attendance at the meeting reflected widespread 
dissatisfaction related to racial inequality in the justice system, with 
an unsettling number of black inmates languishing in jail for months 
without charges.390

A CBS News article, “Justice Late But Justice Still,” highlighted 
Southern legal officials efforts to rectify egregious historical crimes. Mur-
der charges were brought against the KKK’s White Knights by the state 
of Mississippi. Advocates for civil rights, such as Georgia’s Congress-
man John Lewis, applauded the initiation of the trials. These actions 
indicated Mississippi’s commitment to reconciling with its past prej-
udices. Nonetheless, the re- port questioned the likelihood of convic-
tions given the time elapsed since the murders. Despite this, it argued 
that the pursuit itself was valuable, providing answers may be equally 
as important as securing convictions.
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THE SYSTEM
Not everything that is faced can be changed, but nothing can be 
changed until it is faced. 
– James Baldwin

Across the region, there were signs of a society moving beyond racial 
divisions. The guilty verdict of Byron De La Beckwith was generally 
seen as evidence that his views were no longer in line with the South’s 
modern political climate. Media coverage depicted Beckwith as a 
man whose time had passed, suggesting the trial’s outcome reflected 
positive change regarding race relations. Reports in USA Today high-
lighted how the trial was viewed by many in Mississippi as proof of 
the state’s maturity. Because Beckwith symbolized historical racism in 
Mississippi, his conviction was seen as a removal of that blight. Man-
uel Jones felt that the conviction marked a long-overdue moment of 
justice and applauded the diligence of those who investigated. “The 
Beckwith trial is finally over, and I think justice has finally prevailed 
in the assassination of Medgar Evers.”391

De La Beckwith’s trial reignited the pursuit of justice. Early in 
1995, the FBI made public 40,000 pages of confidential records from 
the Vernon Dahmer case, nearly three decades old. This uncovered 
evidence was the result of the Dahmer family’s relentless four-year 
campaign to access these files, hoping to re-examine Sam Bowers’ 
case. The Laurel-Jones branch of the NAACP, along with local reli-
gious leaders, organized a march named the Caravan for Justice. The 
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march started at the Sawmill Square Mall and ended at the Jackie Dole 
Community Center in Hattiesburg. There, community allies from oth-
er marches gathered to spend the day in unity, exchanging ideas and 
forming bonds. The newly appointed Laurel-Jones NAACP President 
James Jones expressed a desire to demonstrate unified support for 
the ongoing investigation into Vernon Dahmer’s murder. This is not 
a ‘black march’ or an ‘NAACP march.’ This is a march to show that 
the citizens of this area do not condone the hideous crime committed 
against this family,” he said. With national media attention, he hoped 
the march would convey how united support can alter misconceptions 
about the South.392

Suspected mastermind Sam Bowers was noticeable in the pre-
domi- nantly African American neighborhood of South Fourth Street 
in Laurel and maintained his job at his business, Sambo Amusement 
Company. Over the years, he consistently denied any wrongdoing 
despite not participating in media interviews. Forrest County’s lead 
prosecutor, Glenn White, was actively pushing to reopen the investi-
gation with a focus on Bowers’ connection to various arson attacks. In 
the state’s legislature, efforts to create a special division to look into 
civil rights-era injustices failed, despite Representative Percy Watson 
of Hattiesburg’s proposal. In the 1994 legislative period, Watson’s per-
suasion led to the allocation of another investigator for the Dahmer 
case, marking the fourth attempt to bring Bowers to trial within a 
three-year span.393

After a long three-year probe, investigators arrived at a house with 
a wooden frame and flaking white paint, where pinball machines dec-
orated the entrance and a vintage 1936 Ford truck boasted the name 
“Sambo” alongside a tattered tiger image. On the morning of May 
28, 1998, at 7:15 am, authorities knocked and were greeted by an 
aged man with white hair, Bowers, who they promptly arrested for 
his alleged connection to the decades-old Vernon Dahmer firebombing 
case. At 73 years of age, Bowers, dressed casually in a blue shirt and 
grey jeans, was escorted to the local jail in handcuffs by investigators 
for the state attorney general’s office. He later appeared in a worn, 
red prison outfit bearing the words “Forrest County inmate.” Amid a 
crowd of media, Bowers remained silent, offer- ing no claim of inno-
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cence. That day also saw the arrest of business leader Charles Noble, 
and not long after, Deavours Nix, another suspect, surren- dered of his 
own volition. Despite suffering from lung cancer and aided by his 
relatives and an oxygen tank at his hearing, Nix was charged with 
arson but freed due to his delicate health status. While acknowledging 
his past ties to the Ku Klux Klan, Nix refuted any involvement in the 
crime. “I am absolutely, 100 percent innocent. I think that was O.J.’s 
plea,” Nix said in a telephone interview with the Clarion-Ledger. 394

Bowers found himself in court facing a judge who agreed to re-
lease confidential papers from a 1969 case for a new investigation 
into the Klan homicide. Mississippi officials initially aimed to de-
stroy these records, then endeavored to keep them hidden until 2027. 
In 1989, however, District Judge Charles Pickering, whom Bowers 
wished to dodge, decreed that the files would be disclosed on March 
17. Pickering responded favorably to the local prosecutors, Lindsay 
Carter and Bob Helfrich, who were eager to inspect these sealed files 
concerning the White Knights’ murder of Vernon Dahmer. Bowers’ 
lawyer, Chris Ford, attempted to thwart their review of the records. 
He took issue with Pickering offering the documents in court without 
Bowers’ prior review. Pickering left the matter of viewing the files first 
to Circuit Judge Richard W. McKenzie. Carter viewed this as progress 
toward their ultimate goal. For the Dahmer fami- ly, this development 
signaled a nearing opportunity for justice.395

According to a document from the Clarion-Ledger, a member of 
the Ku Klux Klan mentioned that the last two booths at Nix’s restau-
rant, John’s Cafe, were used as their main meeting spot. Public Safety 
Commissioner Jim Ingram confirmed this, saying that anyone interest-
ed in Klan meetings would just need to visit John’s. Nix, however, in-
sisted he was unaware of any Klan activities in his cafe, accusing Billy 
Roy Pitts of lying to protect himself and attributing his own legal trou-
bles to political maneuvers. He asserted that Attorney General Mike 
Moore was aiming to win over African American voters while warning 
him not to neglect white citizens. Nix contented that the only reason he 
joined “those people”—his apparent euphemism for the Klan—was he 
needed their political power in what proved to be an unsuccessful at-
tempt to be elected sheriff of Jones County. Nix admitted knowing the 
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Klan’s presence was common knowledge, although Bowers insisted in 
following a code of silence.396

On August 17, the start of the Dahmer case drew significant chal-
lenges and captured the nation’s focus. Outside the courthouse on trial 
day, two young men from Florida disrupted the quiet afternoon by po-
sitioning themselves on the steps of the Forrest County Courthouse to 
express dis- sent against Sam Bower’s trial. Most people walking by 
paid little attention to the visiting protestors and their signs. “He’s al-
ready 72 or 73. This is an injustice,” argued the protestors. One protes-
tor was clad in a white t-shirt reading, “We must secure the existence 
of our people and a future for white children” while the other sported 
a hat displaying the Confederate flag. They carried white signs with 
messages of racial provocation written in black and disavowed any ties 
to white supremacist groups, although they expected other whites to 
join once evidence presentation started. Largely disregarded, the legal 
proceedings went ahead as planned.397

For the fifth time, Sam Bowers was being prosecuted for the murder 
of Vernon Dahmer. In Mississippi’s hostile 1960s, the White Knights 
of the Ku Klux Klan had a sinister code: a “No. 1” signified a cross 
burning; “No. 2”, a beating; “No. 3”, a firebomb; and the direst, “No. 
4”, meant murder. Klan informant Billy Roy Pitts revealed that only 
top-ranking members could authorize “No. 3” and “No. 4”. As the 
Grand Wizard, Bowers had sole authority for such orders within the 
state. The then 54-year old Pitts, serving his sentence for involvement 
in the crime, recalled a critical meeting in 1965, near Laurel, where 
Bowers decreed Dahmer’s assassination. Pitts testified that Bowers 
chose to kill Dahmer because his store in the Kelly Settlement had be-
come a space for Black voters to pay poll taxes. Bowers assured Pitts 
that no Mississippi jury would convict a white man for killing a black 
man. Pitts indicated that Bowers orchestrated multiple sessions where 
the firebombing of Dahmer’s property was plotted, with the involve-
ment of Bowers’ defense in the trial, Travis Buckley.398

The courtroom’s discussions detailing the Klan’s tactics in the 
1960s were not the most animated. Yet one notable moment arose 
when an ex- Klansman turned barber, T. Webber Rogers, balked at dis-
closing his address. Acknowledging his fear after being previously tar
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Sam Bowers walking out of the Forrest County courthouse (Courtesy of the 

Hattiesburg American)

geted for his testament against the Klan, Rogers emphatically affirmed 
his concerns. “Hell, yeah!” he exclaimed. This outburst, followed by 
a reprimand for his language, momentarily lightened the atmosphere. 
However, a hush fell over the crowd as they listened to the chilling 
account of how the Klan planned and executed a murder.399

As Bowers sat dispassionately in the courtroom dressed in an off-
white suit, Rogers recounted Bowers’ intense frustration from that cold 
night. Bowers had been furious over a delayed task in the South. “He 
wanted to know why that job down South hadn’t been done,” Rog-
ers stated. Bowers had orchestrated a rehearsal, as cars cruised by the 
Dahmer residence. Pitts acknowledged his presence, and as he did in 
earlier trials that resulted in convictions for four men for Mr. Dahmer’s 
murder, he detailed how eight men with loaded shotguns and gallons 
of gasoline headed toward the Dahmer house. They paused at a near-
by graveyard where irreverence ensued. Sent by Bowers to supervise 
the group with a gun, Pitts, however, abandoned his weapon when 
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Dahmer, engulfed in flames and defending his family, repeatedly shot 
from a window. “A man’s life was taken, and I was part of it,” Pitts 
expressed with regret. He concluded by sharing his decision to relocate 
his family out of fear of Klan retaliation.400

The prosecution introduced an unexpected witness, Cathy Lucy, 
who was once married to a Klan leader. Their Jackson residence had 
served as the operational center for Sam Bowers during the incident 
involving Vernon Dahmer. Lucy recounted witnessing a beaming 
Bowers flaunting a newspaper headline about Dahmer’s demise short-
ly after the event, boasting about the “good job my boys did down 
south.” Subsequently, Lucy ended her marriage to join Robert Earl 
Wilson, who not only had ties to the Ku Klux Klan but was also shar-
ing information with the FBI. Wilson was present when Bowers made 
his swaggering remark.401

The defense team, comprising attorneys Travis Buckley, Carl 
Ford, and Shawn O’Hara, aimed to challenge the credibility of the 
prosecution’s main witnesses. Their central witness, Deavours Nix, 
who had never before testified in the Dahmer case trials, gave crucial 
evidence. While his lawyer had advised him to claim his Fifth Amend-
ment rights if he preferred not to respond, Nix addressed every ques-
tion during his testimony. Despite his unclear role as “state investiga-
tor” in the Klan and having attended few meetings, Nix characterized 
Bowers as a respectful and patriotic man who, to his knowledge, never 
expressed racial hatred or used foul language. This claim was met with 
visible disbelief and laughter from some African American audience 
members in the courtroom.402

Nix commended Bowers for his humanitarian efforts and acknowl- 
edged joining the group due to their charitable reputation, including 
distributing Christmas fruit baskets and monetary gifts. Though Nix 
confessed to being at Klan meetings, he refuted having related items 
or documents at his business or house. Nonetheless, prosecutors dis-
played reports from a raid indicating the discovery of such materials 
in his café and a photo of Nix in Klan attire at his residence. When 
confronted with a copy of this photo, Nix denied his identity. His 
daughters, Judy Graham and Rita Robertson, testified, affirming they 
never encountered Klan-related material while employed at the family 
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restaurant and insisted the disputed photo depicted their brother Lan-
nie in a Halloween outfit.403

Mike Moore, the Attorney General, described Bowers’ legal de-
fense as the weakest he had encountered in over two decades as a 
lawyer. On August 21, 1998, Bowers was found guilty by a jury for 
Dahmer’s murder and received a life sentence, and Nix passed away 
before his trial. “Take him away,” ordered Circuit Judge Richard 
McKenzie, following the an- nouncement of Bowers’ life sentence 
by the jury leader. Bowers’ team gave no sign of planning an appeal. 
Dahmer’s family, including his widow Ellie, embraced after the ses-
sion ended. Overcome with emotion, Ellie shared that her tears were 
for Vernon, feeling his presence. Bowers was slated for immediate 
transfer to Parchman state penitentiary. Pitts found out about the con-
viction as he observed a deputy exhibit a gesture of victory, and ex-
pressed disbelief in Bowers’ capture. “I didn’t think they’d ever get 
him.”404

Action in Jones County
While the legal successes in Laurel were noteworthy, they could 
not overshadow the concerns expressed by prominent black figures. 
Manuel Jones relinquished his role as the NAACP’s leader in 1993, 
making way for James Jones, who had no familial ties to him. James 
Jones, who served in the all-black 761st Tank Battalion during the 
Vietnam War, criticized Mayor Vincent for not including enough 
African American in her team. At a Laurel City Council meeting, he 
argued that Mayor Vincent had not kept her word about hiring Afri-
can Americans for key positions. He cited the elimination of the city 
comptroller’s job as evidence that Vincent had overlooked chances to 
hire African Americans. James Jones contended that a person of color 
could have filled that role instead of rehiring the previous comptroller, 
Don Bullock. He also expressed African American community’s an-
ger at placing a waste station in a primarily black neighborhood and 
threatened to escalate the issue to the Supreme Court. In response, 
Mayor Vincent maintained that she has been inclusive in her appoint-
ments, noting recent hires in the fire department. She clarified that a 
black candidate for the city attorney was not selected on the basis of 
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residential qualifications.405

While race relations were not ideal, there had been progress. In 2001, 
local sentiments were boosted by political figures of all races, bring-
ing a sense of pride and encouragement. From Jones County, Judge 
Charles Pickering, who was nominated by President George Bush for 
the 5th Circuit Court of Appeals, faced criticism linking him to past 
racial tensions. During his nomination debate, opponents referred to 
his questionable past positions on race, including a 1959 pro-segrega-
tion article and legislative votes that seemed to weaken African Amer-
ican voter power. In Laurel, Pickering was well-regarded, far removed 
from the clash of political strife. Despite differing politically, African 
Americans respected his unique efforts toward racial harmony. As a 
white Mississippi Republican, this was notable. Local African Ameri-
cans, typically Democrats, valued his progressive stance more than his 
past viewpoints.406

Support for Pickering by local leaders placed them in opposi-
tion to many black state representatives and the Mississippi NAACP, 
which ob- jected to his appointment. Bennie Thompson, a Congressio-
nal Democrat from the Mississippi Delta, branded Pickering’s black 
supporters as “Ju- dases.” Officials from the state NAACP believed the 
judge’s local support- ers were ignoring their true sentiments for mi-
nor benevolent gestures.Nevertheless, Pickering’s advocates from the 
African American community denied any such deception could persist 
for years. Johnny Magee, a black councilman from Laurel, argued that 
African Americans’ struggle is about the right to independent opin-
ions, including within their own ranks. He suggested that if the judge 
has evolved past his former stances, it would be beneficial for others 
to attempt the same.407

In an effort to reconcile with its historical challenges, Mississippi 
established new societal standards, especially in the realm of politics. 
During the summer of 2001, the city of Hattiesburg elected Johnny 
DuPree, its first African American mayor. DuPree waited in his cam-
paign office most of the night until nearly all votes were counted. Af-
ter stepping out to a jubilant crowd, he expressed gratitude for their 
backing. His campaign emphasized developing the area east of U.S. 
Highway 49 and avoided additional city annexation efforts.408
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In Laurel, incumbent Susan Vincent faced off against Jim Cegie-
iski, the Republican owner of Signature Coffee House in downtown 
Laurel. It was Vincent’s third attempt to secure her political role. At 
the Laurel Mayor Forum, held in the Home and Health Auditorium at 
Jones Junior College, annexation was a fiercely debated topic among 
six others. Cegieiski voiced his opposition to the current annexation 
strategy but did not dismiss the idea entirely, suggesting tax raises 
would be inevitable to cover the expansion costs. Vincent challenged 
this view. She assured the audience that thorough analysis by finan-
cial and engineering specialists confirmed that tax increases were un-
necessary, labeling the talk of inflated water and property taxes as a 
fear-inducing tactic aimed at trou- bling the elderly and those with 
fixed incomes.409

Vincent emerged a clear winner in the race, securing 57% of the 
votes. Despite the local resistance to her pro-annexation views, she 
triumphed. The proposal to expand Shady Grove had Vincent’s full 
support, though some residents believed it was unneeded. Vincent 
held that annexation would increase the population close to 25,000, 
the threshold for attracting large retail chains. However, Larry Wel-
born, founder of the Concerned Citizens on Annexation, refuted the 
notion that Laurel was growing, noting a population decline since his 
military deployment in 1965. The decision on annexation would be 
made on May 1 by Laurel’s citizens, determining if the poor will bear 
the cost. Welborn criticized city officials for misinforming citizens and 
urged voters to make an informed choice. “They have kept you in the 
dark and fed you a lot of manure! They have kept facts from you and 
labeled opposition facts as lies. But you Vote!”410

Mississippi’s largest city, Jackson, was constricted by urban sprawl 
and a restrictive policy on city expansion. Byram, a town just south 
of Jackson, had been in legal conflicts with Jackson for over a decade 
concerning its status and land rights. Initially, Byram managed to fend 
off Jackson’s annexation attempt in the 1990s. This struggle included 
Jackson’s push to annex an area of 24.25 square miles, encompass-
ing Byram, which led to the legal case known as “In re Enlargement 
and Extension of the Municipal Boundaries of Jackson.” The process 
for incorporating the Byram area into Jackson was heavily restrict-
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ed by Mississippi’s rules for such expansion. The state’s laws lacked 
clear direction about how annexation fits into planning for land usage. 
When a city wanted to include nearby unclaimed land, it must first get 
approval from its local leaders. Next, the city must get approval from 
the county’s Chancery Court. This court approves the expansion if it 
is a logical move necessary for public benefit. In Mississippi, legal au-
thorities looked closely at whether a city’s effort to claim land is fair. 
Courts had to consider the interests of both the city and the property 
owners in the area being considered for expansion.411

In an act to preserve the land of their community, residents of 
ShadyGrove filed a lawsuit against the mayor. The trial began at Jones 
County Courthouse in Ellisville at 9:30 a.m. on June 19. In her testi-
mony, Vincent informed the courtroom that annexation would give the 
city some growing room. “Annexation will provide needed areas for 
new residential, com- mercial, and industrial growth for the city of 
Laurel,” Vincent said. “Annexation gives the potential for Laurel and 
Jones County to grow econom- ically, providing new jobs and new re-
tail and commercial opportunities for those that live in Jones County.” 
Not much land was available inside Laurel’s city limits, and annex-
ation would theoretically remedy the situation. She highlighted the 
construction of the Laurel Sportsplex outside of the city as evidence 
of the existing spatial constraints. She also noted the Sharon area was 
underdeveloped and that several commercial properties along 5th Av-
enue had been vacant for a long time.412

The case dragged on for several months, and Vincent found her 
systematic support dwindling. On December 2, during a brief talk at a 
dinner event about the unceasing courtroom saga surrounding the an-
nexation issue, Vincent mentioned she sensed a conclusion was near, 
as signs stating “Susan Is Coming” began appearing throughout the 
county. She quickly clarified to those present that she had no hand 
in creating those distasteful signs. Fortunately, she gained temporary 
respite when the court adjourned until January 3, 2002.413

Support for expanding the city boundaries varied among the local 
po- litical divisions. Council member Ralph Kinney put forth the idea 
to stop all city funds going to efforts for the expansion and to inform 
the local court that the city was pulling out of the case to expand includ-



196

ing Pendorf, Sharon, and Shady Grove. This suggestion was brought 
up for discussion at the City Council’s evening session. Councilmen 
Manuel Jones, Johnny Magee, and Jerry Myrick, in a conversation 
with the Laurel Leader-Call, stated their opposition to withdrawing 
from the case. Nevertheless, Kinney seemed to have persuaded Coun-
cilmen Thaddeus Edmonson, Ann Clayton, and Arthur Logan, which 
could tip the scales in his favor with a vote of 4-3. In the event this 
occurs, Mayor Vincent made it clear she would reject the decision, 
emphasizing the city’s need for growth, noting that Laurel had not ex-
panded since the late 1950s and that successful cities usually expand 
every 5 to 10 years or sometimes even more frequently. 414

The legal system suggested that justifying annexation through 
the need for more funds should be considered in a broader, region-
al context, suggesting that both the city center and the surrounding 
area stand to gain. The courts noted that the urban center was seen 
as pivotal in driving economic growth for itself and the surrounding 
territories. The court, however, did not embrace this viewpoint in their 
verdict and chose to interpret the factors affecting the city’s economic 
prospects as confined within its local boundaries, rather than affecting 
the greater metropolitan area.415

On March 21, 2003, Chancellor R.B. Reeves decided that the city 
failed to justify its plan to incorporate the Pendorff Community. After 
two years of legal disputes, he stated that the city’s plan was not prac-
tical because it covered too vast an area and the city could not afford it. 
He was also skeptical about the benefits to the inhabitants of the area 
potentially being annexed, particularly concerning the reliability of 
water and sewer services. Additionally, Judge Reeves pointed out that 
support for the annexation came only from city officials and staff. He 
raised concerns about how adding more white residents might impact 
the predominantly black communities regarding future voting dynam-
ics.416

The trial scrutinized Vincent’s ethical choices, as some criticized 
her of veiling prejudiced motives. The historic manipulation of neigh-
borhood lines has often marginalized racial groups and impoverished 
citizens from community participation. Post Voting Rights Act, racial 
bias in city expan- sion efforts, which suppressed black political rep-
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resentation and obstruct- ed their economic progress, has mostly been 
thwarted. People wondered if Vincent’s decisions were influenced by 
her implicit racial prejudices. “Mayor Vincent, can you refute that the 
current city boundaries encom- pass more African Americans than 
whites? Isn’t it true that once this fact emerged, a council member 
suggested annexation to ‘correct’ this demo- graphic shift? Are you 
troubled by the fact that African Americans are no longer the minority 
in Laurel? Perhaps Laurel’s African American leaders are better suited 
to govern,” they questioned.417

New Beginnings
In 2005, the idea of a black nominee pursuing a mayoral position faced 
scrutiny. Melvin Mack stepped into the race as the lone Democratic 
candidate. Meanwhile, Vincent moved away from party affiliation to 
run independently, securing her spot just before the deadline. On the 
evening of May 10, a debate, hosted by the Laurel 

Melvin Mack in front of the Laurel City Hall (Courtesy of the Mack Family)

Leader-Call and Laurel High School, provided a platform for Mayor 
Vincent and Mack to present their views. A notable gathering of 300 
local residents and businesspeople came to the high school’s auditori-
um. The dialogue emphasized the city’s collective efforts with Jones 
County on key issues: curbing crime and drugs, bolstering the econ-
omy, expanding the city, and addressing the upkeep of schools and 
declining neighborhoods.418

Vincent initiated the debate in the full auditorium, stating the city’s 
impressive expansion, including new projects, increased revenues 
from taxes, decreased criminal activity, and improvements in other 
key areas. At that point, Laurel stood among Mississippi’s top cities 
for sales tax revenue, highlighting her effective governance. Amidst 
the audience’s murmurs, Mack countered by mentioning his role in 
managing a $450 million budget and his extensive political experi-
ence, positioning himself as a capable candidate for mayor of Laurel. 
The debate concluded on a congenial note after two hours of exchange 
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with no contention. Vincent even referred to Mack as a friend. The 
candidates presented similar and differing views. In conclusion, they 
remained to engage with the public, offering handshakes and affec-
tionate gestures to infants.419

To address low voter interest, Vincent and Mack offered free rides 
to polling stations for those in need. The election in Laurel was shad-
owed by concerns that race might overshadow candidate qualifica-
tions in voters’ minds. An online poll suggested the majority believed 
race would be the central issue in the mayoral race. People predicted 
Black voters would choose Melvin Mack, while white voters would 
lean towards Susan Vin- cent. Laurel’s community was not divided 
by political colors, but by racial lines. Casual surveys suggested that 
without the racial element, there would be little interest in the elec-
tion’s outcome. A resident remarked that while a shared adversary can 
unite people, the true fight in Laurel was against racism itself.420

The time had arrived to elect Laurel’s fresh set of leaders. Over the 
weekend and in the days leading up, city clerk employees diligently 
prepared, sharpening pencils and collecting materials, anticipating a 
large voter turnout. Laurel had a voter base of roughly 13,000; howev-
er, not all were active in community matters. As the final vote tally was 
to be declared on a quiet Tuesday evening at The Courtyard, individu-
als came together in unison for a prayer. They sought divine support 
and wisdom for any outcome, be it a triumphant win or a dignified 
loss. In the end, it was Melvin Mack who triumphed over the incum-
bent Susan Boone Vincent with a preliminary count of 2,914 to 2,476 
votes. This victory made Mack the first African American mayor in 
Laurel’s 123-year history. Expressing his sentiments, Mack stated he 
was confident in the desire for change among voters and felt assured 
by his campaign’s efforts and the public’s response. “We worked real-
ly hard, and I knew people were tuning in to our campaign platform. 
People are ready for a change.”421
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Epilogue

In a place like this we should be enjoying more and unity than any 
place in the United States of America. The eyes of the Nation is 
upon us. We must somehow pick up the broken pieces and put them 
together. I am wondering how this can be done?
– Dr. Benjamin Murph

Nearly thirty years ago, the busy shops in downtown Laurel had all 
closed, and the town’s brick-lined streets were empty. In the mid-
1970s, a city renovation effort led to the closing of Central Avenue 
for around two years due to laws against segregated businesses. This 
move blocked off direct parking access to stores, deterring potential 
customers. The opening of Sawmill Square Mall in 1979 dealt another 
blow to the local businesses. Shopkeepers who managed to hang on 
through the tough times of the 1980s, 1990s, and early 2000s all said 
that the downtown area had been lifeless.

Chancellor RB Reeves Jr. determined the expansion of Laurel to 
be unauthorized. He noted the city’s development efforts should center 
on its downtown region. Expert witness Joe Lusteck, having personally 
surveyed the area, indicated that the city did not require enlargement 
for addition- al residential or population needs. Chancellor Reeves 
also observed that nearly one-third of the city’s land remains undevel-
oped and numerous local businesses have ceased operations.422

Lula Cooley once expressed optimism that the community would 
become significant. However, a shrinking population overshadowed 
this vision, as many left the town of Laurel, fleeing the troubled city 
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schools, ongoing disputes with municipal authorities, and crime. De-
spite this, Laurel maintained its industrial strength, supported by key 
factories like Howard Industries, Masonite Corporation, and Sander-
son Farms, which helped sustain its economy. Economic growth hint-
ed at a revival for Laurel’s historic downtown area, becoming lively 
once more with the removal of old street facades and installation of 
new streetlamps along freshly paved walkways. A sidewalk sale drew 
crowds downtown, with local shop showcasing their merchandise.423

In 2008, the revitalization of downtown Laurel, called the Lau-
rel Express initiative, took precedence. The community began shap-
ing Laurel Main Street, working tirelessly for eighteen months to join 
Mississippi Main Street. Their efforts paid off when Laurel was con-
sidered for certification by the Mississippi Main Street Association. 
This development pleased City Council President Johnny Magee, who 
asserted it promotes preserving and improving historic areas. In sup-
port of community beauti fication, Mayor Mack and the City Council 
recognized February 9 as Arbor Day in Laurel, with Councilwoman 
Willie Evans highlighting the importance of trees to the city’s aesthet-
ic and ecological health. Mayor Melvin Mack formalized the city’s 
dedication to Laurel Main Street on February 4, 2010, by signing an 
agreement of support with the Mississippi Main Street Association.424

Laurel had seen a renaissance in its downtown area’s popularity, 
resulting in increased income and customer flow. This revival funded 
a $20,000 endeavor to install streetlights reminiscent of the charm 
found in the 1920s section of Laurel. The term ‘transplant’ accurately 
describes many of Laurel’s expanding community, thanks largely to 
the impact of the HGTV show ‘Hometown,’ which premiered in 2016. 
The show’s hosts, Ben and Erin Napier, breathed new life into the area 
by restoring old homes and supporting local shops, all documented on 
screen. Their efforts have made Laurel an increasingly desirable place 
to live.425

Yet, like any southern town, their pastimes hung a dark cloud over 
the city. In 2020, during the teardown of Confederate monuments 
across the United States, Mississippi made national news for being the 
only state still hanging the Confederate flag high. In 2001, the people 
of Mississippi faced a choice about their state flag, which prominent-
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ly included the Confederate battle emblem. With most of the voting 
precincts accounted for, reports indicated that 65% were in favor of 
the existing flag. Many white residents claimed the Confederate cross 
represents their ancestry and the virtues of bravery and dignity. On 
the other hand, a significant portion of the Black community saw it 
as a marker of a painful history of racial injustice and violence. When 
Mississippi voters rejected a new flag design that would have replaced 
the Confederate emblem with a circle of stars honoring various na-
tions and Native American tribes that have ties to Mississippi, the state 
made a distinct choice to stand by the symbol. This position became 
more isolated as South Carolina and Georgia had both recently taken 
steps to lower or reduce the display of the Confederate symbol on their 
flags.426

The Confederate emblem flag has long served as a reminder of 
the state’s central role in secession and the Civil War. The Mississippi 
Legislature adopted the current flag in 1894, nearly 30 years after the 
Civil War and just four years after the state revised its Constitution to 
include Jim Crow laws mandating segregated schools, poll taxes, and 
literacy tests as prerequisites for voting. The Confederate-emblazoned 
flag had been a fitting symbol for white Mississippians’ intransigence 
toward perceived federal interference in their way of life. While many 
Americans came to see Confederate iconography as distasteful, racist, 
and backward, white Mississippians disagreed. Their view was pre-
serving the flag as a piece of Southern history.427

Mississippi’s GOP Governor, Tate Reeves, declared his intention 
to allow a change of the state’s flag should the lawmakers decide to do 
so. He stated that a veto would serve no purpose once the legislative 
vote had passed, signaling the end of the debate and the transition to a 
new flag. On June 26, 2020, Laurel’s Mayor, Johnny Magee, displayed 
deep emotion when he enacted an order to take down the state flag 
from city buildings, acknowledging the need for symbols that truly 
represent the unity and ideals of the people. Mayor Magee highlighted 
that the existing flag, with its Confederate emblem, stands for division 
and past racial strife, conflicting with the values of the nation, Missis-
sippi, and Laurel.428

Protesters, galvanized by George Floyd’s death under police cus-
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tody in Minnesota, increasingly called for the removal of Confeder-
ate sym- bols. Though activists had long criticized such emblems, 
the widespread protests ignited a national demand to dismantle them. 
Amidst this wave, advocates—both African American and progressive 
allies—turned their attention to racially segregated drinking fountains 
at Jones County Court- house, relics of the Jim Crow era. Originally 
marked for separate use by race, these fountains had plaques installed 
in 1989 to obscure the discriminatory inscriptions. When attempts to 
plaster over the inscriptions failed, the NAACP’s pressure led County 
Supervisor Calvin Holifield to suggest a cleaning of the plaster and 
the addition of an informative plaque. This proposal was eventually 
implemented.429

As part of the nationwide effort to address historical injustices, the 
Jones County supervisors unanimously agreed to consider the removal 
of two racially segregated water fountains from outside their court-
house. Delegating the decision to the public, the issue was included 
in the November election. The referendum revealed a clear preference 
among voters to retain the fountains, which once bore signs marking 
them for ‘Colored’ and ‘White’ users, though the labels have been 
concealed by plaques and can no longer be seen. The ballot asked vot-
ers if they sup- ported the dismantling of these inoperative fountains. 
The leadership of Jones County reached a consensus to contemplate 
the removal of two separate drinking fountains from the courthouse. 
They passed the decision to residents through a ballot in the Novem-
ber election, witnessing a 68% voter turnout. The community’s deci-
sion was clear: the fountains would not be removed, with over 4,000 
votes supporting their retention.430

This book narrates the journey of people who stood up for polit-
ical change, invoking the Constitution’s authority. These individuals 
shaped, interpreted, and sometimes created laws. Less celebrated ac-
tivists, both elite and grassroots, men and women alike, worked along-
side national powers to define what equal protection under the Con-
stitution truly means. These players challenged the views of equality 
held by influential judges and attorneys. Leaders like Benjamin Murph 
from the Laurel- Jones NAACP read the Constitution and the pivotal 
Brown v. Board of Education in ways that often-favored middle-class 
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interests.
When the Student Nonviolent Coordinating Committee (SNCC) 

joined forces with the Laurel student activists to challenge segregated 
public spaces, they also staked their claim on the Constitution. Before 
initiating sit-ins, they composed a persuasive statement, referencing 
the Equal Protection Clause and the Declaration of Independence to 
substantiate their demonstrations for equal rights. In addition, they 
collaborated with Medgar Evers to fight local segregation laws. The 
students found support in Eberta Spinks and Carrie Clayton who of-
fered their homes as bases for the students’ political fight for racial 
justice. Similarly, figures like Flora Brooks and Susie Ruffin, along 
with the courageous Arwilla Davison, fought for educational equal-
ity. These episodes demonstrate how ordinary locals and often-over-
looked freedom struggle contributories worked towards establishing a 
space where equality thrived.

In Laurel, generation after generation of civil rights campaign-
ers shaped their own visions of equality and carved distinct pathways 
to its realization. Successive movements gave birth to another, each 
armed with fresh goals and methods. The inheritance they transferred 
to the current era is less about rigid objectives or tactics and more 
about the enduring spirit of contestation—the urge to confront ineq-
uity in all its forms. “The Crisis” magazine reflected this psyche and 
embodied this continuous tradition notably well. Their March 1966 
publication celeb- rated Benjamin Murph for his unwavering valor in 
perpetuating the va- liant quest for liberty across the nation.

The book provides an insightful look at legal developments in the 
1980s, highlighting the important role of civil rights lawyers and the 
significance of the U.S. Supreme Court’s stance. Historians acknowl-
edge the influence of the justices in promoting progress during the civil 
rights era. Yet, they also recognize that the Court didn’t create change 
directly. The case of Laurel illustrates how the Supreme Court’s re-
luctance and cau- tion actually spurred activists to take direct action. 
By dismissing civil rights issues, the Court inadvertently fueled the 
movement by frustrating activists who had hoped for support.

Scholars who believe external influences are key to societal trans-
form- ation often advise public interest attorneys to be wary. They 
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warn that too much reliance on the judiciary for change might be 
misplaced. Yet, Manuel Jones, involved in many Laurel legal bat-
tles, strongly trusted the legal system to advance the NAACP’s ef-
forts against inequality, helping enforce the constitutional promise of 
equal protection. However, he wasn’t the only one with such insight. 
A broader view of how law and societal shifts interact should consider 
a wider group of politicians and grassroots campaigners.
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